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OFFICIAL STATEMENT Ratings:

Gt e S&P: "AAA" (Stable outlook)
Dated August 4, 2022 Fitch: "AA+" (Stable outlook)
(see "OTHER INFORMATION -
NEW ISSUE - Book-Entry-Only Ratings" hercin)

Interest on the Bonds will be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. See "TAX MATTERS" herein.

§77,515,000
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS
{Dallas, Tarrant and Ellis Counties)
GENERAL OBLIGATION PENSION BONDS, TAXABLE SERIES 2022

Dated Date: August 1, 2022 Due: February 15, as shown on page 2 hereof
Interest 1o acerue from Delivery Date (defined below)

PAYMENT TERMS . . . Interest on the $77,515,000 City of Grand Prairie, Texas, General Obligation Pension Bonds, Taxable Series
2022 {the "Bonds") will acerue from the Delivery Date (defined below), estimated to be August 31,2022, will be payable February
15 and August |5 of each year commencing February 15, 2023 until maturity or prior redemption, and will be calculated on the
basis of a 360-day vear consisting of twelve 30-dday months. The definitive Bonds will be initially registered and delivered only to
Cede & Co., the inee of The Depository Trust Company, New Yark, New York ("DTC") pursuant 1o the Book-Entry-Only
System described herein. Beneficial hip of the Bonds may be acquired in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples
thereof within a stated maturity. Mo physical delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof, Principal of,
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar (identified below) to Cede & Co., which
will make distribution of the 50 paid to the participating bers of DTC for subsequent payment to the beneficial owners
of the Bonds. See "THE BONDS - Book-Entry-Only System® herein. The initial Paying Agent/Registrar is The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Dallas, Texas (see "THE BONDS - Paying Agent/Registrar).

AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE . .. The Bonds are authorized and issued pursuant to authority granted by the Constitution and the
zeneral laws of the State of Texas (the "State"), including particularly Chapter 107, Texas Local Government Code, as amended
and Chapter 1371, Texas G Code, as ded, and an ordi adopted by the City Council of the City of Grand
Prairie, Texas (the "City") on June 21, 2022, authorizing the issuance of Bonds (the "Bond Ordinance") which delegated to an
Authorized Officer of the City the authority to execute a pricing certificate (the "Pricing Cerlificate™ and together with the Bond
Ordinance, the "Ordinance"), which Pricing Certificate was executed on August 4, 2022 and contained the final sale terms of the
Bonds, The Bonds are direct obligations of the City, payable from a continuing, annual ad valorem tax levied on all taxable property
within the City, within the limits prescribed by law, as provided in the Bond Ordinance (see "THE BONDS - Authority for Issuance
of the Bonds").

PURPOSE . . . Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to provide funds 10: (i) pay a portion of the City’s unfunded, accrued
liability to the Texas Municipal Retirement System; and (i) pay the costs associated with the issuance of the Bonds.

CUSIP PREFIX: 386138
MATURITY SCHEDULE & 9 DIGIT CUSIP
See Schedule on Page 2

LEGALITY ; .. The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued and received by the underwriters identified below (the
“Underwriters”) of the Bonds and subject to the approving opinion of the Attorney General of Texas and the opinion of Norton
Raose Fulbright US LLP, Dallas, Texas, Bond Counsel (see Appendix C, "Form of Bond Counsel’s Opinion") and certain other
conditions. Cerlain legal matters will be passed upon by West & Associates, L. L.P., Dallas, Texas, as Disclosure Counsel for the
City. Certain legal matters will be passed upon by McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.1.P,, Dallas, Texas, counsel for the Underwriters,

DELIVERY . . . It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC on or about August 31,2022
(the "Delivery Date").

RAYMOND JAMES

BLAYLOCK VAN, LLC ESTRADA HINOJOSA



MATURITY SCHEDULE
CUSIP Prefix: 386138

$77,515,000
GENERAL OBLIGATION PENSION BONDS, TAXABLE SERIES 2022

15-Feb Interest Initial CLSIP

Amount Maturity Rate Yield suffix !
$ 3,230,000 2023 3.115% 3.115% K34
3,400,000 2024 3.225% 3.225% K4z
3,710,000 2025 3.272% 3.272% K59
4,035,000 2026 3.321% 3.321% K67
4,380,000 2027 3371% 3.371% K75
4,135,000 2028 3.419% 3.419% Kg&3
4,460,000 2029 3.479% 3.479% Kol
4,805,000 2030 3.549% 3.549% L25
5,165,000 2031 3.639% 3.63%% L33
5,555,000 2032 3.749% 3.74%% L4l
5,970,000 2033 3.919% 3.919% L58
6,420,000 2034 4.059% 4,059% L66
6,900,000 2035 4.165% 4.169% L74
7,415,000 2036 4.285% 4.289% L82
7,935,000 2037 4.375% 4.379% L90

(Interest to acerne from Delivery Date.)
(1) CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global

Services, managed by FactSet Research Systems Inc. on behalf of the American Bankers Association. This data is not intended
to create & database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Services. The City, the Financial Advisor
and the Underwriters take no responsibility for the accuracy of such numbers,

OrTIoNAL REDEMPTION . . . The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after
February 15, 2032, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on February 15, 2031, or
any date thereafier, at the par value thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption (sce "THE BONDS - Optional
Redemption of the Bonds™).

(THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY)

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



Tlils Official Staternent, which inchides the cover page, maturity schedule and the Appendices hereto, does nat constitete an offer 1o sell or the solichation of an offer
10 buy in any jurisdiction to any person 1o whom it is unlawiisl w make such offer, selicltation or sle.

Mo denber, broker, ather person has b horized 1o give i o make nny tham thase comained in this Official Staement,
and, if given or made, such other information o representations must nol be relied upon.

The information se1 forth herein has been obtnined fram the City and ather saurces believed ta be veliabde, but such infonnation is not gunranteed #= 10 ACCUETY OF
completeness and s ot o be construed as the promise or guaraniee of the Clty or the City's Fimancial Advisor or 1he Underwrilers (as defined herein). This Official
Stmement containg, in part, estimates und mutlers of epinion which are not intended as statements of fct, and no rep ian is made a5 to the of such
extimies end opinions, or that ey will be realized.

The information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change withaul natice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made
hereunder shall, under any eircumsiances, create any implication that there hias been o charge in the affairs of the City or other matters described.

THE AGREEMENTS OF THE CITY AND OTHERS RELATED TO THE BONDS ARE CONTAINED SOLELY [N THE CONTR ACTS DESCRIBETD) HEREIN.
WEITHER THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT HOR ANY OTHER STATEMENT MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER OR SALE OF THE BONDS 15 TO
BE CONSTRUED AS CONSTITUTING AN AGREEMENT WITH THE PURCHASERS OF THE BONDS. INVESTORS SHOULD READ THE ENTIRE
OFFICIAL STATEMENT, INCLUDING THE MATURITY SCHEDULE AND ALL APPENDICES ATTACHED HERETO, T0 OBTAIN INFORMATION
ESSENTIAL TO MAKING AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION,

THE BONDS ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION WITH THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AND CONSEQUENTLY
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED THEREWITH, THE REGISTRATICN, QUALIFICATION, OR EXEMPTION OF THE BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW PROVISIONS OF THE JURISDICTIONS IN WHICH THE BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED, QUALIFIED, OR
EXEMPTED SHOULD NOT BE REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOT,

Al infoemation contaired in this Officinl Statement & subject, in all respects, to the complete bady of informatien comained In the original sources thereof and no
gisaranty, warranty, o other ion is matde ing the accurdey or camp ol the i i herein. In particular, no opinian or representation is
sendered ns to whether any projection will approximate actual resulis, and all opinions, estimates and assamptions, whether or not expressly identified as such, should
nol be considered statements of fact,

Mone of the City, the Financial Advisor, orthe | flers make any ion regarding the i ion contained in this Official Statemen regarding DFC or
ils Brok-Eniry-Only System, as such information has been furnished by DT, CLSIP numbers have been assipned 10 these issues by CUSIP Global Services, und are
inchaded solely for the convenience of the owners of the Bonds. Nane of the Cily, the Financial Advisos, oc the Underwriters shall be responsible for the stlection or
coereciness of the CUSIP numbers shown on the inside cover page.

This Official Siatement contains *forward-locking® statements within the meaning of Section 21 E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as smended. Such statements
imay tnvolve known and unknown rigks, uncertainties and ether facters whicl may couse the uctal results, pecformunce and achievements to be diffesent from future
resulta, performance and achievements expressed or implied by aich forward-lTooking stwlensents. Investors are cautioned that the actual results could differ
materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements {see “OTHER INFORMATION - Forward-1.ooking Statements Disclaimer™).

1o website addresses p are for i fonal purposes only and may be in she form of a hyperlink solely for the reader's convenience, Unbess
specified etherwise, such websites and the information or hyperlinks contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not a part of, this Official Ststement for any

purpases,
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT SUMMARY

This summary is subject in all respects to the more plete infi ion and definiti ined or incorporated in this Official
Statement. The offering of the Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of this entire Official Statement. No person is
authorized to detach this summary from this Official Statement or to otherwise use it without the entire Official Statement,

THE CITY cooovvvsssrsssssssssssiansiniiioenss. The City of Grand Prairie, Texas (the "City"} is a political subdivision and home rule municipal
corporation of the State of Texas, located in Dallas, Tarrant and Ellis Counties, Texas, The City
covers approximately 81 square miles (see "INTRODUCTION - Deseription of the City").

. The Bonds are issued as $77,515,000 General Obligation Pension Bonds, Taxable Series 2022
{the "Bonds”). The Bonds are issued as serial bonds maturing on February 15 in each of the
years 2023 through 2037 (see "THE BONDS — Description of the Bonds™ and "THE BONDS
— Opticnal Redemption of the Bonds™).

PAYMENT OF INTEREST

OF THE BONDS. ......ooeicccooocees Interest on the Bonds acerues from the Delivery Date, estimated to be August 31, 2022, and is
payable February 15, 2023, and each August 15 and February 15 thereafter until maturity or
prior redemption (see "THE BONDS - Deseription of the Bonds" and "THE BONDS - Optional
Redemption of the Bonds™).

AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE

FORTHE BONDS..................... The Bonds are authorized and issued pursuant to authority granted by the Constitution and the

ieneral laws of the State of Texas (the "State), including particularly Chapter 107, Texas Local

Gavernment Code, as amended, and Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code, as amended, and

an ordinance adopted by the City Council on June 21, 2022 authorizing the issusnce of Bonds

(the "Bond Ordinance"), which delegated to an Authorized Officer of the City the authority to

execute a pricing certificate (the "Pricing Certificate” and together with the Bond Ordinance,

the "Ordinance"), which Pricing Certificate was executed on August 4, 2022 and contained the
final sale terms of the Bonds (see "THE BONDS - Authority for Issuance of the Bonds").

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS ......... The Bonds, when issued, are direet obligations of the City payable from a direct and continuing,
annual ad valorem tax levied, within the limits prescribed by law, on all taxable property within
the City as provided in the Bond Ordinance (see "THE BONDS — Security and Source of
Payment for the Bonds®).

OFTIONAL REDEMPTION OF
THE BONDS......ooovnsinnssniinnsnns. The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on and after
February 15, 2032, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof, on February 15, 2031 or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus acerved interest
to the date of redemption (see "THE BONDS - Optional Redemption of the Bonds™).

NOTAX EXEMPTION.........0oeeeee. Interest on the Bonds will not be excludable fiom gross income for federal income tax purposes.
See "TAX MATTERS" herein.
USE 0oF PROCEEDS
FOR THE BONDS Praceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to provide funds to (i) pay a portion of the
City’s unfunded, acerued liability to the Texas Municipal Retirement System and (ii) pay the
costs associated with the issuance of the Bonds,

RATINGS .. The Bonds have been rated "AAA" with a (Stable outlook) by S&P Global Ratings, a division
of S&P Global Inc. ("S&P") and "AA+" by Fiteh Ratings, Inc. (*Fiteh") with a (Stable outlook)

(see "OTHER INFORMATION - Ratings").

BoOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM ... The definitive Bonds will be initially registered and delivered only to Cede & Co., the nominee
of DTC pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System described herein. Beneficial hip of the
Bonds may be acquired in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thercof, No physical
delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof. Principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on the Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Cede & Co.,
which will make distribution of the amounts so paid to the participating members of DTC for
subsequent payment to the beneficial owners of the Bonds (see "THE BONDS - Book-Entry-
Only System™).

PAYMENT RECORD ......oooco.co..... The City has not defaulted on its general obligation bonds since 1939 when defaults were
corrected without refunding and has never defaulted on its revenue bonds.

Net Cash Flow as a Percentage of Market Value of Assets - A positive net cash flow means contributions exceed

benefits and expenses. A negative cash flow means existing funds are being used to make payments. A certain
amount of negative net cash flow is generally expected to occur when benefits are prefunded through a qualified
trust. Large negative net cash flows as a percent of assets may indicate a very mature plan or a need for additional
contributions.

Duration of Liabilities - The duration of the Present Value of Future Benefits (PVFB) may be used to approximate
the sensitivity to a 1% change in the assumed rate of return. For example, duration of 10 indicates that the PVFB
would increase approximately 10% if the assumed rate of return were lowered 1%,

Change in Contribution Rate with 10% Decline in Assets (Smoothed) - This shows the rate impact in one year

if the Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) was 10% lower than in the current actuarial valuation with the asset loss
smoothed over a 10-year period as is done in the system-wide calculation of the AVA.,

Change in Contribution Rate with 10% Decline in Assets (Unsmoothed): This shows the rate impact if the

AVA was 10% lower than in the current actuarial valuation with the full asset loss recognized in the current
valuation.

13



SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Risks Associated with Measuring the Actuarial Accrued Liability and

Net G.O. Ratio of Net

. . Taxable Tax Debt G0 Tax Debt et
Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution Fiseal Yeur Taxable Assessed Ouistanding 1o Tasable GO Tax

Ended Estimated Assessed Valuation al End Assessed Dbt
; e . . = . s ; 9130 Population'” Vihation™ Per Capita f Year'” Vahiith Per Capit
Risk measures help with illustrating the potential volatility m‘thc Actuarial Accrued Liability and t]}c Actuarially Hia wt;,u:r G |3.521|,so7,m w s:rx:m T ;"‘?rh 5,000 |.smm s = : B:
Determined Employer Contribution that results from the differences between actual plan experience and the 2019 189,430 14,755,015,503 77,892 307,720,000 209% 1,624
actuarial assumptions. Risks facing a pension plan evolve over time. A young plan with virtually no investments 2020 191,720 16,325,123,108 ': 85,151 285,465,000 175% 1489

. . r

and paying few benefits may experience little investment risk. An older plan with a large number of Members in — Fasn leamantUs L IS0 2180 LE7
2022 200,640 18,125,734,480 90,340 448,852,000 " 2.48% 2,237

payment status and a significant trust may be much more exposed to investment risk. Generally accepted plan
maturity measures include the following: e
(1) Source: City Staff,
(2) As reported by the Dallas Central Appraisal District, Tarmant Appraisal District, and Ellis Appraisal District on the City's

i annual State Property Tax Board Reports; subject to change during the ensuing year.

Ratio of Market Value of Assets to Payroll 6.2 (3) Excludes revenue supported general obligation debt, See “Table 9 —Computation of Resources for Payment of Self-Supporting
Ratio of Actuarial Acerued Liability to Payroll 6.5 General Obligation Debt."

Ratio of Active Members to Retirees and Beneficiaries L5 (4) Includes taxable i | value of app ly $281,406,819 that is not available for the City's general use.

(5) Includes taxable incremental value of approximately $381,547,594 that is not available for the City's general use.
Net Cash Flow as a Percentage of Market Value of Assets

(0.6) % (6) Includes taxable i | value of approximately $424,344,427 that is not available for the City's general use.
. o g (7) Includes taxable incremental value of approximately $760,000,000 that is not available for the City's gencral use.
Dma“"““’f L:abﬂme.s ; o 8.1 {8) Includes taxable i 1 value of approximately $870,000,000 that is not available for the City's general use.
Change in Contribution Rate with 10% Decline in Assets (Smoothed) 0.41 % (9) Projected. Includes the Bonds.
Change in Contribution Rate with 10% Decline in Assets (Unsmoothed}) 411 %

Ratio of Market Value of Assets to Payroll - The relationship between assets and payroll is a useful indicator of
the potential volatility of contributions. For example, if the Market Value of Assets is 4 times the payroll, a return
on assets 5% different than assumed would equal 20% of payroll. A higher (lower) or increasing (decreasing) level
of this maturity measure generally indicates a higher (lower) or increasing (decreasing) volatility in city
contributions as a percentage of payroll.

Ratio of Actuarial Accrued Liability to Payroll - The ratio of liability to payroll may also be used as a measure
of sensitivity of the liability itself. For example, if the Actuarial Accrued Liability is 5 times the payroll, a change
in liability 2% different than assumed would equal 10% of payroll. A higher (lower) or increasing (decreasing)
level of this maturity measure generally indicates a higher (lower) or increasing (decreasing) volatility in liability
(and also city contributions) as a percentage of payroll,

The relationship between the Actuarial Accrued Liability and payroll is a useful indicator of the potential longer
term asset-related volatility once the current UAAL is fully amortized. A funding policy that targets a funded ratio
of 100% is expected to result in the ratio of assets to payroll and the ratio of liability to payroll converging over
time.

Ratio of Active Members to Retirees and Beneficiaries - A young plan with many active Members and few
retirees will have a high ratio of active Members to retirees. A mature open plan may have close to the same number
of active Members to retirees resulting in a ratio near 1. A very mature or closed plan may have significantly more
retirees than active Members resulting in a ratio below 1.
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GENERAL FUND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT SUMMARY

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Beginning Balance 60,648,430 $ 45,186,271 § 33745051 $ 31,346,705 $ 31,011,895
Total Revenue 153,934,901 139,544,066 150,707,356 134,912,113 126,720,322
Total Expenditures 133,252,821 128,429,131 127,629,868 123,411,609 116,161,238
Med Transfers (33,150,756) (16,762,667} (12,704, 188) (10,106,151) (11,110,985)
Sale of Capital Assets 1,826,620 1,115,891 1,067,920 1,003,353 886,711
Met Funds Available (10,642,056) 15,462,159 11,441,220 2,398,346 334,810
Ending Balance $ 50,006,374 $ 60,648,430 § 45186271 $ 33,745,051 $ 31346705
For additional inft ion regarding the City, please contact:

Cathy Patrick, CPA Brady Olsen Jim'S; Sabonis Andre Ayaln

Chiefl Financi] Oificer Assistant Finance [Hreciar Managing Dircctor Managing Director

epatrick@GPT X org boken@GP T X.org i sabomistihi ithes comm andre.ayalni il Hlies.com

City of Grand Praicie
300'W. Main Street

Geand Prairie, Texns 75050
(972) 237-8090

City of Grand Proirie

300 W. Main Street

Cirand Prairie, Texas 75050
(972) 237-8090

Hillbop Securities Ine.

717 M. Harwood Street, Suite 3400
[allas, Texas 75201

{214) #53-4195

Hilliop Securities Inc.

717 M. Harwood Street, Suite 3400
Dallas, Texas 75201

(214) 953-4184



ELECTED OFFICIALS

CITY OFFICIALS, STAFF AND CONSULTANTS

Length of Term
City Coumeil Service Expires Decugation

Ron Jensen 18 Years May 2025 CED anl Ovmer, Control Products

Mayor

Joja Jackson Clemson i Years May 2023 Owner, Torga Clemson Properties

Place | - DHaarlet |

Jacquin Headen Mewly May 2025 Founder/CEOD, Interiors by Jacquin, LI

Place 2 - District 2 Elected

Mike Del Bosque 2 Years May 2023 Founder/CED, Intice Health

Place 3 « Distriet 3

Mayor Pro-Tem

John Lopez 2 Year May 2025 Adminisirative Manager at the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas

Place 4 - District 4

Cole Humpleeys 1 Year May 2024 Owner, Austin Insueance

Place 5 - District §

Kurt Juhnson 1 Year May 024 Ciovernment Public Servant, Federal Depasic Insurance Corpomtion

Place & - District 6

Jeff Copeland T Years May 2023 President, Federal Title, Ine,

Place 7- At Large

Junior Ezeom 1 Year May 2024 Political Stratepist

Place 8 - At Large

SELECTED ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF
Length o Tatal
Service in Municipal
Cirand Government
Hame Fosition Prairig Experience

Steve Dye City Manager 9 Years 34 Years
Cleeryl De Leon Deputy Ciry Muonager 2 Years 20 Years
Willlzem A, Hills Deputy Ciy Munager 32 Years 45 Years
Megan Mahan Assistant City Monager'Ciy Attorney 9 Years 11 Years
Mona Lisa Ginicia City Sccrctary 17 Years 17 Years
Cathy Patrick, CPA" Chief Financial Officer 26 Years 31 Yeors
Hrady Oben Assistant Finance Dicector 2 Years 7 Years
Ciabe Johnson Public Works Director T Years: 11 Years

(1} Cathy Patrick, CPA was named Chief Financial Officer in March 2022,

CONSULTANTS AND ADVISORS

Auditors

Weaver, L.L.P,

Bond Counsel

Dallas, Texas

MNorton Rose Fulbright US LLP

Discl Counsel

Dallas, Texas

West & A i LLP,

Financial Advisor

Dallas, Texas

Hilltop Securities lnc,

Dallas, Texas
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Normal Cost - Shows the increase or decrease in the contribution rate associated with changes in the average
Normal Cost Rate for the city’s active Members. The Normal Cost Rate for a Member is the contribution rate which,
if applied to a Member’s compensation throughout their period of anticipated covered service with the city, would
be sufficient to meet all benefits payable on their behalf. The salary-weighted average of the individual rates is the
city’s total Normal Cost Rate. The employer Normal Cost Rate is the pay-weighted average of the individual
Normal Cost Rates less the Member Contribution Rate and will generally increase (decrease) as the average entry
age of the group increases (decreases).

Liability Growth - Shows the increase or decrease in the contribution rate associated with larger or lower than

expected growth in the city’s overall plan liabilities. The most significant sources for variance will be turnover and
individual salary increases differing from the assumptions.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
RELATING TO

$77,515,000
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS
GENERAL OBLIGATION PENSION BONDS, TAXABLE SERIES 2022

INTRODUCTION

This Official 8 which includes the App hereto, provides certain inf ion regarding the i of $77,515,000
City of Grand Prairie, Texas, (the "City"} General Obligation Pension Bonds, Taxable Series 2022 (the "Bonds™), Except as
otherwise indicated herein, capitalized terms used in this Official Statement have the same meanings assigned to such terms in the
ordinance adopted by the City Council on June 21, 2022 (the "Bond Ordinance™), which delegated the final pricing of the Bonds
1o a Pricing Officer pursuant to a "Pricing Certificate” that was executed on August 4, 2022 and contained the final sale terms of
the Bonds, which Bond Ordinance and the Pricing Certificate are jointly herein referred to as the "Ordinance.”

There follows in this Official Statement descriptions of the Bonds and certain information regarding the City and its finances. All
descriptions of documents contained herein are only summaries and are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such
document, Copies of such documents may be obtained from the City's Financial Advisor, Hilltop Securities Inc.,
("HilltopSecurities") Dallas, Texas.

DESCRIPTION OF THE CITY . , . The City is a political subdivision and home rule municipal corporation of the State of Texas (the
"State™), duly organized and existing under the laws of the State, including the City’s home rule charter (the "Home Rule Charter").
The City first adopted its Home Rule Charter in 1948, The City operates under a Council/Manager form of government with a
City Council comprised of the Mayor and eight Council members who are elected for staggered three-year terms. The City Manager
is the chief administrative officer for the City, Some of the services that the City provides are: public safety {police and fire
protection), streets, water and sanitary sewer utilities, envirommental health services, parks and recreation, public transportation,
public facilities, planning and zoning, and general administrative services. The 2010 population was 175,396 while the 2020
Census population was 191,720, The estimated population for 2022 is 200,640. The City covers approximately 81 square miles.

INFECTIOUS INSEASE OUTBREAK — COVID-19 . . . In March 2020, the World Health Organization and the President of the United
States sef Iy declared the k of a respiratory disease caused by a novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") to be a public health
emergency. On March 13, 2020, the Governor of Texas (the "Govemor”) declared a state of disaster for all counties in the State
hecause of the effects of COVID-19, Pursuant to Chapter 418 of the Texas Government Code, the Governor has broad authority
to respond to disasters, including taking action to suspend any latory statute p ibing the p for conduct of state
business of any order or rule of a state agency that would in any way prevent, hinder, or delay necessary action in coping with this
disaster, and issuing executive orders that have the force and effect of law. The Governor has since issued several executive orders

relating to COVID- 19 preparedness, mitigation and reopening Texas busi In resp to a rise in COVID-19 infections in
the State and pursuant to Chapter 418 of the Texas Government Code, the Governor issued a number of executive orders intended
to help limit the spread of COVID-19 and mitigate injury and the loss of life, including limitations imposed on business of i

social gatherings and other activities.

Under executive orders in effect as of the date of this Official Statement, there are no State-imposed COVID-19 related operating
limits for any business or other establishment in the State and no State-imposed requirement 1o wear a face covering. The Governor
retains the right to impose future restrictions on activities if needed in order to mitigate the effects of COVID-19. Additional
information regarding executive orders issued by the Governor is accessible on the website of the Govemor at
https://gov.texas.gov/, Neither the information on, nor accessed through, such website of the Governor is incorporated by reference,
either expressly or by implication, into this Official Statement.

COVID-19 negatively affected commerce, travel and businesses locally and globally, and negatively affected economic growth
worldwide and within the U.S,, the State and the City, With the easing or I of iated gover | restrictions,
ic activity has i d. However, there are no assurances that economic activity will continue or increase at the same rate
a5 before the COVID-19 pandemic or following the easing or removal of restrictions, especially if there are future outbreaks of
COVID-19 or variants of COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic may result in lasting changes in some businesses and social
practices, which could affect business activity and limit the growth of or reduce the City's ad valorem and sales tax collections, In
ddition, further or ded reductions in the value of stocks and other investments could impact employee retirement plans or
ather funds and could require actions by the State. The City cannot predict the long-term economic effect off COVID-19 or the
effect of any future outbreak of COVID-19, or variants of COVID-19, or a similar virus on the City's operations or financial
condition.

Some of the financial and operating data ined herein are as of dates and for periods prior to the economic impact of COVID-
19 and instituted to slow it. A Jingly, such information is not necessarily indicative of the current financial condition
or future prospects of the City. The City continues to monitor the spread of COVID-19 and is working with local, State, and national
agencies to address the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic upon the City. While the full extent of the impact of COVID-
19 on the City cannot be fully quantified at this time, the continued outhreak of COVID-19 could have an adverse effect on the
City's operations and financial condition, and the effect could be material.




PLAN OF FINANCING

PURPOSE . . . The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to (i) pay a portion of the City"s unfunded, acerued liability to the Texas
Municipal Retirement System ("TMRS"} and (ii) pay the costs associated with the issuance of the Bonds,

TMRS UNFUNDED LIABILITIES . .. The City maintains a pension fund for the benefit of its empleyees with the TMRS (the "Pension
Plan” or the "Plan"). The City and its covered employees make deposits into the Plan each month towards the employees’ benefits
eamed during the current year (the "Normal Cost") as well as a portion of the unfunded, accrued liability (the "TMRS Unfunded
Liability"). The TMRS Unfunded Liability is the difference between the Plan's assets and the benefits accrued (for past service)
for current and future retirees. TMRS calculates the TMRS Unfunded Liability in two parts: 1) the Prior Service Cost component
for the upcoming service year, and 2) the unfunded actuarily accrued liability ("TMRS UAAL®) for the following service vear
(2024) and beyond as calculated by the TMRS December 31, 2021 actuarial study (the "TMRS Actuarial Study”). The City is
currently amortizing the TMRS Unfunded Liability over a 24-year pericd. As of December 31, 2021, the Plan is approximately
88.9% funded with a TMRS UAAL of $76,831,209 which includes total estimated Prior Service Cost payments of $9,531,555 for
the period of October 2022 through December 2023 using the Plan assumptions. The TMRS UAAL expected to be paid from 2024
through 2046 will be deposited dircetly with TMRS on delivery of the Bonds, The total Prior Service Cost payments for the period
October 2022 through December 2023 o be paid in monthly installments during that period will be deposited into an escrow
account with the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the "Escrow Agent") from which monies will be drawn monthly
and transferred to TMRS. See "DEBT INFORMATION — Retirement Plan" and Appendix B — "Excerpts from the City's Annual
Comp ive Financial § —Note J" for Plan details and assumptions. Plan earnings performance, changes in benefits,
and many other factors will impact the Plan’s overall funded level in future years and the City may owe additional payments relating
to its TMRS Unfunded Liability or may become overfunded in the future,

The Bonds are being structured as approximately level annual debt service, Assuming the realization of the actuarial assumptions
described in Appendix D — "TMRS Contribution Rate Letter Dated June 8, 2022" (the "Rate Letter"), the City anticipates an annual
positive cash flow benefit during the life of the Bonds from the difference bet the projected actuarially-d ined future
payments for the City's TMRS Unfunded Liability to TMRS based on the actuarial assumptions in the Rate Letter, compared to
the debt service payments on the Bonds.

The realization of a cash flow benefit to the City is a ion of a of actuarial ptions | ling the actual
investment rate of return experienced by TMRS over the life of the Bonds, No assurance can be given that such expectations
will be realized or that the estimated and projected economic benefits from the issnance of the Bonds will be fully realized,

USE OF BOND PROCEEDS . ., Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds are expected to be expended as follows:

SOURCES OF FUNDS:

Par Amount of Bomls § 77.515,000.00
TOTAL SOURCES: 5 77,515,000.00
USES OF FUNDS:

Deposit 1e TMRS 5 67,299,634,00

Deposit to Escrow Fund for TMRS 9,531,355.00

Custs of ssumnce " G83,791.00
TOTAL USES: §_77.515,000.00

ifi) Includes Underwriters” Discount.
THE BONDS

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS . . . The Bonds are dated August 1, 2022, and are scheduled to mature on February 15 in each of the
years and in the amounts shown on page 2 hereof, Interest on the Bonds will acerue from the Delivery Date, estimated to be August
31, 2022, will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, and will be payable on cach February 15 and
August 15 until maturity or prier redemption, commencing February 15, 2023, The definitive Bonds will be issued only in fully
registered form in any integral multiple of $5,000 for any one maturity and will be initially registered and delivered only to Cede
& Co,, the nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, Mew York ("DTC") pursuant to the Book-Entry-Only System
deseribed herein. No physical delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners thereof. Principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on the Bonds will be payable by the Paying Agent/Registrar (identified below) to Cede & Co., which will make
distribution of the amounts so paid to the participating members of DTC for subsequent payment to the heneficial owners of the
Bonds. See "THE BONDS - Book-Entry-Only System" herein,

Interest on the Bonds shall be paid to the registered owners appearing on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at
the close of business on the Record Date (heveinafter defined), and such interest shall be paid (i) by check sent United States Mail,
first class postage prepaid to the address of the registered owner recorded in the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar
or (i) by such other method, ptable to the Paying Agent/Regi ] 1 by, and at the risk and expense of, the registered
owner. Principal of the Bonds will be paid to the registered owner at their stated maturity or upon earlier redemption upon

ion to the desi d fer office of the Paying Agent/Registrar; provided, however, that so long as Cede &

B

Reconciliation of Full Retirement Rate from
Prior Actuarial Valuation Report

Actuarial valuations are based on long-term assumptions, and results in a specific year can, and almost certainly
will, differ as actual plan experience deviates from the assumptions. The following table provides a detailed
breakdown of changes in your city’s Full Retirement Rate (ADEC) from 2022 to 2023. A brief description of such
changes follows the table.

Change in Full Retirement Rate

Full Retirement Rate from 12/31/2020 Valuation (2022 Rate) 17.03 %
Benefit Changes 0.00 %
Return on Actuarial Value of Assets (0.32)
Contributions/Fully Amortized Prior Bases (0.02)
Payroll Growth {0.01)
Mormal Cost 010
Liability Growth 0.64
Total Change 0.39 %
Full Retirement Rate from 12/31/2021 Valuation (2023 Rate) 1742 %

Benefit Changes - Shows the increase or decrease in the contribution rate associated with any plan changes.

Return on Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) - Shows the change in the contribution rate associated with the return
on the AVA being different than the assumed 6.75%. For the year ending December 31, 2021, the return on an
AVA basis was 7.59%. The impact may show as 0.00% due to rounding.

Contributions/Fully Amortized Prior Bases - Shows the total increase or decrease in the contribution rate
associated with contributions different than the Full Retirement Rate, the contribution lag (see below), and the
impact of the amortization bases which become fully amortized as of this valuation since payments for those bases
are no longer part of the Prior Service Rate calculation. Contributions different from the Full Retirement Rate may
include phase-in contributions, contributions in excess of the Full Retirement Rate, and/or lump sum contributions.
The effect of the contribution lag refers to the time delay between the actuarial valuation date and the date the
contribution rate becomes effective (i.e., the Actuarial Valuation as of December 31, 2021 sets the rate effective
for 2023). This impact is expected to become immaterial once a city is contributing the Full Retirement Rate and
the Full Retirement Rate stabilizes,

Payroll Growth - Shows the increase or decrease in the contribution rate associated with higher or lower than
expected growth in the city’s overall payroll. The amortization payments were calculated assuming payroll grows
at 2.75% per year. Overall payroll growth greater (less) than 2.75% will typically cause a decrease (increase) in the
Prior Service Rate,



Year

Established

2013
2014
2015
2015
2016
2017
2017
2018
2019
2019
2020
2021

TMRS amortizes the UAAL/OAAL through the process of laddering each base created during the valuation process.
The city’s UAAL/OAAL equals the total of the remaining amortization bases, The city’s Prior Service Rate equals

UAAL/OAAL Amortization Bases and Payments

Description

2013 Valuation (Fresh Start)
2014 Experience

2015 Experience

2015 Actuarial Changes
2016 Experience

2017 Experience

2017 Benefit Change
2018 Experience

2019 Experience

2019 Actuarial Changes
2020 Experience

2021 Experience

Total

Years
Remaining

14
14
24
24
20
14
21
22
23
23
14
20

Remaining
Base Payment

$ 68,113,135 § 6,366,249
(5,489,663) (513,096)
1,610,245 103,862
573,094 36,965
2,263,219 164,018
(179,007) (16,731)
4774343 335,051
1,521,687 103,631
1495290 99,016
1,145,932 75,882
(3.432,485) (320.820)
4435421 321439
76,831,209 6,755,466

the total amortization payments divided by the Valuation Payroll (Item 2 of the priot page).

Ca. {or ather DTC nominee) is the registered owner of the Bonds, all payments will be made as described under "THE BONDS -
Book-Entry-Only System" herein, If the date for any payment on the Bonds shall be a Saturday, Sunday, a legal hofiday or a day
when banking institutions in the city where the designated paymentitransfer office of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are
authorized to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a day, and payment on such
date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the date payment was due.

AUTHORITY FOR ISSUANCE OF THE BonDs ... The Bonds are authorized and issued pursuant to authority granted by the
Constitution and the general laws of the State of Texas (the "State”), including particularly Chapter 107, Texas Local Government
Code, as amended, and Chapter 1371, Texas G Caode, as ded, and the Ordi

SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS . . . The Bonds, when issued, are direct obligations of the City payable from
a direct and continuing, annual ad valorem tax levied, within the limits prescribed by law, on all taxable property within the City
as provided in the Ordinance.

TAX RATE LamitaTion . . . All taxable property within the City is subject to the levy and collection by the City of' a
continuing, direct annual ad valorem tax sufficient to provide for the payment of principal of and interest on all ad valorem tax debt
within the limits prescribed by law. Article X1, Section 5, of the Texas Constitution is applicable o the City, and limits its maximum
ad valorem tax rate to $2.50 per cach $100 of Taxable Assessed Valuation for all City purposes. The Home Rule Charter of the
City adopts the constitutionally authorized maximum tax rate of $2.50 per each $100 of Taxable Assessed Valuation.
Administratively, the Attomey General of the State of Texas will permit allocation of $1.50 of the $2.50 maximum tax rate for all
general obligation debt, based on a 90% tax collection rate as calculated at the time of issuance.

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE BONDS . . . The City reserves the right, at its option, to redeem Bonds having stated maturities on
and after February 15, 2032, in whole or in part in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, on February 15,
2031, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus acerued interest to the date of redemption. 17 less than all of the Bonds
are io be redeemed, the City may select the maturities of the Bonds to be redeemed. If less than all of the Bonds of any maturity
are 1o be red d, the Paying Agent/Regi {or D'TC while the Bonds are in Book-Entry-Only form) shall determine by lot the
Bonds, or portions thereof, within such maturity to be redeemed. I any Bond (or any pertion of the principal sum thereof) shall
have been called for redemption and notice of such redemption shall have been given, such Bond {or the principal amount thereof
10 be redeemed) shall become due and payable on such redemption date and interest thercon shall cease to accrue from and after
the redemption date, provided funds for the payment of the redemption price and accrued interest thereon are held by the Paying
Agent/Registear on the redemption date.

NOTICE OF REDEMPTION . ., Not less than 30 days prior to a redemption date for the Bonds, the City shall cause a notice of
redemption 1o be senl by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the registered owners of the Bonds o be redeemed, in
whole or in part, at the address of each registered owner appearing on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the
close of busi on the busi day next preceding the date of mailing such notice. ANY NOTICE S0 MAILED SHALL BE
CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN DULY GIVEN, WHETHER OR NOT THE REGISTERED OWNER
RECEIVES SUCH NOTICE. NOTICE HAVING BEEN SO GIVEN, THE BONDS CALLED FOR REDEMPTION SHALL
BECOME DUE AND PAYABLE ON THE SPECIFIED REDEMPTION DATE, AND NOTWITHSTANDING THAT ANY
BOND OR PORTION THEREOF HAS NOT BEEN SURRENDERED FOR PAYMENT, INTEREST ON SUCH BOND OR
PORTION THEREOF SHALL CEASE TO ACCRUE.

With respect to any optional redemption of the Bonds, unless moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and
interest on the Bonds to be redeemed shall have been received by the Paying Agent/Registrar prior to the giving of such notice of
redemption, such notice may state that said redemption is conditional upon the receipt of such moneys by the Paying
Agent/Registrar on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption, er upon the sati ion of any prerequisites set forth in such
notice of redemption; and, if sufficient moneys are not received, such notics shall be of no force and effect, the City shall not
redeem such Bonds and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall give notice, in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given,
to the effect that the Bonds have not been redeemed,

DEFEASANCE . . . The Ordi provides for the d of the Bonds when the payment of the principal of and premium, if
any, on the Bonds, plus interest thereon to the due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity, redemption or
otherwise), is provided by irrevocably depositing with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or other authorized escrow agent, in trust (1)
money sufficient to make such payment or (2) Government Securities, which Government Securities shall mature as to principal
and interest in such amounts and at such times to insure the availability, without reinvestment, of sufficient money to make such
payment, and all necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the paying agent for the Bonds. In the event of a
defensance of the Bonds, the City shall deliver a certificate from its financial advisor, the Paying Agent/Registrar, an independent
certified public accountant, or another qualified third party concerning the sufficiency of the deposit of cash and/or Government
Securities to pay, when due, the principal of, redemption premium (if any), and interest due on any defeased Bonds. The Ordinance
provides that "Government Securities” means (a) direct, noncallable obligations of the United States of America, including
obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, and (b} noncallable obligations of an agency or
instrumentality of the United States of Ameries, including obligations that are litionally g d or insured by the agency
or instrumentality and that, on the date of their acquisition or purchase by the City, are rated as o investment quality by a nationally
recognized investment rating firm not less than "AAA" or its equivalent. The City has the right, subject to satisfving the
requirements of (1) and (2) above, 10 itute other G Securities for the G Securities originally deposited,
t reinvest the uninvested moneys on deposit for such defeasance and to withdraw for the benefit of the City moneys in excess of
the amount required for such defeasance.




There is no assurance that the ratings for U.5. Treasury securities used as Government Securities or that for any other Government
Security will be maintained at any particular rating category.

Upon such deposit as ibed above, the applicable Bonds shall no longer be regarded to be outstanding or unpaid. After firm
king and Frlam,lal arrang for the disch and final pay of the Bonds have been made as described above, all rights
of the City to initiate proceedings to call the Bonds that have been defeased to maturity for wdl:mptlon or take any other action
amending the terms of the Bonds that have been defeased to maturity are extinguished; provided, i , that the right to call the
Bonds that have been defeased to maturity for redemption is not extinguished if the City: (i) in the pmceedlngs providing for the
firm banking and financial arrangements, expressly reserves the right to call the Bonds for redemption; (i) gives notice of the
reservation of that right to the owners of the Bonds immediately following the making of the firm banking and financial
arrangements; and (iii) directs that notice of the reservation be included in any redemption natices that it authorizes.

AMENDMENTS . , . The City may, without the consent of or notice to any Holders of the Bends, from time to time and at any time,
amend the Ordinance in any manner not detrimental to the interests of the Holders of the Bonds, includ'rng the euring of any
amblgulty, inconsistency, or formal defect or omission therein. In addition, the City may, with the written consent of Holders of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, ﬂmeﬂd1 add to, or rescind any of the DIDVISIOTJS of rhe
Ordinance; provided that, without the consent of all Holders of Quistanding Bonds, no such di or

shall (1) extend the time or times of payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, reduce the principal
amount thereof, the vedemption price, or the rate of interest thereon, or in any other way modify the terms of payment of the
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds, (2) give any preference to any Bond over any other Bond, respectively, or
(3) reduce the aggregate principal amount of Bonds required to be held by Holders for consent to any such amendment, addition,
o rescission.

BoOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM . .. This section describes how ownership of the Bonds is to be transferved and how the principal of,

premium, if any and interest on the Bonds are to be paid 1o and credited by DTC while the Bonds are registered in its nominee

name. The information in this section concerning DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System has been provided by DTC for use in

disclosure documents such as this Official Statement. The City believes the source of such information to be reliable, but takes no
ibility for the or 1 thereof.

The City cannot and does not give any assurance that (1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Bonds, or redemption
or other notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid to DTC or its
nominee (as the registered owner of the Bonds), or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners, or that they will do so
on a timely basis, or (3) DTC will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The current rules applicable to

DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the current p of DTC to be foll | in deating with
DTC Participants are on file with DTC.
DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully istered securities regi | in the name

of Cede & Co. (DTCs partnership nominee). One fully-registered certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of each such maturity and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
"banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing
corporaliou" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency” registered pursuant to the
provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for aver 3.5 million
issues of LS. and non-U.S. equily issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100
countries) that DTC's participants {"Direct Particip ) deposit with DTC. DTC also facililates the post-trade settlement among
Direct Participants of sales and other sec.ur[ltes rramaclmns in deposited securities, through ¢lectronic computerized bnnk-emry
transfers and pledges between Direct P | This elimi the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both ULS. and non-UL8, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation
{"DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, Mational Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies, DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the
DTC system is also available to others such as bmh U 5. and non-1J, S secunll:s brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and
¢learing corporations that clear through or mai dial rel: hip with a Direct Participant, enher directly or indirectly
{"Indlmcl Participants" } DT(_, has Standard & Poor’s rallrlg of A%, The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with
the § and E: ion, More information about DTC can be found at www.dice.com and www.dic.ovg.

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a eredit for such
purchases on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of cach Bond ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be
recorded on the Direct or Indirect Participants’ records, Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their
purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected 1o receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as
periadic statements ufthelr hn]dlngs, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the

hip interest in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the baoks of Participants
acting on bchalfochncﬁcml Owncrs Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests
in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-cntry system deseribed herein is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's
partnetship nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit
of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co, or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in

11}

Calculation of Contribution Requirements

From Valuation Report as of

December 31, 2021

December 31, 2020

1. Prior year’s payroll reported to TMRS b 106,086,747 § 100,628,856
2. Valuation Payroll 108,095,706 105,012,854
3. Employer Normal Cost Rate 1117 % 11.07 %
4. Actuarial Accrued Liability
a. Active Members $ 307,454,021 $ 300,742,923
b. Inactive Members 40,991,047 38,876,093
¢.  Annuitants 341,494,721 308,018,249
d. Total Actuarial Accrued Liability $ 689,939,789 5 647,637,265
5. Actuarial Value of Assets 613,108,580 573,757,717
6. Unfinded Actuarial Accrued Liability (4d - 5) $ 76,831,209 $ 73,879,548
7. Funded Ratio (5 / 4d) 88.9 % 88.6 %
8. Equivalent single amortization period* 15.2 Years 16.0 Years
9. Assumed payroll growth rate 2.75 % 275 %
Contribution Rates: 2023 2022
10. Full Retirement
a. Normal Cost 11.17 % 11.07 %
b, Prior Service 6.25 5.96
c. Full Retirement 17.42 % 17.03 %
11, Supplemental Death Benefit 0.31 0.20
12. Combined Contribution {10c+11) 17.73 % 17.23 %

* New losses are laddered over a 20-year period.



Summary of Benefit Provisions

Plan provisions are adopted by your city’s governing body from the options available in the TMRS Act. Your

city’s plan provisions in effect as of April 1, 2022 were as follows:

Member Contribution Rate T

Matching Ratio (City to Member) 2:1

Years Required for Vesting 5

Retirement Eligibility (Age/Service) 60/5, 0/20
Updated Service Credit 100% Repeating Transfers
Retiree Cost of Living Adjustment 70% of CPI Repeating
Supplemental Death Benefit to Active Members Yes
Supplemental Death Benefit to Retirees Yes

If you have any questions about your city’s benefit provisions or would like to discuss plan changes, please

contact the City Services Department at cityservices@tmrs.com or call Anthony Mills at §12-225-3764.

beneficial o hip. DTC has no § ledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity
of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct
and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers,

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Par icip by Direct Particip to Indirect Participants,
and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject
to any statutory or regulatory requitements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take
certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions,
tenders, defaults, and proposed d to the Bond documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to
ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In
the aliernative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses o the registrar and request thal copies of notices
be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to
determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity to be redeemed.

Meither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent ar vote with respect to the Bonds, unless authorized by a
Direet Participant in aceordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as

soan as possible after the Record Date (hereinafter defined). The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights
to those Direet Particiy to whose ts the Bonds are credited on the Record Date (identified in a listing attached 10 the
Omnibus Proxy).

Al payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co. or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative
of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information
from the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar, on payable date in ! with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records,
P by Partici to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case
with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name,” and will be the responsibility of
such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the Paying Agent/Registear or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds and principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or
such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City or the Paying
Agent/Registrar, disbursement of such p to Direct Particiy shall be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of
such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respeet to one or both series of the Bonds at any time by
giving reasonable notice to the City or Paying Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor securities
depository is not obtained, Bonds are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or & successor securities depository).
In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.

Effect of Termination of Book-Entry-Only Systent....In the event that the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued, printed Bond

certificates will be issued to the holders and the Bonds will be subject to transfer, e and reg| p jons as set forth
in the Ordinance and summarized under "THE BONDS - Transfer, Exchange and Registration” herein.
Use af Certain Terms in Other Sections of this Official Statement. In reading this Official § it should be und d that

while the Bonds are in the Book-Entry-Only System, references in other sections of this Official Statement to registered owners
should be read 1o include the person for which the Participant acquires an interest in the Bonds, but (i) all rights of ownership must
be exercised through DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System, and (ii) except as described above, notices that are to be given to
registered owners under the Ordinance will be given only to DTC.

Information concerning DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System has been obtained from DTC and is not guaranteed as o accuracy
or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation by the City, the Financial Advisor or the Underwriters.

PAVING AGENT/REGISTRAR . . . The initial Paying Agent/Registrar is The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,
Dallas, Texas. In the Ordinance, the City retains the right to replace the Paying Agent/Registrar. The City covenants to maintain
and provide a Paying Agent/Registrar at all times until the Bonds are duly paid, and any successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall be
a bank, trust company, financial institution or other entity duly qualified and legally authorized 1 serve as and perform the duties
and services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds. Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds, the City
agrees to promptly cause a written notice thereof to be sent to each registered owner of the Bonds by United States mail, first class,
postage prepaid, which notice shall also give the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.

TRANSFER, EXCHANGE AND REGISTRATION , . . In the event the Book-Entry-Only System should be discontinued with respeet 1o
the Bonds, printed Bonds will be delivered to the registered owners thercof, and thereafter the Bonds may be transferred and
exchanged on the registration books of the Paying Agent/Registear only upon pi ion and der of such printed Bonds to
the Paying Agent/Registrar, and such transfer or exchange shall be without expense or service charge fo the registered owner,
except for any tax or other governmental charges required to be paid with respect to such registration, exchange and transfer. Bonds
may be assigned by the ion of an assi form on the respective Bonds or by other instrument of transfer and assignment
acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, New Bonds will be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar, in lieu of the Bonds being

ferred or exch d, at the desi d office of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or sent by United States mail, first class, postage
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To the extent pussml—e new Bonds issued in an exchange or transfer of Bonds

prepaid, to the new g d owner or his d
be d

will 1 to the regi d owner or assignee of the regi owner in not more than three business days aﬂcr the mcelpt
of the Bonds to be canceled, and the written instrument of transfer or request for exchange duly | by the g i owner
or his duly authorized agent, in form satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar. New Bonds regi d and delivered in an exch

or transfer shall be in any integral multiple of $5,000 for any one maturity and for a like aggregate principal amount as the Bonds
surrendered for exchange or transfer. See "THE BONDS - Book-Entry-Only System" herein for a deseription of the system to be
utlllzed |mt|a||3-I in reg,uni to ownership and tansferability of the Bonds. Neither the Clty nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be

1 to transfer o hange any Bond called for redemption, in whole or in part, within 45 days of the dalc fixed for redemption;
pmvlded however, eucl\ limitation on transfer shall not be applicable to an excl by the regi 1 ewner of the uncalled
balance of an Bond

RECORD DATE FOR INTEREST PAYMENT . . . The record dare {"Record Date") for the interest payable on the Bonds on any interest
payment date means the close of busi on the last b day of the preceding month,

In the event of a non-payment of interest on & scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such
interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment
of such interest have been received from the City. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past
due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five business days prior to the Special
Record Date by United States mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of ench registered owner of an Bond appearing on the
registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing
of such notice.

BONDHOLDERS" REMEDIES . . . [f the City defaults in the payment of principal, interest or on the
Bonds when due, or if it fails to make paymcnls |nlu any fund or funds created in the Ordinance or del’aults in thc observation or
performance Dfan:{' other 15, € ions set forth in the Ordinance, the registered owners may seek a writ of
mandamus to compel City officials to carry out thml legally imposed duties with respact to the Bonds if there is no olhel a\'allable
remedy at law to compel pe:fonnance of!he Bol'ldb or thc Ordinance and the City’s ot iong are not ord The

of a writ of d; iples, and rests with the discretion of the court, but may not be
arbitrarily refused. There is no accclmlum of n‘!atunty of the Bonds in the event of default and, mmxeqllcnlly. the remedy of
mandamus may have to be relied upon from year to year. The Ordinance does not provide for the appointment of a trustes to
represent the interest of the holders of the Bonds upon any failure of the City to perform in accordance with the terms of the
Ordinance, or upon any other condition and, accordingly, all legal actions to enforce such remedies would have to be underiaken
at the initiative of, and be financed by, the registered owners, On April 1, 2016, the Texas Supreme Courl ruled in Wassan Interests,
Ltd. v, City of Jacksanville, 489 S.W. 3d 427 (Tex. 2016) ("Wasson™} Ihat soverei an immunity does not imbue a city with derivative

immunity when it performs proprietary, as opposed to governmental, functions in respect to d by a city. The
Texas Supreme Court reviewed Wasson again in June 2018 and clanﬂed that to delermme whether gov cmmlmtul immunity applies
to a breach of contract claim, the proper inquiry is whether the pality was engaged in 4 g | or proprietary function

when it entered into the contract, not at the time of the alleged breach. Therefore in regard to I contract cases (as in tort
claims) it is incumbent on the courts to d:t:rmln: whether a funcnuu was proprietary or goveTmm:ﬂlu] based upon the statutory
guidance at the time of the contractual rel hip, Texas jurisp has generally held that proprietary functions are those
conducted by a city in its private capacity, for the benefit only of those within its oorporale limits, and not as an arm of the
government or under the authori ity or for the benefit of the state. [f ined by a court to exist, then the
Texas Supreme Court has ruled in Toake v. City ufMarw 197 8.W.3d 325 (Tex. 2006) that a waiver of sovereign immunity in a
contractual dlspule must be provided for by statute in "clear and unambiguous” language. Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code
("Chaplcr 1371" ), which pertains to the issuance of public secu itics by certain |ssue|s such as the City, permits the City to waive

y in the p dings authorizing its debt obligations, but in with ¢ of the Bonds, the City
has not relied an th: authority prov ided by Chapter 1371 and has not waived sovereign immunity in the manner provided by Chapter
1371, Because it is unclear whether the Texas legislature has effectively waived the City’s sovereign immunily from a suit for
money damagcs holders of the Bonds may not be able to bring such a suit against the City for breach of the Bonds or the covenants
in the O Even ifaj against the City could be oblained, it could not be enforced by direct levy and execution
against the City's property. Further, the registered owners cannot tllr:rnsel\-'cs foreclose on property within the City or sell property
within the City to enforce the tax lien on taxable property to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds. Furthermore, the City
is eligible to seek relief from its creditors under Chapter 9 of the 1.5, Bankruptey Code ("Chapter 9%). Although Chapter 9 provides
for the recognition of a security interest repmscmed by a specifically pledged source of revenues, the pledge of ad valorem taxes
in support of a general obligation of a hankrup( entity is not specifically recognized 45 a security interest under Chapter 9. Chapter
9 also includes an automatic stay provision that would prohibit, without Bankrupicy Court approval, the prosecution of any other
legal action by creditors or holders of the Bonds of an entity which has sought protection under Chapter 9. Therefore, should the
City avail itself of Chapter 9 protection from creditors, the ability to enforce creditors” rights would be subject to the approval of
the Bankruptey Court (which could require that the action be heard in Bankruptey Court instead of other federal or state court); and
the Bankruptcy Code provides for broad discretionary powers of a Bankruptey Court in administering any proceeding brought
before it. The opinion of Bond Counsel will note that all opinions relative to the enforceability of the Ordinance and the Bonds are
qualilied with respeet to the customary rights of debtors relative to their creditors.

Executive Summary

Valuation as of 12/31/2021 12/31/2020
Membership as of the Valuation Date
*  MNumber of
- Active Members 1,380 1,372
- Retirees and beneficiaries 809 864
- Inactive Members 742 688
- Total 3,021 2,924
= Prior year’s payroll provided by TMRS % 106,086,747 £ 100,628,856
*  Valuation Payroll 108,095,706 105,012,854
Benefit Accumulation Fund (BAF) Assets
¢ Market BAF Balance b 652,959,859 5 585,399,127
* BAF crediting rate 12.26 % 7.45 %
* Interest credited on beginning BAF balance $ 71,746,873 $ 40,961,988
* Employer contributions 18,187,645 16,934,666
+  Member contributions 7,432,874 7,047,274
+ Benefit and refund payments 29,806,659 29,272,675
Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA)
+ Market BAF Balance £ 652,959,859 by 585,399,127
+  Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) 613,108,580 573,757,717
* AVA as a Percentage of BAF 93.9 % 98.0 %
* Return on AVA 7.59 7.04
Actuarial Information
*  Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) § 689,939,789 $ 647,637,265
+  Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) 613,108,580 573,757,717
*  Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UJAAL) 76,831,209 73,879,548
* UAAL as % of pay 724 % 73.4 %
* Funded Ratio (AVA/AAL) 88.9 88.6
* Employer Normal Cost Rate 11.17 11.07
* Prior Service Rate 6.25 5.96
Contribution Rates 2023 2022
*  Member 7.00 % 7.00 %
= Full Retirement (ADEC) 17.42 17.03
+_Supplemental Death Benefit 0.31 0.20
Combined Employer Contribution Estimates 2023 2022
+ Projected payroll $ 111,068,338 s 107,900,707
+ Combined Contribution Rate 17.73 % 17.23 %
+ Estimated employer contribution 8 19,692,416 § 18,591,292

Note: Resulls from prior year reflect the plan provisions shown on the next page.
" Escludes contributions to/benefit payments from the IRC §415(m) Full Benefit Armrangement fund.




Rate Stabilization Techniques

Contribution rate stabilization for cities is a strategic goal of the TMRS Board of Trustees. Since 2007, the Board
has approved many actuarial changes to minimize short-term volatility in contribution rates while maximizing long-
term System sustainability. Under the current funding policy in which rates are actuarially determined each year,
contribution rate stabilization is fully optimized at the System level; therefore, any further rate stabilization must
be achieved at the city level.

Cities with an Unfunded Liability - For cities with an Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL), the most
effective way for a city to stabilize its TMRS contribution rate is to determine an affordable rate that exceeds the
required rate and continue to pay that same rate even when the calculated rate decreases in subsequent valuations.
These additional contributions at a predetermined fixed rate accomplish the following:

o Provide a stable annual contribution rate for budgeting purposes;
e Directly reduce the UAAL dollar for dollar;

e Pay off the UAAL quicker;

o Produce cost savings over the long run; and

o Provide a cushion for future adverse plan experience.

Cities with a Surplus - For cities with an Overfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (surplus), the contribution rate
is determined by decreasing the Normal Cost Rate (the cost of the current year accruals for active Members) by a
Prior Service Rate calculated to keep the funded ratio at approximately the same level. The result is a required
contribution rate less than the Normal Cost. It is important to note that adverse plan experience could still result in
the funded ratio dropping below 100%. TMRS encourages cities in a surplus position to consider paying the full
Normal Cost Rate (or as much as possible toward the full Normal Cost Rate) until the funded ratio is at least 110%.
Doing so will dampen contribution rate volatility and increase the likelihood of maintaining a funded ratio greater
than 100%.

How to make Additional Contributions - No formal action needs to be taken by a city to contribute at a higher
level than the required monthly minimum. Additional monthly contributions may be made during the normal
payroll reporting process by simply providing the increased rate. Because additional contributions are entirely
voluntary, a city may revert to paying the minimum required rate at any time during the year if financial
circumstances change,

Ifyour city would like to explore the impact ol any of these rate stabilization techniques on your TMRS plan, please
contact Actuarial Serviees at ActuarialServices@tmrs.com,

TAX INFORMATION

The following is o suntmary of certain provisions of State law as it relates 1o ad valorem ion ane is ot | led ta be ¢ !
Prospective investors are encouraged fa review Title 1 of the Texas Tax Code, as amended {the "Property Tax Coa‘e‘9 Jor
identification of property subject to ad valorem laxation, property exempt or which may be erempled from ad valorem taxation if
claimed, the appraisal of property for ad valorem tax purposes, and the p fiires and i pplicable to the fevy and
collection of ad valorem faxes.

VALUATION OF TAXABLE PROPERTY . . . The Property Tax Code provides for countywide appraisal and equalization of taxable

perty values and blishes in each county of the Stale an appraisal district and an appraisal review board (the "Appraisal
Review Board" "y responsible for appraising property for all taxing units within the county, The appraisal of property within the City
is the responsibility of the Dallas Central Appraisal District, Ellis Appraisal District and Tarrant Appraisal District (collectively,
the "Appraisal District”) with respeet to City property located within such counties, which are county-wide agencies created under
the Property Tax Code for that purpose. Except as gencrally deseribed below, the Appraisal District is required 1o appraise all
property within the Appraisal District on the basis of 100% of its market value and is prohibited from applying any assessment
ratios. In determining market value of property, the Appraisal District is required to consider the cost method of appraisal, the
income method of appraisal and the market data comparison method ofappralsal and use the method the chief appraiser of the
Appraisal District considers most appropriate. The Property Tax Code req) ppraisal districts 1o reappraise all property inits
Jjurisdiction at least once every three (3) years. A faxing unit may require annual review at its own expense, and is entitled to
challenge the determination of appraised value of property within the taxing unit by petition filed with the Appraisal Review Board.

State law requires lhc apprensed value of an owner's principal resid {1 " or "h ds") to be based solely on the

*svalue asa b lless of whether residential use is considered to be the highest and best use of the property.

State law further limits the appraised value ofa d to the lesser of (1) the market value of the property or (2) 110% of the

ppraised value of the property for the p g tax year plus the market value of all new improvements fo the property. The 10%
i is lative, ing the i is 10% times the number of years since the property was last appraised.

State law provides that eligible owners of both agricultural land and open-space land, including open-space land devoted to farm
or ranch purposes or open-space land devoted to timber production, may elect to have such property appraised for property taxation
on the basis of its productive capacity. The same land may not be qualified as both agricultural and open-space land.

The appraisal values set by the Appraisal District are subject to review and change by the Appraisal Review Board, The appraisal
rolls, as approved by the Appraisal Review Board, are used by taxing units, such as the City, in establishing their tax rolls and tax
rates (see "TAX INFORMATION — City and Taxpayer Remedies”).

STATE MANDATED HOMESTEAD EXEMPTIONS . . . State law grants, with respect to each taxing unit in the State, various exemptions
for disabled veterans and their families, surviving spouses of members of the armed services killed in action and swviving spouses
of first responders killed or fatally wounded in the line of duty.

LocaL Or110N HOMESTEAD EXEMPTIONS . . . The goveming body of a taxing unit, including a city, county, school district, or
special district, a1 its option may grant: (1) an exemption of up to 20% of the appraised value of all homesteads (but not less than
$5,000) and (2) an additional exemption of at least $3,000 of the appraised value of the homesteads of persons sixty-five (65) years
of age or older and the disabled. Each taxing unit decides if it will offer the local option homestead exemptions and at what
percentage or dollar amount, as applicable. The exemption deseribed in (2), above, may also be created, increased, decreased or
repealed at an election called by the governing body of a taxing unit upon presentment of a petition for such creation, increase,
decrease, or repeal of at least 20% of the number of qualified voters who voted in the preceding election of the taxing unit.

LocaL OrTiON FREEZE FOR THE ELDERLY AND INSABLED . ., The governing body of a county, municipality or junior college
district may, at its option, provide for a freeze on the total amount of ad valorem taxes levied on the homesteads of persons 65 years
of age or older or of disabled persons above the amount of tax imposed in the year such residence qualified for such exemption.
Also, upon voter initiative, an election may be held to determine by majority vote whether o establish such a freeze on ad valorem
taxes, Once the freeze is established, the total amount of taxes imposed on such | is cannot be i 1 except for certain
improvements, and such freeze cannot be repealed or rescinded.

PERSONAL PROPERTY . ., Tangible pemnal property (furniture, rnachmcry, supplies, i mvsmlones, ele.) used in the pmducnm of

income" is taxed based on the property’s market value. Taxable p and

inventory, Intangibles such as goodwill, accounts receivable, and prapne:ary prooesses are nol taxable. Tunglble pe.rsoml property

nal held or used for production of income, such as household goods, automobiles or light trucks, and boats, is exempt from ad
ion unless the g 2 body of a taxing unit elects to tax such property.

FREEFORT AND GOODS-IN-TRANSIT EXEMPTIONS . . . Certain goods that are acquired in or 11n'pnrled. into the State to be forwarded
oulside the State, and are detained in the State for ITS days or less for the purpose of . slorage, facturing, p
or fabrication ("Freeport Property") are exempt from ad valorem taxation unless & taxing unit took official action to ) Freeporl
Property before April 1, 1990 and has not subsequently taken official action to exempt Freeporl Property. Decisions to continue
taxing Freeport Property may be reversed in the future; decisions to exempt Freeport Property are not subject to reversal,

Certain goods, that are acquired in or imported into the State to be forwarded to another location within or without the State, stored
in & location that is not owned by the owner of the goods and are transported to another location within or without the State within
13



175 days ("Goods-in-Transit"), are generally exempt from ad valorem taxation; however, the Property Tax Code permits a taxing

unit, on a Jocal option basis, to tax Goods-in-Transit if the taxing unit takes official action, nﬁerconducting a public hearing, before

January 1 of the first tax year in which the iaxmg unit proposes to tax Goods-in-Transit, Goods-in-Transit and Freeport Propenty

do not include oil, natural gas or petrol and Goods-in-Transit does not include aircraft or special inventories such as
red housing i y, ora dcalcr s motor \-'chiclr.', boat, or heavy equipment inventory.

A taxpayer may receive only one of the Goods-in-Transit or Freeport Properly exemptions for items of personal property.

OTHER EXEMPT PROPERTY . . . Other major categories of exempt property include property owned by the State or its political
subdivizsions if used for pub]lc purposes, ploperty exempt by federal law, pmpcn) ustd fUr pu]lutmrl wntm] I'ann products owned
by producers, property of nonprofit corporations used for scientific ing a college or
university, designated historic sites, solar and wind-powered energy devices, and certain classes of intangible personal property,

TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONES, , . A city or county, by petition of the landowners or by action of its governing body,

may create one or more tax increment reinvestment zones ("TIRZ") within its boundaries. At thc time of the urcallon uftll: TIR?

a "base value" for the real property in the TIRZ is established and the difference b any i in the of
taxable real property in the TIRZ in excess of the base value is known as the "tax i ", During the exi of the TIRZ, all
or a poition of the taxes levied against the tax increment by a city or county, and all other overlapping taxing units that clected to
participate, are restricted to paying only planned project and financing costs within the TIRZ and are not available for the payment
of other cbligations of such taxing units.

TAX ABATEMENT AGREEMENTS . Taxmg units may also enter into tax at o g economic
develop Under the ag a prapery owner agrees to construct certain |mplove’mems on its property. The taxing unit,
in turn, agrees not to Icvy a tax on all or part of the i d value attributable to the impr until the expiration of the
2 The ab it could last for a period of up to 10 years,

For a discussion of how the various exemptions described above are applied by the City, see "TAX INFORMATION - City
Application of Tax Code".

Crry aNp TAXPAYER REMEDIES . . . Under certain circumstances, taxpayers and taxing units, including the City, may appeal the
determinations of the Appraisal District by timely initiating a protest with the Appraisal Review Board. Additionally, taxing units
such as the City may bring suit against the Appraisal District to compel compliance with the Property Tax Code.

Owners of cerlain property with a taxable value in excess of the current year "minimum eligibility amount", as determined by the
State Comptroller, and situated in a county with a population of one million or more, may protest the determinations of an appraisal

district directly to a three-member special panel of the appraisal review board, appointed by the chai of the appraisal review
board, consisting of highly qualified professionals in the field of property tax appraisal. The minimum eligibility amount is set at
$52,978,200 for the 2022 tax year, and is adjusted Ity by the State Comptroller to reflect the inflation rate.

The Property Tax Code sets forth notice and hearing procedures for certain tax rate increases by the City and provides for taxpayer
referenda that could result in the repeal of certain tax increases (see "TAX l'NFORMATIUN — Public Hearing and Maintenance
and Operations Tax Rate Limitati "} The Property Tax Code also establisk dure for providing notice to property owners
of reappraisals reflecting i d property value, appraisals which are h!gher than renditi and appraisals of property not
previously on an appraisal roll,

Levy anp COLLECTION OF TAXES . .. The City is responsible for the collection of its taxes, unless it elects to transfer such
functions to another governmental entity, Taxes are due October 1, or when billed, whichever comes later, and become delinguent
after January 31 of the following year. A delinquent tax incurs a penalty of six percent (6%) of the amount of the tax for the first

lendar month it is deli plus ohe percent (1%) for each additional month or portion of a month the tax remains unpaid prior
to July 1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent. If the tax is not paid by July | of the year in which it becomes delinquent, the
fax incurs a total penalty of twelve percent (12%) regardless of the number of months the tax has been delinguent and incurs an
additional penalty of up to twenty percent (20%) if impnsec‘ by the City. The delinquent tax also accrues interest at a rate of one
percent (1%%) for each month or portion of a month it remains unpaid. The Property Tax Code also makes provision for the split
payment of taxes, di for early pay t and the of the deli date of taxes for certain taxpayers.
Furthermore, the City may provide, on a local option has]s. for the split payment, par Jial paymenl and discounts for early payment
of taxes under certain circumstances,

CiTy's RIGHTS IN THE EVENT OF TAX DELINQUENCIES . . . Taxes levied by the City ave a personal obligation of the owner of the
property. On January 1 of each year, a tax lien attaches to property to secure the payment of all state and local taxes, penalties, and
interest ultimately imposed for the year on the property. The lien exists in favor of each taxing unit, including the City, having
power 1o tax the property. The City’s tax lien is on a parity with tax liens of such other taxing units. A tax lien on real property
takes priority over the claim of most creditors and other holders of liens on the property encumbered by the tax lien, whether or not
the debt or lien existed before the attachment of the tax lien; however, whether a lien of the United States is on a parity with or
takes priority over a tax lien of the City is determined by applicable federal law. Personal property, under certain circumstances, is
subject to seizure and sale for the payment of delinquent taxes, penalty, and interest.

Supplemental Death Benefit Rate Increase

The Supplemental Death Benefit (SDB) program is voluntary and operates like a group-term life insurance plan for
cities that provide SDB coverage. Supplemental death benefits are not advance-funded but are financed on a pay-
as-you-go basis, The SDB Rate for each city is equal to the expected benefit payments during the upcoming year

(one-year term cost) expressed as a percentage of payroll and is calculated separately for active Members and
retirees.

Due to the higher mortality rates associated with the global pandemic, SDB claims rose significantly in 2021.
Consequently, the TMRS Board adopted changes to the methodology used for caleulating 2023 SDB Rates.
Specifically, 2023 SDB Rates were calculated by (i) removing the assumption that grants a small credit to active
rates and (i) adding a margin for adverse experience of 100% for active coverage and 10% for retiree coverage,

It is important to note that the increase in your SDB Rate only applies to 2023, Future SDB Rates will be
determined based on the most recent mortality experience available at the time.
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Historical and Projected
Accumulation of the BAF
Balance

This schedule provides your city with historical cash flows, interest credits
and the year-end balance of its Benefit Accumulation Fund (BAF), as well as
projected values for calendar years 2022 and 2023.

Risks Associated with
Measuring the Actuarial
Accrued Liability and
Actuarially Determined
Employer Contribution

An explanation of risk measurements associated with your city’s TMRS plan.

At any time afier taxes on property become delinguent, the City may file suit to foreclose the lien securing payment of the tax, 1o
enforce personal liability for the tax, or both, In filing a suit to foreclose a tax lien on real property, the City must join other taxing
units that have claims for delinguent taxes against all or part of the same property,

Collection of delinguent taxes may be adversely affected by the amount of taxes owed to other taxing units, adverse market
fition pay demption rights, or bankruptey proceedings which restrain the collection of a taxpayer’s debt.

Federal bankrupicy law provides that an automatic stay of sctions by ereditors and other entities, including governmental units,
goes into effect with the filing of any petition in bankruptey. The ic stay p governmental units from foreclosing on
property and prevents liens for post-petition taxes from hing to property and ebtaining secured creditor status unless, in either
case, an order lifting the stay is obtained from the bankruptey court, In many cases, posi-petition taxes are paid as an administrative
expense of the estate in bankruptey or by order of the bankruptey court,

PuBLIC HEARING AND MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS TaX RATE LIMITATIONS . ., The following terms as used in this seetion
have the meanings provided below:

“adjusted” means lost values are not included in the caleulation of the prior year's taxes and new values are not included in the
current year's taxable values.

"de minimis rate” means the maintenance and operations tax rate that will produce the prior year's total maintenance and operations
tax levy (adjusted) from the current year's values (adjusted), plus the rate that produces an additional $500,000 in tax revenue when
applied to the current year’s taxable value, plus the debt service tax rate.

"no-new-revenue tax rate” means the bined mai and op tax rate and debt service tax rate that will produce the
priot year's total tax levy (adjusted) from the current year's total taxable values (adjusted).

"special taxing unit" means & city for which the mai and operations tax rate p
or less per §100 of taxable value,

posed for the current tax year is 2.5 cents

“ynused increment rate” means the cumulative difference t a city's voler-app 1 tax rate and its actual tax rate for each of

the tax years 2020 through 2022, which may be applied to a city’s tax rate in tax years 2021 through 2023 without impacting the
voler-approval tax rate.

"voter-approval tax rate” means the maintenance and operations fax rate that will produce the prior year’s total maintenance and
operations tax levy (adjusted) from the current year’s values (adjusted) multiplied by 1,035, plus the debt service tax rate, plus the
“unused increment rate”.

The City's tax rate consists of two components: (1) a rate for funding of mai and operati wpendi in the current
vear (the "maintenance and operations tax rate"), and (2) a rate for funding debt service in the current year (the "debt service tax
rate"}. Under State law, the assesser for the City must submit an appraisal roll showing the total appraised 1, and taxable

values of all property in the City to the City Council by August | or as soon as practicable thereafter.

A city must annually caleulate its voter-approval tax rate and no-new tax rate in d with forms prescribed by the
State Compiroller and provide notice of such rates to each owner of taxable property within the city and the county tax assessor-
collector for each county in which all or part of the city is located. A city must adopt a tax rate before the later of September 30 or
the 60th day after receipt of the certified appraisal roll, except that a tax rate that exceeds the voter-approval tax rate must be
adopted not later than the 71st day before the next occurring November uniform election date. 17 a city fails to timely adopt a tax
rate, the tax rate is statutorily set as the lower of the no-new-revenue tax rate for the current tax year or the tax rate adopted by the
city for the preceding tax year.

As deseribed below, the Property Tax Code provides that if a city adopts a tax rate that exceeds its voler-approval tax rate or, in
certain cases, its de minimis rate, an election must be held to determine whether or not to reduce the adopted tax rate to the voler-
approval tax rate.

A city may not adopt & tax rate that exceeds the lower of the voter-approval tax rate or the no-new-revenue tax rate until each
appraisal district in which such city participates has delivered notice to each taxpayer of the estimated total amount of property
taxes owed and the eity has held a public hearing on the proposed tax increase.

For cities with a population of 30,000 or more as of the most recent federal decennial census, if the adopled tax rate for any tax
year exceeds the voter-approval tax rate, that city must conduct an election on the next occurring November uniform election date
to determine whether or not to reduce the adopted tax rate to the voter-approval tax rate.,

For cities with a population less than 30,000 as of the most recent federal decennial census, if the adopted tax rate for any tax year
exceeds the greater of (i) the voler-approval tax rate or (i) the de minimis rate, the city must conduct an election on the next
occurring November uniform election date to determine whether or not to reduce the adopted tax rate o the voter-approval tax rate.
However, for any tax year during which a city has a population of less than 30,000 as of the most recent federal decennial census
and does not qualify as a special taxing unit, if a city’s adopted tax rate is equal to or less than the de minimis rate but greater than
both {a) the no-new-revenue tax rate, multiplied by 1.08, plus the debt service tax rate or (b) the city"s voler-approval tax rate, then
a valid petition signed by at least three percent of the registered voters in the city would require that an election be held to determine
whether or net to reduce the adopted tax rate to the voter-approval tax rate.
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Any city located at least partly within an area declared a disaster area by the Govemnor of the State or the President of the United
States during the current year may calculate its voter-approval tax rate using a 1.08 multiplier, instead of 1.035, until the earlier of
(i) the second tax year in which such city's total taxable appraised value exceeds the taxable appraised value on January 1 of the
year the disaster occurred, or (i) the third tax year after the tax year in which the disaster occurred.

State law provides cities and counties in the State the option of assessing a maximum one-half percent (1/2%) sales and use tax on
retail sales of taxable items for the purpose of reducing its ad valorem taxes, if approved by a majority of the voters in a local option
election. If the additional sales and use tax for ad valorem tax reduction is approved and levied, the no-new-revenue tax rate and
voter-approval tax rate must be reduced by the amount of the estimated sales tax to be 1 in the current tax year.

The calculations of the no-new-revenue tax rate and voter-approval tax rate do not limit or impact the City's ability to set
adebt service tax rate in each year sufficient to pay debt service on all of the City’s tax-supported debt obligations, including
the Bonds.

Reterence is made to the Property Tax Code for definitive requirements for the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes and the
calculation of the various defined tax rates.

DEBT TAX RATE LIMITATIONS . . . All taxable property within the City is subject to the assessment, levy and collection by the City
of a continuing, direct annual ad valorem tax sufficient to provide for the payment of principal of and interest on all ad valorem
tax-supported debt within the limits prescribed by law. Article X1, Section 5, of the Texas Cum(rlutlon is appllcable. to the City,

and limits its maximum ad valorem tax rate to $2.50 per $100 of Taxable A d Val v, the Altorney
General of the State of Texas will permit allocation of $1.50 of the $2.50 maximum tax rate for all debt service on ad valarem tax-
1 debt, as calculated at the time of i

PH

Crry APPLICATION OF TaX CobE . . . The City grants an exemption o the market value of the residence homestead of persans 65
years of age or older of $45,000; the disabled are also granted an exemption of $30,000, Disabled veterans or the surviving spouse
or children of a deceased veteran who died while on active duty in the armed forces are granted a maximum exemption of up

$12,000 dependent upon the amount of disability. Disabled (and fed 100% disability compensation and a
disability rating of 100% are entitled to have 100% of the appraised value of their resid b | pted from property
taxes,

The City has granted an additional exemption of 12.5% of the market value of resid b s the mini ion is

See Table 1 for a listing of the amounts of the exemptions described above,

The City has adopted the tax freeze for citizens who are disabled or are 65 years of age or older, which became a local option and
subject to local referendum on January |, 2004,

Ad valorem taxes are not levied by the City against the exempt value of resid I is for the of debt.

The City does not tax nonbusiness personal property.

Dallas County collects taxes for the City by contract.

The City does permit split payments, and discounts are not allowed,
The City does not tax Freeport Property.

The City does not collect the additional one-half cent sales tax for reduction of ad valorem taxes.

The City has adopted partial tax ab ideli The City granted partial tax abatements to three companies See "TAX
ABATEMENTS" below,

The City has created three TIRZS, but at this time only two are active.

TAX ABATEMENTS . . . The City policy is to granl tax abatement for the development of new facilities or the expansion of existing
facilities for which the life of the facility ds the life of the alx 1 For ]Jmpertles not in an enterprise zone, total investment
must exceed $5,000,000, total job creation must exceed 25 period may not exceed 10 years and
the abatement percentage may not exceed 75%. As of the 2021 certified roll [used for 2022 fiscal year) the City’s abatoment
agreements with three companies resulted in $38,060,542 in appraised values being exempt from taxation, totaling $255,005 in
taxes abated on the 2021 certified tax roll {used for the 2022 fiscal year),

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING ZONES . . . Three TIRZs have been created within the City, with two being currently active, TIRZ
No. J and TIRZ No. 3. TIRZ No. | was recemly expanded to include more land mass within the City. Both active TIRZs have

ined property tax i of ly $5,289,537 for Fiscal Year 2021, For the Fiscal Year 2022, the City anticipates
property tax revenue increments of $5,775,069. Bath active TIRZs are still being developed,

June 8, 2022 City # 00540

City of Grand Prairie
P.0O. Box 534045
Grand Prairie, TX 75053-4045

Afttention: Finance Director

Subject: 2023 City Contribution Rate

Your city’s 2023 monthly contribution rates are shown below. These rates were determined by the December 31,
2021 actuarial valuation,

Normal Cost 11.17 %
Prior Service 6.25
Full Retirement 17.42 %
Supplemental Death Benefit 0.31
Combined Contribution 17,73 %

Detailed information on your city’s TMRS plan is contained in the attached report. The Full Retirement Rate shown
above represents the Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution (ADEC) for 2023,

If your city provides Supplemental Death Benefit (SDB) coverage, changes have been made in the caleulation of
your SDB Rate for 2023, Please see the Supplemental Death Benefit Rate Increase section for more information,

If you have questions about your city’s contribution rate or would like to evaluate potential changes to your TMRS
plan, please contact me at 512-225-3760 or Ihardy@tmrs.com.

Sincerely,

&&gﬂ%

i
Leslee S. Hardy, ASA, EA, FCA, MAAA
Director of Actuarial Services

TEXAS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM
P.O. Box 149153 - Austin, Texas 78714-9153
B00-924-B677 - www.tmrs.com
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TaBLE | = VALUATION, EXEMETIONS AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBRT

Tax Year 2021 (FY 21-22) Market Valuation Established by Dallas Central Appraisal District, Tarrant

Appraisal District, and Elfis Appraisal District §  22,464,615,113
Less Exemptions/Reductions

Homestead 5 686,130,452

Over 65 & Disabled 406,452,782

Disabled Veterans 193,027,262

Agriculiurel Use Reductions 62,661, 160

Non-TaxableTotally Exempt 1,496,233,722

Tax Abatements 31,247,363

Freeport Property BB5,513,388

Pallution Control 5,839,136

Under 3500 583,212

Conumunity Housing Development 2,579,360

Foreign Trade Zom: £7,545,062

Capped Yalue Loss 4R1,037,728

Taotal Exemptions/Reductions 4,338 880,633
2021/2022 Taxable Assessed Valuation § 1B,125,734,480
Outstanding General Obligation Debt as of £/1/2022 3 377,904,000

The Bonds 77,515,000
Todal Outstanding General Obligation Debt as of 8/1/2022 5 455,419,000
Less Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt ®

Adrport $ 380,000

Public Improvement Districts 235,000

Critme Contral Prevention District 5,245,000

Total General Obligation Self-Supporting Debt 3,860,000

Net General Obligation Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes as of 8/1/2022 3 449,559,000
Interest and Sinking Fund balance as of 6/1/2022 5 10,212,872
Ratin Net General Obligation Tax Debl to Taxable Assessed Valintion 2.48%

2022 Estimated Population - 200,640
Per Capita Taxable Assessed Valuation - $90,340
Per Capila Net General Obligation Debt Payable from Ad Valorem Taxes - $2,241

(1) The City currently pays debt service on a portion of its outstanding general obligation debt from other available resources of
the City as set forth in "Table 9 — Computation of Resources for Payment of Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt". It is
the City's current policy to provide these payments from such resources; provided this policy is subjeet to change in the future,
In the event payment is not made from such resources, the City will be required to assess an ad valorem tax sufficient to make
such payments. See "Table 9 — Computation of Resources for Payment of Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt” for
additional information.




TABLE 2 - TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUATIONS BY CATEGORY

Tunable Appiraiicd Vahos For Fiscal Yer "
) 2021 1
Aot %% of Toml Ay S of Toled At o of Total
fend, Hesklontinl Single-Family $10.265,520.735 S 8 69,261,740 ALTSS 5 KT MZ4es ATET
Real, Resklearial Mubi-Frendy LA 165 B 1 KT 58272 R% 48,113,327 249%
ook Vicoat Paited LalsTracts 1T 00871 1.59% RITRTTI) 151% 205,604,409 1455
Rend, Acreage (Lo Oatyh 4,059,104 [ ERITTE 3% TAAITIM 037
Reeal, Fonn and Ranch |inprovenserss 11,302,432 (153 LT oot 7530 [0
el Commercial and Industrial STH TEL A4 M ST A 5,352, 100,009 26.31%
Ol Cisa Mineral eserves. LA Glits 20,7607 oLt 373, ¥
Real and Tomyivle Porsonal. Utiliies 222.4003,382 [T 120,563,451 1.08% 217.058,98% 107%
Tanghls Personl, Busies: ATEITN T 16.71% 4,009,055, 08% 1B04% SATMAT 1710%
Tasghte Personal, Coher 17472,657 08 17,940,540 .08% 2687910 a0
Spesial Investory T 10d, 057 (55N 60,548,002 0.33% 6371520 [
Centificd vabes in dispute - 000 - [ 41LE5LE 200t
Pion-Tasabie Property . 0.00% . 100 1118, 126,677 Sl
Tt Appraised Vale Hefore Exemptions 3 22404605,111 10900 L172A87.131 Mot 5 30335670806 100.00%
Less Exemptinns:
Homesiead 5 B, 130,452 ] (ISR T ¥ 459.021.839
Over 64 & Disabked 06,482, 71 IEEATLGI ITAI 6 APPENDIX D
Disabied Wetesans 190027262 171617663 138,427,385
AggizubimalOpen Spaces 2661, |60 57,991,006 34372699
M- Tasabhe 1:496,203.722 1534, 398,672 LAIG365.414
Tix Absteanets D ER 31,640,778 IRGI9A13 TMRS RATE CONTRIBUTION LETTER
Freegant Prmpery EE3, 513,338 L0I8.835.653 WAL 0
Poliion Cunrol SRE30 L0OE 44 LTI TT
Under $500 ELRTH 475,000 SS0035
Com HSE DEV 257,366 LT 12,308, 5
Fureln Track Zose A7.545,062 3647080 =
Capped Vabie Loss 431037, 728 486,080,610 58,452,126
“Tota Exemptions 5 JIARKERAE 8 4092196016 3 4,D00,550.508
Tasble Assessed Ve 3 13,125,734 480 i itmnl 11k §_ 16,335,125 108
— Tl Appaiied Value fow Fiscl Year Endod Sepremsber .7
2018 mig
Amaupt 5 af Toal Amay % of Totnl
Real, Residemial, Singhe-Family $ A1MEI60T0 AU 7200600806 4L51%
Real, Hesklemial, Muki-Family 148,719, 187 THI% L 198,400, 1 k6 5%
Toeal, Vacam Planied Loes Trers 202948671 158 254317.28 150%
Tl Acrarge (Land Only) EOL528. B4 [Ty 41,5677 LRI
Tieal, Faren anil Toanch Improvemens 5300157 (XY 5,527,985 o8t
Tieal, Cominercial and Indmtrial AAMTHT 1877% ENE ATER L 1875%
O, Gias Mibeed Reserves 18,460,928 0.10% 17,500,551 o
Teenland Tangibke Persanial, Uedities 197300403 14 12K LoG%
Tanghle Personal Busioss LI GEG 1741% ERUTEL LT A%
Tangks Personn, Ciber 1| 16667 008t 10,670,747 [
Special bvakny E5.3ELHIT [AEN 27040740 016%
Cemifled values i Skpose 0010, T 1.08% d31es1m92 267
‘Nan-Tmable Progesy 1.324,153,428 ZA6% 186, 506 86 7.00%
“Toial Appraised Vakue Befere Exesptiosn $ IESI2090.012 100.00% S 1695105044 100,00
ews Exomptions:
Huomestead 5 IRAILGTE £ I0LE66T
Dhver 65 & Dhiabiled ARTADLE HENT AN
Disahled Veterans 118731365 B9.178, 560
AgricoluraliCipen Spazes AT S S0E
Nom-Taable 13 85342 1LIRRS30.014
T Abstements 322619 JTI05TE
Fereport Property 100, 108, K14 977,034,125
Pallilion Ceniral 25033 2796417
Linder $300 AB0ES] EETE )
Com HSE DEV ui.Es0 11,300,000
Foreign Trade Zone 5671 R
Crpged Vb Loss 14, 2B IR 130,975.487
Tedal Exemiptiones $ 3750710 9,343,731
Taabs Assessed Valus 5 TE5015 50 3 13,521,607.208

(1) Valuations shown are certified tuxuble ssessed values reported by the three Appraissl Districts to the State Comptroller of Public Accounts.
Certified values are subject to change throughout the year s contested values are resolved and the Appraisal Districts updates records. Regarding
wvariances between the three districts require some estimutes or adjistiments (o these calegories® details,
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TABLE3 - VALUATION AND GENERAL OBLIGATION DEST HISTORY

Net G.O. Ratio of Net

Taxable Tax Debt G.0. Tax Deht Met
Fiscal Year Taxable Assessed Outstanding 1o Taxable G.0L Tax

Ended Estimated Assessed Valuation at End Assessed Debt
930 FgEnIalinn”} Valuation™ Per Capita of Year'™ Valuation Per Capita
2018 187,050 $ 13521607208 M s 72289 £ 211,985,000 1.57% § 1,133
2019 189,430 14,755,015,593 L) 77,892 307,720,000 2.00% 1,624
2020 191,720 16,325,123, 108 “ 85,151 285,465,000 1.75% 1,489
2021 195,200 16,980,301,113 0 86,989 370,245,000 2.18% 1.897
2022 200,640 18,125,734, 480 e 90,340 448,852,000 ® 248% 2,237

(1) Source: City Staff.

(2) As reported by the Dallas Central Appraisal District, Tarrant Appraisal District, and Ellis Appraisal District on the City's
annual State Property Tax Board Reports; subject to change during the ensuing year.

(3) Projected. Excludes revenue supported general obligation debt. See "Table 9 —Computation of Resources for Payment of Self-
Supporting General Obligation Debt ™.

{4} Incl taxable i 1 value of approxi Ly $281,406,819 that is not available for the City's gencral use,

(5) Includes taxable i | value of approxi ly $381,547,594 that is not available for the City's general use.

(6) Includes taxable incremental value of approximately $424,344,427 that is not available for the City's general use.

(7} Includes taxable incremental value of approximately $760,000,000 that is not available for the City's general use.

(8] Includes taxable incremental value of approximately $870,000,000 that is not available for the City's general use,

(9} Includes the Bonds.

TABLE4 - TAX RaTE, LEVY AND COLLECTION HisTORY

Fiscal Year
Ended Tax General Tnterest and % Current % Total
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 9/30 Tax Rate Fund Sinking Fund Tax Levy Collections Collections
2018 § (L6G9998 5 0.4711% $ 0198802 3 B8 709,078 98.T7% 9.65%
2009 0.G69998 0463690 0. 206302 08,194,523 98.71% 99.12%
2020 0.66999% 0.457128 0.212870 106,940,678 98.81% G8.81%
2021 0.669998 0460638 0,209360 113,882,697 98, 96% 98.96%
2022 0.664998 0.452091 0212907 120,535,772 og21e M ugson M

(1) Collections as of June 1, 2022,

TABLE §- TEN LARGEST TAXPAYERS )

Tax Year 2021 % of Total
Taxable Assessed Toxuble Assessed

Name of Taxpayer Nature of Property Walumtion Valsation
Bell Textron Inc. Defense Indusiry 3 118,302,432 0.65%
Poly America LP Manufacturing 113,145,281 0.62%
Duke Sccured Financing 2009 Real Estale 101,884,230 f.56%
Lockhes] Martin Misshes & Fire Control Systems Defense [ndustry 04,550,580 0.52%
Republic Beverage Manufacluring 89,353,908 049
Chor Electric Delvery Uhility 74,440,610 0.41%
CH AZ Wikdlif2 4 6 1.F Real Estate 73,508,230 0.41%
Graiwd Prairie Qutlets LLC Ouwtlet Mall 72,494,098 0,441
Triumph Group Acrostroctures Ine. Manufisciuring 76,538,943 0.43%
Blue Atlntic Riverside LP Renl Estate 67,275,000 0.37%
b3 548,561,368 3.03%

(1) Source: Dallas Central Appraisal District,



GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT LIMiTATION |, ., No general obligation debt limitation is imposed on the City under current State
law or the City's Home Rule Charter (see "THE BONDS — Tax Rate Limitation"),

TABLE 6 - ESTIMATED OVERLAPPING DERT

Expenditures of the various taxing entities within the territory of the City are paid out of ad valorem taxes levied by such entities
on properties within the City. Such entities are independent of the City and may incur borrowings to finance their expenditures.
This statement of direct and estimated overlapping ad valorem tax debt (*1'ax Debt") was developed from information contained
in "Texas Municipal Reports” published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas. Except for the amounts relating to the City,
the City has not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of such information, and no person should rely upon such
information as being ar compl Furtt certain of the entities listed may have issued Tax Debt since the date
hereof, and such entities may have progr Juiring the i of sul ial of Tax Debt, the amount of which cannot
be determined. The following table reflects the estimated share of overlapping Tax Debt of the City.

202172022
Tinabie G.o Estimatid
Assessed 202072022 et 8 of " Overlapping
Taxing Body Valuativn Tax Rate &1/2022 Ohverl nf G0, Deht

Arlingon lidependant Schoal District $ 3416003900 § [I60B % 1,185949,958 1792% 5 21252223
Cedar Hill Independent Schan] District 4,487 355,360 12384 100,672,169 5.40% 436,297
Dialias County 201,250,432,162 022719 1 16,665,000 501% 151617
Dallag County Community College District 271,168,476,338 01235 1 E8,575,000 1.01% 3,569, 108
Dultas County Flood Conrol District #1 630,280,378 09860 19,230,000 0.77% 148,071
Parkland Huspital District 2607934, 340 02550 575,530,000 3.04% 17.496,112
Dallas County Schaols 261.927,801.917 0100 2,221,264 1.04% 67,526
Ellis County 21,500,257,151 03393 28,755,000 0,08% 23,004
Grand Prairie Independent Schaol District 795,317,496 13763 403,860,000 BR.B6% 35H.HET.T6R
Irving Independent School District 16,326,839 855 12077 314,700 0.71% 14
Mansfield Independem School District 18,070,229, 806 14183 £24,004,839 12.77% 105,233,080
Midlcthisn Independent School Distric 6,250,644,453 13520 412,745,000 0.23% e 314
Tarrant Coundy 217,644, 837,270 0.2290 213,675,000 3.26% BT BSS
Tamant County College District 219,777,576, 724 01302 255,995,000 3.86% 9.8%1,407
Tarrant County Hospital District 218,063,285,944 2244 13,835,000 1E6% 495045

5 A.m.w?,ns 5 710:470’669
City of Grand Prairie S IRJ25734480  § 06850 5 4ss4i900 100.00%  § 435419000 "
Total Direet and Overlapping Debl . .- ..o o, A S R S T 31181889660
Total Direct and Overtapping Debt to City's Tuxable Assessed VARIE . 00000 ue it i e c oo ca et cie e e en s e ey 6.52%

(1) Includes self-supporting general obligation debt. Includes the Bonds,
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A
NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP

2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 3600

Dallas, Texas 75201-7932
August 31, 2022 United States

Tel +1 214 855 BOOO
Fax +1 214 B55 8200
nortonrosefulbright.com

IN REGARD to the authorization and issuance of the "City of Grand Prairie, Texas, General Obligation
Pension Bonds, Taxable Series 2022," dated August 1, 2022, in the principal amount of $77,515,000
{the “Bonds"), we have examined into their issuance by the City of Grand Prairie, Texas (the "City"),
solely to express legal opinions as to the validity of the Bonds and for no other purpose. We have not
been requested to investigate or verify, and we neither expressly nor by implication render herein any
opinion concerning, the financial condition or capabilities of the City, the disclosure of any financial or
statistical information or data pertaining to the City and used in the sale of the Bonds, or the sufficiency
of the security for or the value or marketability of the Bonds.

THE BONDS are issued in fully registered form only and in denominations of $5,000 or any integral
multiple thereof (within a maturity). The Bonds mature on February 15 in each of the years specified
in the pricing certificate (the “Pricing Certificate”) executed pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the
City Council of the City authorizing the issuance of the Bonds (the "Bond Ordinance” and, jointly with
the Pricing Certificate, "Ordinance”), unless redeemed prior to maturity in accordance with the terms
stated on the Bonds. The Bonds accrue interest from the date, at the rates, and in the manner and
interest is payable on the dates, all as provided in the Ordinance.

IN RENDERING THE OPINIONS herein we have examined and rely upon (i) original or certified copies
of the proceedings relating to the issuance of the Bonds, including the Ordinance and an examination
of the initial Bond executed and delivered by the City (which we found to be in due form and properly
executed); (i) certifications of officers of the City relating to certain facts within the knowledge and
control of the City and (jii) other decumentation and such matters of law as we deem relevant. In the
examination of the proceedings relating to the issuance of the Bonds, we have assumed the
authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original copies of all
documents submitted to us as certified copies, and the accuracy of the statements contained in such
documents and certifications.

BASED ON OUR EXAMINATIONS, IT IS OUR OPINION that, under the applicable laws of the State
of Texas in force and effect on the date hereof, the Bonds have been duly authorized by the City and,
when issued in compliance with the provisions of the Ordinance, are valid, legally binding and
enforceable obligations of the City payable from an ad valorem tax levied, within the limits prescribed
by law, upon all taxable property in the City, except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may
be affected by bankruptey, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws affecting
creditors’ rights or the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with the general principles of equity.

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinions are further
based on aur knowledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update or supplement
our opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our attention or to reflect
any changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective. Moreover, our opinions are
not a guarantee of result; rather, such opinions represent our legal judgment based upon our review
of existing law that we deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance upon the representations and
covenants referenced above.

Narton Rose Fulbright US LLF is a imited Eability parinership registered uncler the faws of Texas, 130888342.3/1001200989

Narton Rose Fulbright LS LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, Noron Rose Fulbright Australia, Nenen Rese Fulbright Canada LLP and Noron Rose
Fulbright South Africa Inc are separate legal entities and all of them are members of Noron Ross Fulbright Verein, a Swiss versin. Noron Rose Fulbeight
Werein helpe coordinste the acllviies of the members but does not itss!f provide legal services o clisnts. Details of each enlity, with cartain regulatary
information, are available at neonresefdbright.com



DEBT INFORMATION

TABLE 7 - GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Fiscal Less: Net

Year Self- General % of
Ending Outstanding Debt Service The Bonds Supporti Ohbligati Principal
9730 Principal Interest Total VS Principal Interest Total D/S Dbt Service Deebt Service Retired
2022 § 33,037,000 5 13,272,504 46,309,504 % - § - 3 - % 8084385 § 38224619

2023 25,478,000 11,236,758 36,714,758 3,230,000 2,752,151 5,982,151 282,335 42,414,584

2024 29,986,000 10,213,693 40,199,693 3,400,000 2,768,864 6,168,864 285,475 46,083,083

2025 23,897,000 9,203,772 33,100,772 3,710,000 2,653,344 6,363,344 82,000 32,382,116

2026 28,395,000 8,329,207 36,724,207 4,035,000 2,525,647 6,560,647 = 43,284,854 32.16%
2027 23,781,000 7,540,267 31,321,267 4,380,000 2,384,821 6,764,821 - 38,086,088

2028 21,919,000 6,811,788 28,730,788 4,135,000 2,240,308 6,375,308 - 35,106,096

2029 22,439,000 6,103,380 28,542,380 4,460,000 2,092,039 6,552,039 - 35,094,419

2030 21,614,000 5,418,612 27,032,612 4,805,000 1,929,192 6,734,192 - 33,766,804

2031 21,881,000 4,774,997 26,655,997 5,165,000 1,749,950 6,914,950 - 33,570,947 60.05%
2032 21,598,000 4,153,152 25,751,152 5,555,000 1,551,845 7,106,845 - 32,857.997

2033 22,204,000 3,547,972 25,751,972 5,970,000 1,330,734 7,300,734 = 33,052,706

2034 21,999,000 2,932,466 24,931,466 6,420,000 1,083,458 7,503,458 - 32,434,924

2035 17,546,000 2,364,936 19,910,936 6,900,000 809,334 7,709,334 - 27,620,269

2036 16,170,000 1,850,471 18,020,471 7,415,000 506,488 7,921,488 - 25,941,959 87.36%
2037 12,850,000 1,385,091 14,235,091 7,935,000 173,737 8,108.737 - 22,343,827

2038 11,675,000 993,285 12,668,285 = - # = 12,668,285

2039 12,050,000 619,986 12,669,986 - - - - 12,669,986

2040 7,355,000 335,687 7,690,687 - - - - 7,690,687

2041 7,545,000 144,123 7,689,123 = % = = 7,689,123 99.67%
2042 1,570,000 23,550 1,593,550 - - 1,593,550 100.00%

§ 404989000 & 101,255,698 5 506244698 § 77515000 § 26,551,910 § 104066910 S 8734685 § 601576924

e P T
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TABLE 8 - INTEREST AND SINKING Funp BUbGET PROJECTION (1

Tax Supported Debt Service Requirements, Fiscal Year Ending 9/30/2022

Interest and Sinking Fund 9/30/2021

Budgeted 2021 Interest and Sinking Fund Tax Levy @ 98% Collection
Prior year taxes and refunds

TIFF Contribution

Prior Years Penallies, Interest and Collections

Transfer in from TIF #1

Total Available

Estimated Balance, Fiscal Year Ending 9/30/2022

(1) Source: City Staff

§ 3,787,565
38,879,283
100,000
{1,780,290)
100,000

0

§ 38.224,619

41,086,358

e

§ 2,861,939

TABLE 9 - COMPUTATION OF RESOURCES FOR PAYMENT OF SELF-SUPPORTING GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBRT (!

Commumity Forum Estates.

Policirg DVslrict Airpart Fund TIF &l P §
Resources Available for Debt Service
Fiseal Year Ended 930202 3 &020.143 8 93630 § 1,782,956 § 602,780
Less: Revenue Boad Requirements, Fiscal Year Ended 9302022 - - - -
Balanee Avafable for payment of SeIf-Supporting General Obligation Debt 5 8020743 § G363 0§ 1782956 % 02,780
Gengral Obgutivn Bonds and Certificstes of (bligatian
Dbt Service Requirements, Fiscal Year Ended $3002022 6,042,677 198,375 1,758,633 85,200
Balance ] | 978,066 5 (104745 § M43 8 517,580
Perceniage of Systern General Oblipation Bonds and Centificates
of Obigation Scb-Supporting 100.00% 47.20% 100.00% 100,00

(1) The amount of self-supporting debt for FY 2022 payable from available resources of the City is set forth hevein. 1t is the City's
current policy 1o provide these payments from such resources; provided this policy is subject to change in the future, In the
event payment is not made from such resources, the City will be required to assess an ad valorem tax sufficient 1o make such

payments.

TaBLE 10 - AUrHORIZED BUT UNISSUED GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

Authorized
Purpose Date Authorized Amount
Solid Waste 12408490 b} 180,000
Streets/Signal 1 1/06/401 56,000,000
Storm Drainage 11/06/01 8,200,000
Economic Development 050121 75,000,000
Total $ 139 380,000

—mten e ——

67,000,000

Amuount
Previously
Issued

5 75,000

55,959,773
6,576,573

$ 129,611,346

Unissued
Balance
105,000

40,227
1,623 427

8,000,000
3 0,768.654

ANTICIPATED ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT...The City anticipates issuing approximately

$45,000,000 general obligation debt within the next eighteen months,

OTHER OBLIGATIONS . . . The City has no other property tax supported debt outstanding as of the date of this Official Statement

except a5 deseribed herein.

n

APPENDI

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL'S OPINION



City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

O. Tax Abatements and Economic Incentive Agreements

The City has incentive agreements with companies which may refund or rebate certaln amounts of taxes
based on performance indicators. These agreements are govemed by Chapter 312 of the Texas Local
Government Code. Recipients may be eligible based on their impact 1o the City's economy, as usually
measured by job creation. Agreements may also contain recapture or ‘clawback’ provisions in the event
of non-performance of the agreement standards. The City's Management Services division reviews the
performance of the companies under these agreements for their compliance with stated standards. As
of the 2020 certified roll (used for 2021 fiscal year) the City's abatement agreements with four companies
resulted in $38,060,542 in appraised values, fotaling $255,005 in taxes abated on the 2020 certified tax roll
(used for the 2021 fiscal year).

P. Subsequent Events

On February 9, 2022, the City Issued $26,000,000 in Cerlificates of Obligation, Series 2022, The proceeds of
the issuance are intended for use on street projects and some repairs and updates on existing police, fire,
and municipal facilities.

On February 16, 2022, the City issued $17,136,000 in General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2022A,
The proceeds refunded $7.700,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue Cerfificates of Obligation Series
2013A, $1.410,000 of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2013A, $5.065,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue
Cerlificates of Obligation Series 2013, and $2,340,000 of General Obligation Refunding and Improvement
Bond Series 2013. The refunding resulted in present value savings of $1,514,347.

On February 16, 2022, the City issued $8,215,000 in General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Seres 20228, The
proceeds refunded $7,790,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014
resulting in present value savings of $3%6,110.

Finally, on February 16, 2022, the City issued $19,023,000 in General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series
2022C. The proceeds refunded $15,195,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue Cerfificates of Obligation,
Series 2015, and $2,110,000 of General Obligation Refunding Bond Series 2015. The refunding resulted in
present value savings of $1,808,452.

On February 24, 2022 the City issued $61,550,000 in Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2022. The
proceeds refunded $55,345.000 of Sales Tax Revenue Bond Series 2015 resulting in present value savings
of $5,848,825.

The City has evaluated all other events or transactions that occurred after September 30, 2021 up through
March 29, 2022, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
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RETIREMENT PLAN . ., The City participates as one of 901 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined benefit
Pension Plan administered by the TMRS, All eligible employees of the City are members of the TMRS. Members can retire at ages
60 and above with 5 or more years of service or with 20 years of service regardless of age. The Plan also provides death and disability
henefits, A member is vested after 5 years, but he must leave his accumulated contributions in the Plan. If a member withdraws his
own money, he is not entitled to the employer-financed monetary credits, even if he was vested. The Plan provisions are adopted by
the governing body of the City, within the options available in the State statutes governing TMRS and within the actual constraints
alse in the statutes.

Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age
Normal (EAN) cost method This rate consists of the normal eost contribution rate and the prior service cost contribution rate, which
s calculated to be a level percent of payroll from year to year. The normal cost contribution rate for an employee is the contribution
rate which, if applied to a member's compensation throughout their period of anticipated covered service with the municipality,
would be sufficient to meet all benefits payable on their behalf. The salary-weighted age of the individual rates is the total normal
cost rate. The prior service contribution rate amortizes the unfunded (overfunded ial liability (asset) over the applicable period
for that city. Both the normal cost and prior service contribution rates include recognition of the projected impact of annually
repeating benefits, such as updated service credits and annuity increases.

The City contributes to the TMRS Plan at an actuarially determined rate: Both the employees and the City make contributions monthly.
Since the City needs to know its contribution rate in ad for budgetary pury there is a one-year delay between the actuarial
valuation that serves as the basis for the rate and the calendar year when the rate goes into effect.

Unfunded Unfunded Pension

Met Assels Pension Pension Annual Benefit Obligation

Fiscal Available Benefit Percentage Benefit Covered as a Percentape of
2007 § 444611622 525,359,395 §4.63% § 80,747,733 § 87,729,762 91.01%
2018 504,848,965 555,774,884 90.84% 50,925,919 92,501,160 57.00%
2019 486,228,223 587,304,540 B2.78% 101,166,317 93,746,412 108.00%
2020 556,100,038 619,684,063 89.74% 63,584,025 98,611,365 64,48%
2021 592,761,104 647,637,265 91.53% 54,876,161 100,628 856 54.53%

Far further details regarding the most recent City-audited financial information for the City's retirement plan, please refer to Note
1 of the City’s 2021 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, incorporated by reference herein, which can be found at
hitps:iemma.msrh.ore/MarketActivity/ContinuingDisclosureDetails/?id=P11205312, See Appendix B - “Excerpts from the
City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial § ",

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

In addition to providing pension benefits through the Texas Municipal Retirement System, the City has opted to provide eligible
retired employees with the following post-employment benefits:

Eligible rétirees may purchase health insurance from the City’s healtheare provider at the City’s cost to cover current employees
and their depend il such depend were covered ively during the past two years prior to the retirement date, The
cost of insurance varies based on date vetired, plan selected, and years of Grand Prairie service. The cost of coverage is shared
between the City and the retiree in varying increments based on the above factors.

The City recognizes its share of the costs of providing these benefits when paid, on a "pay-as-you-go" basis. These payments are
budgeted annually. The appropriation for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2020 was $2,152,381.32. The budgeted amount
for such benefits in the fiscal year ending September 30, 2021 is $2,241,666.

In fiscal 2017/2018, the City impl d GASB § No. 75 "4 ing and Fi ial Reparting for Post-employment
Benefits Other Than Pensians.” The City has performed an actuarial valuation of its post-retirement benefit liability. 1t has engaged
an independent actuarial firm to prepare a valuation. The City reviewed the study and plans to comply with legal requirements to

perform additional studies in the future at the required intervals. The actuarial liability is estimated at $65,656,336 at September
30, 2021.

For more information concerning the City's post-employment benefits, see the financial statements of the City, and the notes
thereto.

For further details regarding the City's-OPEB benefits, please refer to Mote K of the City's 2021 Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report, incorporated by reference herein, which can be found at
htps:/femma.msrb.org/M i “ptinuingDisclosureDetails/7id=P11205312. See Appendix B — "Excerpls from the
City’s Annual C b3 L




City Of Grand Prairie, Texas

TARLE 11 - CHANGE IN NET ASSETS Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2021
Fiscal Year Ending, September 30,
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 N. Segment Information for Enterprise Funds
Revenues
Fees, Fines and Charges for Services § SOBREIN B 43269730 5 SLIRO0S7 5 47831046 5 50,349,054 The City maintains five enterprise funds — water and wastewater, solid waste, golf, airport, and storm water
Operating Grants snd Contribulions 45,398,240 63,784,399 39,865,579 36,511,876 35,572,042 utility activities. At September 30, 2021, the Municipal Airport Fund had outstanding revenue-backed
Capital Girants snd Contributions 6,974,967 417,050 8,575,572 3,971,782 £.305,146 certificates of obligations. Segment information for this Fund is as follows:
General Revenies: Municipal
Property Tases S 113,824,809 § 116,020,990 5 106,378,593 §  4.648,600 § BS54 Alrport
Sales Taxes 80,187,852 70,808,342 69,672,182 64,250,717 60,585,824 Condensed statement of net position:
Other Taxes and Assessments 2,366,924 1,794,491 2231019 2,208,298 1015917 Current assefs 3 878750
Franchise Fees 14,022,362 13,903,506 14,796,138 14,485,521 9,996,034 Capital assefs 15,549,467
Investment Income 333,285 7,952,664 9,776,386 3,506,758 2425418 Defered oulflows of resources &0, 484
(ther - - . - o
Total Revenues § 39067 0§ ITITLSI F 024BS0%6  § 267414818 5 2177000 Total assets and defered outflows of rescurces 16,488,701
Current liabilities 451,142
Exponses. S s & % - Long-term liabilities 796,531

Suppont Services $OILESDSUT 8 331074 30,669,762 614430 5 26,731,588 Delemscinlows ot resoLrcss 71,075

Public Safety 105,285,879 113,728,877 109,767,831 101,033,502 100,253,923 _—

Reereation and Leisure 35,162,022 32,949,455 35,232,643 33,942,742 32,962,890 Total liabiities and deferred inflows of resources 1.317,748

Development and Other Services 109,073,042 110,126,929 102,740,890 07,241,362 ), 088,069 i o 4 i ; " 1

Interest on Long-Termn Debt 14,004,156 12,689,169 14,987,576 12,481,762 12,108,209 Nel oSG Nail '"I"_ej ment In capitol assels 4.994.467

§ 5405692 S JOEDSITI 5 299398722 8 296 S Z6LIMLTED et pasition: Lnrestricied —_ AR
Total net position 3 14,998,641
Increase | et position before transfers 518,531,378 § 17066360 § 0,086,304 § (4,898.980) $ (7,967,759) —

Transfers, net 1,689,338 4,830,999 7,253,810 6,2T2.41% 5271605 Condensed statement of ravenues, expenses and changes in net posifion;

Increas: {decrease) in Net Posiion § 4713 F 20897350 5 RO § 13T 8 (2696114) Sales to customers ¥ 1.309.133

Prioe period adjustments " = & N (49,038,142) b Intergovemmental revenue 85,197

Met positian - beginning 396,080,203 IT40RL 846 357,742,732 405407435 408,103,549 Miscellansous 734,368

o 4 205 374 1 § 405407435 .

Net position - ending $_ 416500918 _§ 396,080, § 374081846 § 3874273 AT Bl G v aS 51k
R Depreciation 932,730
{1) Transfers. Other operating expensas 2,017,359

Total operating expenses 2,250,089
Interest expense {30.810)
Total nenaperafing revenues (expenses) 130,810}
Loss before fransfers (872,201}
Transfars out (48,000
Change in net position 920,
{THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY.) i s ()
MNet position at the beginning of the year 15,900,907
Net posifion af the end of the year 3 14,980,706

Condensed statement of cash flows:
Met cash provided [used] by:

Operating acfivities 33,890
Moncapital financing aclivities [48,000)
Capital and related financing activities [157.517)
Irv esting activities E
Beginning cash and cash equivalent balances 347,271
Ending cash and cash equivalent balances $ 175,444
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Mounfain Creek ional Wastewater System Confract [System

The City entered into a contract in 2002 which is in effect for the entire useful life of the System. Although
the City does not yet deliver flows fo this System, the City is obligated to pay annual minimum fees
equivalent to 21.9 million gallons of flow. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, the City paid
$56,082 to the System.

Master and Other Agreements

The City and Texas NexiStage, LP [NexiStage] entered into agreements |development agreements, lease
agreements and other ancillary agreements) on January 10, 2001, to design, develop and consfruct a
performance hall [Performance Hall). Construction of the Performance Hall began in July 2000 and was
completed in February 2001, Under the agreements, the City purchased the Performance Hall from
NexiStage for $15 million with the proceeds from the $17.9 million TIF tax and tax increment certificate of
obligation bond issue in fiscal year 2001. NextStage inifially leased the Performance Hall from the City
under a twenty one-year lease. Effective September 18, 2002, Anschutz Texas, L. P. assumed the lease
obligations of NexiStage and became lessee and operator of the Performance Hall. The lease between
the City and Anschutz Texas, L. P. expires January 23, 2023, Monthly lease payments from the lessee of the
Performance Hall are used fo pay debt service on bonds issued by the Cily for the purchase of the
Performance Hall.

Stadium Lease - On December 1, 2020, the City entered info a fifteen-year lease agreement with MLC
Dallas Stadium Co., LLC (the Tenant] for their use of the City-owned basebadll stadium. The Tenant has
unlimited use of the Stadium to hold sporting and enfertainment events. Nextel pays the City, in advance,
a monthly lease payment of $20,000 which includes $10,000 in construction rent applicable to only the
first eighty months of the agreement. In addition to rent, the tenant pays 5% of their gross revenues from
the immediately preceding six-menth period on January and July 15" of each year. The Tenant is
responsible for all utility services, maintenance of the building, landscaping, imgation, arf, and
playgrounds, and for maintaining a maintenance and repalr reserve fund. The City is obligated to deposit
$200,000 to this reserve fund fo benefit the Stadium every five years.

Construction Commitrments
The Cily has several approved outstanding major capital projects as of September 30, 2021. The City's
total committed but unexpended expenditures for such authorized capital projects at year-end

approximates $121,406,523. Funding for these contracts will be received through various capital projects
funds and enterprise funds.
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TABLE 12 - GENERAL FUND REVENUES AND EXPENIITURE HISTORY

TRevenues:

Property Taxes
Sales Taxes
Franchise Fees
Chiarges for Services
Fines and Forfeilures
Licenses and Permils
Interest

Cither

Tatal Revenues

Expenditures:
Administrative Services
Public Safety Services
Developmen Service and Other
Recreation and Leisure Services
Capital Culays

Total Expenditures

Excess { Deficiency ) of Revenues
Over Expenditures

Transfer in (Out) Net

TPraceeds for sake of capital assels

Beginning Fund Batance

Prior period adjustments

Ending Furd Balance

Fiscal Year Ended Seprember 30,

2021 2020 019 2018 2017

§ 74535565 0§ 6OBSAIRA % 66107431 5 61122847 3 3627SSN
39,760,993 34,938,179 34,381,013 31,532,937 20,004,519
14,022,362 13,903,806 14,796,138 14,485,521 13,805,938
6,069,457 4978448 5,964,359 5847113 5,676,907
5,715,005 5,758,141 7,380,465 7,337,547 7,633,756
4,022,506 2,061,599 3,242,194 3,000,527 3,080,890
324,216 7,833,606 9,490,011 3,213,375 2,065,665
9,464,797 19203708 "' 9,345,745 §,172,846 8.377,136

§ IS0 5 19544066 5 150707356 5§ 1391273 5 16THAR
s 2s44Tdsl 5 :IER02 O :OT6923  F 22313632 S 20899884
9,773 3,318,340 §7,527,565 84,283,161 78,678,246
12,595,116 13,263,283 13,461,438 12,947,245 12,686,050
2,860,342 2,802,857 2,844,027 2,760,622 2,591,734
622879 1,261 630 819,915 1,086,949 1,305,324

$ 133252421 & 12842931 5 127629868 3 123411609 S 116,161,238
§ 206R0E0  § 3LI49I  § 23077488 S 1LS0LI4 S 10,550,084
(33,150,756) (16,762,667) (12,704, 188) (10,106,151 {11,110,985)
1,826,620 1,115,891 1,067,920 1,003,363 886,711
60,648,430 45,186,271 33,745,051 31,146,705 31,011,895

2 (6.000.00) - - .
5 S00ITA B 60648430 § 4SI862T S BSOS § 3LM6T0S

{1} Increase due to funding received from The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 ("ARPA").

{THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LUFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY.)



TABLE 13 - MUNICIPAL SALES TAX HisTORY

The City has adopted the Municipal Sales and Use Tax Act, Tax Code, Chapter 321, which grants the City the power to impose and
levy a 1% Local Sales and Use Tax within the City; the proceeds are credited to the General Fund and are fiot pledged to the payment
of the Bonds, Collections and enfi are admini d through the offices of the Comptroller of Public Accounts, State of
Texas, who remits the proceeds of the tax to the City monthly, after deduction of a 2% service fee,

Equivalesd of
Total Ad
Fiscal Year Community Vakrem Tax
Ended 930 Ciry Parks & Rec. Streets Palicing EPIC Total Rate "'
018 § 31532937 5 A207%0  F R207902 5 BOMOT 5 BNTMD  § 64,250,717 $0.2332
2019 29,206,350 7,301,588 7,301,858 7,264,961 7,301,588 58,376,344 0.1979
020 35,400,956 8,850,239 8,850,239 8,824,550 8,850,239 0,776,223 0.2168
2021 36,857,085 9,714,271 9,714,271 9,644,907 8,714,271 77,648,895 0.2288
w21 34,157,651 8,539,413 8,539,413 B,464 402 8530413 66,240,291 0.1884

(1) City General Fund only,
(2) Collections through June, 2022 on a cash basis.

SALES TAx FLECTIONS

The volers approved a one-fourth cent (1/4 cent) local sales and use tax rate ("Parks & Rec Sales Tax") at an election held on November
2, 1999 under Section 334.021 of Chapter 334, Local G Code. The additional sales tax receipts are used exclusively for
costs iated with the municipal parks and ion system as defined in Section 334.001(4)(D). The City began collecting the
tax in April 2000. The Parks & Rec Sales Tax is not pledged to nor available for payment on the Bonds,

The voters approved a one-fourth cent (1/4 cent} local sales and use tax rate (the "Street Repair Sales Tax"} at an election held on
November 6, 2001 under Chapter 327 Subtitle C, Title 3, Tax Code. These sales tax receipts are used exclusively for street repair and
maintenance, The Street Repair Sales Tax was reauthorized in May 2009 and again in May 2017 for 8 years, The Street Repair Sales
Tax is not pledged to or available for payment of the Bonds,

On May 12, 2007 voters approved a half cent sales tax to be utilized ina 1/4 cent and two 1/8 cent increments for the following projects:

-A one-fourth cent (1/4 cent) local sales and use tax under Section 363,054, Local Government Code for the Crime Control
and Prevention District (the "Community Policing Distriet") to fund a new Police Center. {"Crime Control Sales Tax")

-A one-ighth cent (1/8 cent} local sales and use tax for a new Senior Center, ("Senior Center Tax")

-A one-cighth cent (1/8 cent) local sales and use tax for a minor league basehall stadium. (*Baseball Stadium Tax™)

The additional sales tax receipts were ta be exclusively for costs associated with each of the projects. The City began collecting the
tax on October 1, 2007, Such sales tax is not pledged to or available for payment of the Bonds.

At an election held on May 10, 2014, voters abolished the Senior Center Tax and the Baseball Stadium Tax, effective September 30,
2015, and adopled a new additional 1/4% city sales and use tax for the City’s EPIC project (the *Central Park Sales Tax") as permitted
under the provisions of Chapter 334, Local Government Code, effective October 1, 2015, The Central Park Sales Tax receipts are
used to pay the costs associated with the City’s EPIC project. The City began colleeting the tax on October 1, 2015, Such sales tax is
not pledged to or available for payment of the Bonds.

Atan election on November 3, 2020, the 1/4% sales tax for the Community Policing District was reauthorized for a period of ten years.
Such sales tax is not pledged to or available for payment of the Bonds.

DEVELOPMENT FEES

The City's impact fees are used for water impr and imprc and are not pledged 1o the payment of the debt
service requirements of the Bonds. Impact fees for roadway improvements were eliminated in 2001, Each of the two types of fees are
developed sepatately based upon excess capacity of existing infrastructure and projected ion of capital impr its over
the next 10 years, Revenues generated by impact fees can only be used to finance the improvements identified in an adopted capital
improvements plan. The City must update land use assumptions and capital improvements plans every five years.
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes 1o the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

M. Contracts, Commitments, and Contingent Liabilities

Fe and State Gra

The City participates in o number of state and federally assisted grant programs. These programs are
subject to program complionce audits by the grantors or their representatives. Any liability for
reimbursement which may arise as the result of these audits is not believed to be material.

Litigation

The City and Sports Corporation are contingently liable in respect of lawsuits and claims in the ordinary
course of operations which, in the opinicn of management, will not have material adverse effect on the
combined financial statements,

Water intake Facility Contract

The City entered info a contract with the Trinity River Authority (TRA) whereby TRA agreed to sell revenue
bonds, and, fo consfruct and operate water freatment, transmission and storage facllities necessary to
supply treated water fo several area cifies. The City has also agreed contractually to pay TRA annually
an amount sufficient fo pay it's pro rata share of the operation and maintenance expenses of the facilities
and related debf service of its bonds. The project is not treated as a joint venture by the City since the
project is managed and unilaterally confrolled by TRA, the City has no equity interest in the project, and
the City is not obligated for the repayment of TRA bonds.

Water Pur e Confract:

The City has a 30-year contract with the City of Dallas, which expires in 2042, for the purchase of water,
Grand Prairie currently takes up to 37.8 milion gallons a day (MGD), and pays a fixed dermand charge
plus a volume charge. The demand charge is based on curent maximum demand or the highest
demand established during the five preceding years, whichever is greater. Thus, even if the City were to
stop purchasing water from Dallas, its obligation to pay the demand charge [$271,422) would extend for
five years. The maximum may be increased in future years as needed, Grand Prairie has two intake points
for City of Dallas water with o confractual right obligating the City of Dallas to meet Grand Prairie's needs.
Existing pipelines will provide up to 55 MGD.

A contract with the City of Fort Worth, effective until the year 2031, permits the City to purchase up to
2.5 MGD.

A contract with the City of Midlothian, executed in 2014 fora 30-year term, permits the City to purchase
up to an average of 4.5 MGD during the term of the contract. Beginning in January 2016, the City began
purchasing water from the City of Midlothian at an average rate of 0.478 MGD.

A contract with the City of Arlington, executed in 2011 for a 20-vear term, allows the City to purchase up
to 2.5 MGD maximum flow unless otherwise agreed to in writing. As of September 30, 2021, no water has
been purchased through this contract.

Wastewater Treatment Confracts

The City has a 50 year contract with TRA, which will expire in 2023, for wastewater freatment. The City is
billed for its prorated share of fotal wastewater costs, which was 14.49% during fiscal year 2021, The City
must pay its prorated share of the debt service related fo wastewater treatment facilities until the debt
matures whether it contributes ta flow ar not.
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L. Fund Balance

At Septermnber 30, 2021, fund balances were classified as follows:
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Inipact Fee Revenues

FYE Water Wastewiler

2017 51403218 S 404,663
2018 110,802 B27A434
019 1,075,784 427,744
2020 1,303,498 334,074
2021 3,126,913 1,774,200

The City created a storm water utility under the Texas Municipal Drainage Utility Systems Act. Such Act provides for the creation of
a storm water utility to provide storm water services including planning, operati i and capital impro for storm
water runoff. Such Act also provides for collection of user fees based on storm water runoff volumes.

COMPENSATED ABSENCES

The City's acerued unfunded comg 1 al liability is approximately $21,710,781 as of September 30, 2021,

Risk MANAGEMENT

Property, liability, safety, workers” compensation and health and well i are d for in the Risk Management

Fund, an internal service fund. Net expenses of these programs in property was 34,883,052 and $1,929,066 for employee health
and wellness insurance.

Beginning October 1, 1991, the City placed all of its property, liability and workers' compensation coverage with Texas Municipal
League Intergovernmental Risk Pool. The limits of liability and retention vary according to type of coverage provided.

The aperating funds are charged premiums for property, liability, workers' compensation and employee health coverage by the
Risk Manag: Fund. Employees pay for dependent health ge independently, The i d but unreported claims for
these programs as of September 30, 2021 were 36,812,118,

The City allows retired employees to continue participating in its group health insurance | after reti with all p
paid by the retirees,

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The City Council and staff make financial decisions throughout the year based upon financial guidelines. The Financial Management
Policies ("FMP") provides a framework, or master plan, within which to make operating and capital budget decisions, as well as other
financial decisions. The primary objective of the FMP is to enable the City to achieve a long-term stable and positive financial
condition,

The policies which are updated annually to address the following subjects: accounting, auditing and financial reporting, internal
controls, operating budget, capital budget and TeVenue B expenditure control, asset management, financial
condition and reserves, debt management, and staffing and training. Significant issues addressed by the policies include the following:

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING . . . The City policy is to adhere to the ing principles established by the G 1 A
Standards Board, as amended.

GENERAL FUND BALANCE ., . The City's goal is to maintain at least 50 days of expenditures of the General Fund expenditures budget
in the General Fund resources balance,

DEBT SERVICE FUND BALANCE . . . The City policy is to maintain balances of no greater than one month of principal and interest
requirements except that the City's revenue bond policy and bond ordi Jui are to maintain revenue supported debt serviee

reserves at the level of the average annual debt service plus an amount accrued for the debt service payment.

USE 0F BOND PROCEEDS, GRANTS, ETC . . . The City policy is to use bond proceeds only for major assets with expected lives which
equal or exceed the average life of the debt issue.

BUBGETARY PROCEDURES . .. The City policy is ta pay for current expenditures with certain revenues and to utilize reserves only for
emergencies, The annual operating budget shall provide for operation and maintenance of capital plant.

FUND INVESTMENTS . .. The City policy is to invest its cash with three objectives in mind listed in order of priority: safety, liquidity
and yield: Unrestricted idle cash is pooled for short-term investment in government securities, money market mutual funds and local
government investment pools. The mix and term of investments is determined based on the City's liquidity needs and the yield curve.



INVESTMENTS

The City invests its i ble funds in in horized by State law in i with | paolicies approved by the
City Couneil ("Investment Policies"). Both State law and the City’s investment policies ave subject to change.

LEGAL INVESTMENTS . . . Under State Jaw and subject to certain limitations, the City is authorized to invest in (1) obligations of

the United States or its ies and instr lities; (2} direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies and
i lities; {3) coll lized gage obligations issued and secured by a federal agency or instrumentality of the United
States; (4) other obligati ditionall 1 or insured by the State of Texas or the United States or their respective

agencies and instrumentalities; (5) "A" or better rated obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions
of any state; (&) bonds issued, assumed, or guaranteed by the State of Israel; (7) federally insured interest-bearing bank deposits,
brokered pools of such deposits, and collateralized certificates of deposit and share certificates; (8) fully collateralized U.S.
government securities repurcl 21 i (9 year or shorter secwities lending agreements secured by obligations
described in clauses (1) through (7) above or (11) through (14) below or an irrevocable letter of credit issued by an "A" or better
rated state or national bank; (10) 270-day or shorter bankers® acceptances, if the short-term obligations of the accepting bank or its
holding company are rated ar least "A-1" or "P-1"; (11) commercial paper rated at least "A-1" or "P-1"; (12) SEC-registered no-
load money market mutual funds that are subject to SEC Rule 2a-7; (13) SEC-registered no-load mutual funds that have an average
weighted maturity of less than two years; (14) "AAA" or "AAAmM"-rated investment pools that invest solely in investments
described above; and {15) in the case of bond proceeds, d i that are secured by obligations described
in clauses (1) through (7) above and, except for debt service funds and reserves, have a term of 5 years or less.

The City may not, however, invest in (1) interest only obligations, or non-interest bearing principal obligations, stripped from
mortgage-backed scourities; (2) col lized mortgage obligations that have a ining term that exceeds 10 vears; and (3)

1l lized morigage obli that bear interest at an index rate that adjusts opposite to the changes in a market index, In
addition, the City may not invest more than |5 percent of its monthly average fund balance (excluding bond proceeds and debt
service funds and reserves) in mutual funds deseribed in clause (13) above or make an investment in any mutual fund that exceeds
10% of the fund’s total assets,

Except as stated above or i i with its in policy, the City may invest in obligations of any duration without regard

to their credit rating, if any. 1f an obligation ceases to qualify as an eligible investment after it has been purchased, the City is not

quired to liquidate the in unless it no longer carries a required rating, in which case the City is required to take prudent
to liquidate the i that are i with its investment policy.

InveEsTMENT POLICIES . ... Under State law, the City is required to adopt and annually review written investment policies and must
invest its funds in accordance with its policies. The policies must identify eligible investments and address investment
diversification, yield, maturity, and the quality and capability of in { For in whose eligibility is
rating dependent, the policies must adopt procedures to monitor ratings and liquidate investments if and when required, The
policies must require that all investment transactions settle on a delivery versus payment basis. The City must adopt a written
investment strategy for each fund group to achieve investment objectives in the following order of priority: (1) suitability, (2)
preservation and safety of principal, (3) liquidity, (4) marketability, (5) diversification, and (6) vield.

State law requires the City’s in be made “with judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a person of
prudence, discretion, and intellig would ise in the I of the person’s own affairs, not for speculation, but for
investment considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived.” The City is required to perform an
annual audit of the management controls on investments and compliance with its investment policies and provide regular training
for its investment officers,

THE CITy's INVESTMENT POLICIES

The City Manager designates the Chief Financial Officer as the City’s chief investment officer, The Assistant Finance Director, Second
Assistant Finance Director, and Treasury Analyst are designated as additional investment officers, The Chief Financial Officer |s

responsible for the City's prehensive cash program, including the inistration of the In Policies. The
Chiefl Financial Officer is responsible for considering the quality and capability of staff involved in i and
procedures. The Chief Financial Officer shall be responsible for authorizing i and the Treasury and Debt Manager shall
account for investments and pledged coll | in order to mainiain appropriate internal controls. The Controller shall be responsible
for recording investments in the City's books of sccounts, The Internal Audit staff shall audit records monthly and the external auditors
will review for controls on | ts and adk to policy as required by law. On Ny ber 16, 2021, the City

Couneil approved and readopted the Investment Policies,
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IMES Supplemental Death
Deferred Cutflows  Defermed Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference in expected and actual experience 3 334,499 $ 612,182}
Difference in assumptions 1,189,992 (144,508|
Difference in projected and actual eomings
on OPEB plan investments - -
Employer's contributions to the OPEB plan
subsequent to the measurement date 30,535 -

$ 1,557,226 % (756,690)

Defenred oufflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from contributions subsequent to the
measurement date of $30,535 wil be recognized as a reduction of the total OFER liability in the
City's financial statements September 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows
of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Retiree Heaith Insurance

Measurement MNet deferred
Period Ended oulflows {infiows)
September 31, of resources
2022 $ (453,955)
2023 (453,955)
2024 408,682
2021 408,482
2026 -
Total $ (90.548)
IMRS Supplemental Degth
Measurement Net deferred
Yeor Ended outflows (inflows)
Decemoer 31, of resources
2021 § 167,926
2022 167,926
2023 160,848
2024 117.758
2025 79,582
Thereafter 75,961
Total 3 770,001

N
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The following presents the total OPEB liabllity of the City's TMRS supplemental plan calculated using the
discount rate of 2.00%, as well as what the City's total OPEB ligbility would be if it were calculated using @
discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (1.00%) or 1 percentage point higher {3.00%) than the
current discount rafe:

Sensitivity of the OPEB Liability fo
Changes in the Discount Rate

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
% 6435475 % 5288290 % 4,398,326

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liobility to Changes in the Heglthcare Cost Trend Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City's refiree health insurance, as well as what the
City's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one
percenfage point lower or | percenfage point higher than the current healthcare cost frend rate:

Sensitivity of the OPEB Liabifity 1o
Changes in the Healthcare Cosi Rate
Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

$ 56,434,600 § 65,656,336 § 74,380,016

OPEB Expense and Deferred Quiflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related fo OPEB
for the year ended Sepfember 30, 2021, the City recognized total OPEB expense of $6,000,782 which
included $5.518,041 related fo Refiree Health Insurance and $482,741 related to TMRS Supplemental
Death.

At September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following resources:

Retiree Health Insurance
Deferred Cutilows  Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference in expected and aclual experience % - % (2.087.798)
Difference In assumpfions 2,651.4%6 (654,244)
Ditference in projected and actual eamings
on OFEB plon investments - -
Employer's coniributions to the OPER plan
subsequent to the measurement dale - -

% 2,651,496 $ (2,742,042
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City policy requires i in with applicable State law, specifically the Public Funds Investment Act, Texas
Government Code, Chapter 2256, as amended, (the "PFIA"). The City's Investment Policy does not permit the investment of City
funds in all eligible investments permitted by State law. Furthermore, this policy specifically prohibits investment in the following
investment securities.

1. Bonds whose pay 1 the coupon pay on the ding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-
backed security collateral and pays no principal.

2, Bonds whose payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the underlying morigage-backed security collateral
and bears no interest.

3. Collateralized morigage obli that have a stated final maturity date of greater than 10 years.
4, Coll lized morigage obli the interest rate of which is determined by an index that adjusis opposite to the changes
in a market index.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

An I C i isting of the Treasury Analyst, Treasury and Debt Manager, Controller, Chief Financial Officer, and
Deputy City Manager shall meet as frequently as necessary 10 review the City's investment portfolio. The committee shall also meet
as necessary to add or delete a financial institution or broker/dealer from the list of institutions with which the City may do business or
10 conduct other business. The committee shall also meet fo review prosp fi jal and other perft data on
money market mutual funds and shall formulate recommendations on the advisability of investing in specific funds for the
consideration of the City Council.

Any three of the five 1 t C iftee members itute a quorum. The Treasury and Debt Manager shall serve as chairman
of the committes, and maintain written record of in i i

TABLE 14 - CURRENT INVESTMENTS.

Asof June 1, 2022, the City’s investable funds were invested in the following categories:

Type of Investment Percentage Book Value
Local Government Pools and Money Market Funds 12.73% § 59,922,459
Federal Agency and Instrumentality Notes 87.27% 410,799,179

S - .1 A B

§ 470 1'21il338



TAXMATTERS
The following is a general summary of the United States federal income tax quences of the purchase and hip of the
Bonds. The discussion is based upon laws, Treasury Regulati rulings and decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to
change or possibly differing interpretati No can be given that future changes in the law will not alter the conclusions

reached herein, The discussion below does not purport to deal with United States federal income tax consequences applicable to
all categories of investors. Further, this summary does not discuss all aspects of United States federal income taxation that may be
refevant to a particular investor in the Bonds in light of the investor's particular li [ €s of {0 certain
types of investors subject to special treatment under United States federal income tax Taws (includi g i panies, tax
exempt erganizations, financial institutions, brokers-dealers, and persons who have hedged the risk of owning the Bonds), The
summary is therefore limited to certain issues relating to initial investors who will hold the Bonds as "capital assets” within the
meaning of section 1221 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and acquire such Bonds for investment
and not as a dealer or for resale. Prospective investors should note that no rulings have heen or will be sought from the Internal
Revenue Service (the "[RS") with respect to any of the 1S, federal income tax consequences diseussed below, and no assurance
can be given that the IRS will not take contrary positions.

INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS IN DETERMINING THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL,
FOREIGN AND ANY OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM FROM THE PURCE IASE, OWNERSHIP AND
DISPOSITION OF THE BONDS.

PAYMENTS OF STATED INTEREST ON THE BonDs
The stated interest paid on the Bonds will be included in the gross income, as defined in section 61 of the Code, of the beneficial

owners thereof and be subject to U.S. federal income ion when ived or accrued, depending on the tax accounting method
applicable to the beneficial owners thereof.

ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT

If a substantial amount of the Bonds of any stated maturity is purchased at original i for & hase price (the "Issue Price")
that is less than their stated redemption price at maturity by more than one quarter of one percent times the number of complete
years lo maturity, the Bonds of such maturity will be treated as being issued with “original issue discount.” The amount of the
original issue discount will equal the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity of such Bonds over its Issue Price, and the
amount of the original issue discount on the Bonds will be amortized over the life of the Bonds using the "constant yield method”
provided in the Treasury Regulations. As the original issue discount accrues under the constant yield method, the beneficial owners
of the Bonds, regardless of their regular method of accounting, will be required to include such accrued amount in their gross
income as interest. This can result in taxable income to the beneficial owners of the Bonds that exceeds actual cash distributions
to the beneficial owners in a taxable vear.

The amount of the original issue discount that accrues on the Bands each taxable year will be reported annually to the [RS and to
the beneficial owners, The portion of the original issue discount included in each beneficial owner's gross income while the
beneficial owner halds the Bonds will increase the adjusted tax basis of the Bonds in the hands of such heneficial owner.

PREMIUM

If a beneficial owner purchases s Bond for an amount that is greater than its stated redemption price at maturity, such beneficial
owner will be considered to have purchased the Bond with "amortizable bond premium® equal in amount to such excess. A
beneficial owner may elect to amortize such premium using a constant yield method over the remaining term of the Bond and may
offset interest otherwise required to be included in respect of the Bond during any taxable year by the amortized amount of such
excess for the taxable year. Bond premium on a Bond held by a beneficial awner that does not make such an election will decrease
the amount of gain or increase the amount of lass otherwise recognized on the sale, excl 16 lzmption or reti of a Bond.
However, if the Bond may be optionally red d after the beneficial owner acquires it at a price in excess of its stated redemption
price at maturity, special rules would apply under the Treasury Regulations which could result in a deferral of the amortization of
some bond premium until later in the term of the Bond. Any élection to amortize bond premium applies to all taxable debt
instruments held by the beneficial owner on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which such election applies and may
be revaked only with the consent of the IRS.

MEDCARE CONTRIBUTION TAX

Pursuant to Section 1411 of the Code, as enacted by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 20 10, an additional tax
isimposed on individuals beginning lanuary 1, 2013. The additional tax is 3.8% of the lesser of (i) net investment income (defined
as gross income from interest, dividends, net gain from dispasition of property not used in a trade or business, and certain other
listed items of gross income), or (ii) the excess of "modified adjusted gross income® of the individual over $200,000 for unmarried
individuals ($250,000 for married couples filing a joint retum and a swrviving spouse). Holders of the Bonds should consult with
their tax advisor concering this additional tax, as it may apply to intercst carned on the Bonds as well as gain on the sale of an
Bond.
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The discount rate was based on the Fidelity index's “20-Year Muricipal GO AA Index” rate as of
December 31, 2020.

Change in CPEB Liability Total OPEB
Retliree Hedlth Insurance Liability
Balance at September 30, 2020 $ 62543755
Changes for the year;
Service cost 4,393,270
Inferest 1,578,728

Difference between expecied
and actual experience
Changes in assumptions -

Benefit payments* (2,852,417)
Net changes 3,112,581
Balance at Seplember 30, 2021 b 65,656,336
Change in OPEB Liability Total OPES
TMRS Supplemental Death Liability
Bolance af December 31, 2019 3 4,419,808
Changes for the year:
Service cost 191,195
Interesi 123,620
Difference between expected
and actual experience [93,363)
Changes in assumpticns 487,282
Benefit payments* (40,252}
Net changes 868,482
Balonce at December 31, 2020 $ 5,288,290

“Due lo the Flan being considered an unfunded OPEB plan under GASE 75, benefit payments are frealed as being equal to the
employer’s yearly contiibutions for retirees.

Sensitivi he Tofal OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City's refiree health insurance calculated using the
discount rate of 2.41%, as well as what the City's total OPEB liability would be If it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (1.41%] or 1 percentage point higher (3.41%) than the
current discount rate:

Sensitivity of the OPEB Liability to
Changes in the Discount Rate
Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increcse

3 72474345 § 65,656,336 % 57,702,266
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The City of Grand Praifie TMRS supplerental death total OPEB liability of $5,288,290 measured as of
December 31, 2020, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumpfions

The refiree health insurance total OPES liability in the September 30, 2021 aciuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions:

Inflation

Salary Increcses
Discount Rate

tortality rates - retirees

2.50%
3.50%
241%
RP-2014 Combined Table projected using MP-2019

The discount rate was selected by City of Grand Prairie based on the Bond Buyer 20-Bond General
Obligation Index to reflect yields on long-term municipal bonds as of the measurement date.

The TMRS supplemental death total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions:

Inflafion

Salary Increases
Discount Rate
Adminisirative expenses

Mortdlily rates - service refirees

Maorlalily rates - disabled refirees

2.50%

3.50% to 11.5% including inflation

2.00%

All administrative expenses ore paid through the Pension Trust and
accounied for under reporting requirements under GASB Statement No.
&8,

2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. The rates are
projected on a fully generational basis with scale UMP.

2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables with a 4 year sef forward
for males and a 3 year set-forward for females. In addifion, a 3.5% and 3%
mirirmum mortdlity rate will be applied to reflect the impairment for
younger members who become disabled for males and females,
respectively. The rates are projected on a fully generafional basis by Scale
UMP to account for future mortality improvemants subject to the floor.

DISPOSITION OF BONDS AND MARKET DNSCOUNT

A beneficial owner of Bonds will generally recognize gain or loss on the redemption, sale or exchange of an Bond equal to the
difference between the redemption or sales price (exclusive of the amount paid for accrued interest) and the beneficial owner’s
adjusted 1ax basis in the Bonds. Generally, the beneficial owner's adjusted tax basis in the Bonds will be the beneficial owner's
initial cost, increased by the original issue di previously included in the beneficial owner's income to the date of disposition.
Any gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term or short-term, depending on the beneficial vwner's
holding period for the Bonds.

Under current law, a purchaser of a Bond who did not purchase the Bonds in the initial public offering (a "subsequent purchaser")

Iy will be required, on the disp of the Bonds, 1o recognize as ordinary income a portion of the gain, if any, to the
extent of the acerued "market discount." Market discount is the amount by which the price paid for the Bonds by a subsequent
perchaser is less than the sum of Issue Price and the amount of original issue discount previously acerued on the Bonds, The Code

also limits the deductibility of interest i d by a subsey purch on funds borrowed to acquire Bonds with market
di As an al ive to the inclusion of market di in income upon disposition, a subsequent purchaser may elect to
include market discount in income currently as it accrues on all market di i quired by the subsequent purch

in thal taxable year or thereafier, in which case the interest deferral rule will not apply. The re-characterization of gain as ordinary
income on a subsequent disposition of Bonds could have a material ¢ffect on the market value of the Bonds.

LEGAL DEFEASANCE

If the City elects to defease the Bonds by depositing in escrow sufficient cash andfor obligations to pay when due outstanding

Bonds (a "legal defeasance”), under current tax law, a benelicial owner of Bonds may be deemed to have sold or exchanged its

Bonds. In the event of such a legal defeasance, a beneficial owner of Bonds generally would recognize gain or Joss in the manner

described above. Ownership of the Bonds after a deemed sale or exchange as a result of a legal defeasance may have fax

consequences different from those described above, and each beneficial owner should consult its own tax advisor regarding the
i 1o such kb ial owner of a legal defeasance of the Bonds.

BACKUP WITHHOLDING

Under section 3406 of the Cade, a beneficial owner of the Bonds who is a United States person, as defined in section 7701(a)(30)
of the Code, may, under certain circumstances, be subject to "backup withholding" on payments of current or accrued interest on
the Bonds. This withholding applies if such beneficial owner of Bonds: (i) fails to furnish to payor such beneficial owner’s sacial
security number or other taxpayer identification number ("TIN"); (i} furnishes the payor an incorrect TIN; (i) fails to report
properly interest, dividends, or other "reportable payments® as defined in the Code; or (iv) under certain circumstances, fails to
provide the payor with a certified statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that the TIN provided to the payor is correct and that
such beneficial owner is not subject to backup withholding.

Backup withholding will not apply, however, with respect to payments made to certain beneficial owners of the Bonds. Beneficial
owners of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding their qualification for ption from backup withholdi
and the procedures for obtaining such exemption.

WITHHOLIING ON PAYMENTS TO NONRESIDENT ALIEN INDIVIDUALS AND FOREIGN CORPORATIONS

Under seetions 1441 and 1442 of the Code, nonresident alien individuals and foreign corporations are generally subject to
withholding at the rate of 30% on periodic income items arising from sources within the United States, provided such income is
not effectively connected with the conduct of a United States trade or busi A ing the interest received by the b ial
owners of the Bonds is not treated as effectively connected income within the meaning of section 864 of the Code, such interest
will be subject to 30% withholding, or any lower rate specified in an income tax treaty, unless such income is treated as portfolio
interest, Interest will be treated as portfolio interest if: (i) the beneficial owner provides a statement to the payor certifying, under
penalties of perjury, that such beneficial owner is not a United States person and providing the name and address of such beneficial
owner; (if) such inferest is treated as not effectively connected with the beneficial owner’s United States trade or business;
(i} interest payments are not made to a person within a foreign country which the IRS has included on a list of countries having
provisions inadequate to prevent United States tax evasion; (iv) interest payable with respect to the Bonds is not deemed contingent
interest within the meaning of the portfolio debt provision; (v) such beneficial owner is nota controlled foreign corporation, within
the meaning of section 957 of the Code; and (vi) such beneficial owner is not a bank receiving interest on the Bonds pursuant fo a
loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of the bank's trade or business.

Assuming payments on the Bonds are treated as portfolio interest within the meaning of sections 871 and 881 of the Code, then no
backup withholding under section 1441 and 1442 of the Code and no backup withhalding under section 3406 of the Code is required
with respect to beneficial owners or i fiaries who have ished Form W-8 BEN, Form W-8 EXP or Form W-8 IMY, as
applicable, provided the payor does not have sctual knowledge that such person s a United States person.
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FORRIGN ACCOUNT TAX COMPLIANCE ACT

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code impose a 30% withholding tax on certain types of payments made to a foreign financial
institution, unless the foreign financial institution enters into an agreement with the U 8. Treasury to, among other things, undertake
to identify accounts held by certain United States persons or U.S.-owned entities, annually repart certain information about such

, and withhold 30% on pay to account holders whose actions prevent it from complying with these and other reporting
requirements, or unless the foreign financial institution is otherwise exempt from those requirements, In addition, the Foreign
Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA") imposes a 30% withholding tax on the same types of payments to a non-financial foreign
entity unless the entity certifies that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or the entity fumishes identifying information
regarding each substantial United States owner. Failure to comply with the additional certification, information reporting and other
specified requirements imposed under FATCA could result in the 30% withholding tax being imposed on payments of interest and
principal under the Bonds and sales proceeds of Bonds held by or through a foreign entity. Prospective investors should consult
their own tax advisors regarding FATCA and its effiect on them.

REPORTING OF INTEREST PAYMENTS

Subject to certain exceptions, interest payments made 1o beneficial owners with respect to the Bonds will be reported to the RS,
Such information will be filed each year with the IRS on Form 1099 which will reflect the name, address, and TIN of the beneficial
owner. A copy of Form 1099 will be senl to each beneficial owner of a Bond for 1.5, federal income tax purposes,

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

In the Ordinance, the City has made the following agreement for the benefit of the registered and beneficial owners of the Bonds.
The City is required to observe the agreement for so long as it remains obligated to advance funds to pay the Bonds, Under the
agreement, the City will be obligated to provide certain updated financial information and operating data annually, and timely
notice of certain events, o the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRBE"™),

ANNUAL REPORTS . .. The City will provide snnually to the MSRE (1) within six months after the end of each fiscal year ending
in or afer 2022, financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the general type of information contained in
Tables | through 5 and 7 through 14 and (2) within twelve months after the end of each fisca) year ending in or after 2022, audited
financial statements of the City. Any financial statements so provided shall be prepared in dance with the ing principles
described in Appendix B, or such other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to
state law or regulation. If audited financial statements are not available within 12 months after the end of any fiscal year, the City
will provide dited fi al by the required time, and audited financial statements when and if such audited financial
statements become available.

The financial information and operating data to be provided may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included
by specific reference to any document available to the public on the MSRB's Internet Web site or filed with the United States
Securities and Excl C ission (the "SEC"), as permitted by SEC Rule 15¢2-12, as amended (the "Rule"),

The City’s current fiscal year endl is September 30, Accordingly, the City must provide updated information included in the above-
referenced tables by March 31 in each year, and audited financial for the p ding fiscal year (or unaudited financial
statemnents if the audited financial are not yel available) must be provided by September 30 in each year, unless the City
changes its fiscal year. If the Cily changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date of the new fiscal
year end) prior to the next date by which the City otherwise would be requived to provide financial information and operating data.

NOTICE OF CERTAIN EVENTS ... The City will provide notice of any of the fallowing events with respect to the Bonds to the
MSRB in a timely manner (but not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event): (1) principal and interest
payment delinquencies; (2) non-payment related defaults, if material; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting
financial difficulties; (4) unscheduled draws on credit ent reflecting financial difficulties; (5) substitution of credit or
liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; (6} adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations
with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; (7) modifications to rights
of holders of the Bands, if material; (8) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; (9) defeasances; (10} release, substitution, or sale
of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material; (11) rating changes; (12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar
event of the City, which shall occur as described below; (13) the ion of a merger, lidation, or acquisition involving

the City or the sale of all or substantially all of its assets, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive
agreement Lo undertake such an action or the lermination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant
to its terms, if material; (14) i of a or additional paying ag gi or the change of name of a paying
agent/registrar, if material; (13) incurrence of & Financial Obligation of the City, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of
default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, any of which affect security holders,
if material; and (16) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the lerms
of a Financial Obligatian of the City, any of which reflect financial difficulties. In addition, the City will provide to the MSRE, in
a timely manner, notice of any failure by the City to provide the required annual financial information described above under "
Annual Reports,”
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The City offers medical, dental, and vision coverage to eligible retirees,

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms
For refiree health insurance at the September 30, 2021 valuation and measurement date, the following
employees were covered by the benefit terms;

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 226
Active employees 1,328
Total 1.554

For TMRS supplerental death at the December 31, 2020 valuation and measurement date, the following
employees were covered by the benefit terms;

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 662

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 133

Active employees 1,372

Total 2,167
Confributions

For retiree health insurance, refirees and their spouses cumrently receiving benefits are required fo
confribute specified amounts monthly toward the cost of health Insurance premiums.

Monthly retiree contribution rates are as follows:

Retiree Monthly Health Care Premiums for Grandfathered Retirees under 435 (Emplovee Pays Fortion)

Manthly
Health Care
Premium
Owver 45 Retirae
[Grandfathered by oge)
Employse only $ 241
Employee plus spouse 238

Retiree Monthly Health Care Premiums Retirees under 65 (Employee Fays Portion)

Monthly
Health Care

Premium
Group EPO HOHP
Retiree Only 3 284 % 190
Retiree + Spouse 537 404
Retiree + Children 562 324
Family 757 569

Total OPEB Ligbility
The City of Grand Prairie retiree health insurance fotal OPER liabilily of $65,656,336 was measured as of
September 30, 2021, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.
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The death bensfit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the
employee's annual salary (calculated based on the employee's actual eamings, for the 12-month period
preceding the month of death); refired employees are insured for $7,500; this coverage is an "other
post-employment benefit,” or OPEB.

Retiree Health Benefi

Current employees who retire from the City of Grand Prairie under a TMRS Retirernent / Plan option may
elect to remain on the City's medical, dental, and vision insurance plans as long as they meet the
following criteria:

« Under age of 65
« Currently working for the City immediately prior fo refirement, and
+ Payment of required monthly premiums by due date, or within grace period

TMRS Retirement / Plan option may include:

« Service retirement, 25 vears of TMRS creditable service at any age, or
« Age 60 and 5 years of TMRS creditable service
« Disability/medical retirement at any age, if opproved by TMRS

Eligibility requirements do not vary by type of refirement. The retiree health care plan is a single-employer
defined benefit plan. No frust is setup for the plan; therefore, there is no separate audit report available.

Retirees pay a portion of their retiree health care premium based on their years of service with the City of
Grand Prairie, the plan selected, and dependent coverage when they refire. The base retiree health care
premium is based on the accrual rate, claims costs, and budget for the prior fiscal year.

Medical coverage for refires benefits extends only to age 45, Once a refires reaches age 65, they will be
dropped from medical coverage at the beginning of the month in which they turn é5. If a retiree cancels
any or all insurance at any time during retirement, they forfeit all rights to coverage through the City for
that benefit. If they cancel medical coverage all together, they may not elect medical again in the future
for any reason.

A spouse who is on the employee’s plan at the time of refirement may centinue on the plan uniil the
spouse reaches age 65, Spouse coverage continues after the employee reaches the age 65 and after
the death of the employee until the spouse reaches the age of 65, as well, Spouse coverage confinues
even though the employee becomes Medicare eligible.

Rates for spouse coverage are dependent upon the employee's years of service with the City of
Grand Prairie. Spouses receive the same benefits as the employee. Surviving spouses of deceased active
members are not eligible for retiree health care benefits, unless they become eligible under TMRS and
elect retirement immediately following the month of death. They become “refiree” in that case.

For all retirements after 1/1/08, dependents must have been covered for the 2 years immediately
praceding the effective date of retirement fo be eligible to continue coverage under refiree info
refirernent.

New dependents gained during retirement (due to marriage or birth) may not be added to the
City's plan since they were not eligible at the time of retirement.

Refirees that do not continue coverage through our retiree health care plans do not receive payment in
lieu of retiree health care.
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For these purposes, (A) any event described in (12) in the i fiately preceding paragraph is idered to oceur when any of the
fallowing occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United States
Bankruptey Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the
existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental
authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or governmental
authority hav:ng supervision urjunsdlclmn over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, (B} for the purposes of any
event described in the i Ty p ding clauses (15) and {16}, the term "Financial Obligation” means a (i} debt obligation,
(ii) derivative instrument entered into in connect]on with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned
debt obligation, or (iii} guarantee of (i) or (ii). The term "Financial Obligation® shall not include municipal securities as to which
a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule, and {C) the City intends the words used in the
immediately preceding clauses (15) and (16) and in the definition of Financial Obligation above to have the meanings ascribed to
them in SEC Release Mo. 34-83885 dated August 20, 2018,

AVAILABILITY OF INFORMATION . . . The City has agreed to provide the foregoing financial and operating information only as
deseribed above,  Investors may access continuing disclosure information filed with the MSRE free of charge at
wiww.emima. msrb.org.

LIMITATIONS AND AMENDMENTS . . . The City has agreed to update information and to provide notices of certain specified events
only as described above. The l'_,ily has not agreed o pm\-'ldc other information that may be relevant or material to a complete
presentation of its financial results of or prosp or agreed to update any information that is provided,
except as deseribed above. The City makes no representation or warranty concerning such information or concerning its usefulness
to a decision to invest in or sell Bonds at any future dme The City disclaims any contractual or tort liability for damages resulting
m who]c ar m pan from any breach of its continuing disc) ag or from any made p 1o its ag

] and b 1 owners of Bonds may seek a writ of mandamus to compel the City to cnmp]y with its agreement.

The City may amend its continuing disclosure agreement from time to time to adapt 1o changed circumstances that arise from a
change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, if (i) the
agreement, as amended, would have permitted an underwriter 1o purchase or sell Bonds in the offering described herein in
compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as
well as such changed circumstances, and (i) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the respective
outstanding Bonds consent to the amendment or (b) any person unafTiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond
counsel) d ines that the di will not materially impair the i of the regi 1 and b | owners of the
Bonds. The City may also amend or repeal the provisions of this fiscl £l if the SEC amends or repeals the
applicable provisions of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but
only if and to the extent thal the provisions of this sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling
Bonds in the prlmary n]’ﬂ’:rlng of the Bonds. If the City so amends its inuing disclosure ag) it has agreed to include
with the next fi ion and operating data provided in accordance with its agreement described above under "-Annual
R:pons an explanation, in narrative form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial
and operating data so provided,

(.OMPLIAN(‘E WITH PRIOR UNDERTAKINGS . , . During the last five years, the City has complied in all material respects with all
T made by it |n aceordance with the Rule.

OTHER INFORMATION

RATINGS

The Bonds have been rated "AAA" with a stable outlock by S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc. ("S&P") and
"AA+" by Fitch Ratings ("Fitch™) without regard to credit ent An explanation of the signifi of such ratings may
be abtained from the company furnishing the rating., The ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and the City makes
no representation as to the appropriateness of the ratings, There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period
of time or that they will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by rating company, if in the judgment of company,
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings, may have an adverse effect on the market
price of the Bonds.

LITIGATION

City stalT believes there is no pending litigation against the City that would have a material adverse financial impact upon the City
or its operations,



FORWARD-LODKING STATEMENTS DISCLAIMER

The s!at:menl.b cuntalned in this Oﬂ'cml Statement, #nd in an)f other information provided by the City, llw[ are not purelv hlsmnca]
are forward-looking 1 the City’s expectations, hopes, i or

the future. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looki £ All forward-looking mclutll:d in
this Official Statement are based on information available to the City on the date hereof, and the City assumes no obligation 1o
update any such forward-looking stalements. The City's actual results could differ materially from those discussed in such forward-
looking statements,

The forward-looking included herein are ily hased on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently
subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to lhc pcssdﬂc invalidity of the underlying
assumptlons and estimates and possible changes or devel in social, industry, market, legal, and

i and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, suppliers,
b pal'mers and peti and legislative, judicial, and other governmental authorities and officials. Assumptions related
to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future ie, competitive, and market conditions and

future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond the control
of the City. Any of such assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking
statements included in this Official Statement will prove to be accurate,

MISCELLANEOUS
In the Bond Crdinance, the City Council authorized the Pricing Officer to approve, and in the Pricing Cemf‘cate the Pri mmg Dﬁ'\‘:ﬂ

appraved, for and on behalf of the City, (i} the form and content of this Official and any add
thereto, and (i) the Underwriters’ use of this Official Statement in connection with the public offering and sale of the Bonds

Ref to website add p {in this Official Staternent are for informational putposes only and may be in the fnnn of
a hyperlink solely for the reader's convenience. Unless otherwise specified in this Official § to wek and
the information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement.

Cathy Patrick
Pricing Officer
City of Grand Prairie, Texas
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Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based on
the PUB(10) mortality tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the General Employee table
used for females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on the Gender-distinct
2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas morfality tables. The rates for actives, heaithy refirees and beneficiaries
are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortdlity improvements,
For disabled annuitants, the same mortality tables for healthy retirees are used with a 4- year set-forward
for males and a 3-year set-forwerd for females. In addition, o 3.5% and 3.0% minimum. The city should
insert the plan provisions that they have adopted. Far example, the city may include retirement eligibility,
employee and employer deposit rates, vesting requirements, and other provisions such as cost-of-living
adjustments or updated service credit. Plan provisions, by city, are included in the last section of TMRS'
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (Annual Report) and are also available on the website under For
Cities | Resources | My City Plan. The city may also want to refer fo TMRS' Plan Description fectnote, in
the Annual Report, fo obtain additional language regarding the pension plan. 16 mortallty rate is applied,
for males and females respectively, to reflect the impdirment for younger members who become
disabled. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality
improvements subject fo the floor

The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the experience of
TMRS over the four-year period from December 31, 2014 fo December 31, 2018. They were adopted in
2019 and first used in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. The post-retirement mortality assumption
for Annuity Purchase Rates [APRs) Is based on the Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009
through 2011 ond dated December 31, 2013. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an
emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the production of income In order to satisfy the short-
term and long-term funding needs of TMRS.

The long-ferm expected rate of refurn on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of retum (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
These ranges are combined fo produce the long-term expected rate of retumn by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. In
determining their best estimate of a recommended Investment retum assumption under the various
alternative asset allocation portfolios, GRS focused on the area between (1) arthmetic mean (aggressive)
without an adjustment for time (conservative) and (2) the geometric mean [conservative) with an
adjustment for fime (aggressive). The farget allocation and best estimates of real rates of retum for each
rmajor asset class in fiscal year 2021 are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected
Redl Rale of Return

Asset Class Target Allocation {Arithmetic)

Global Public Equity 30.0% 5.30%
Core Fixed Income 10.0% 1.25%
Non-Core Fixed Income 20.0% 4.14%
Real Return 10.0% 3.85%
Redl Estate 10.0% 4.00%
Absolute Return 10.0% 3.48%
Private Equity 10.0% 7.75%
Total 100.0%
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Employees Covered by Benefif Terms

At the December 31, 2020 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered by
the benefit ferms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currenily receiving benefits 864

Inactive employees enfitied to but not yet receiving benefits 488

Active employees 1,372

Total 2524
Contributions

The confribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross earnings, and the
city matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the governing body of
the city. Under the state law goveming TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually
by the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) acfuarial cost method. The actuarially determined rate
is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits eamed by employees during the year,
with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liabiiity.

Employees for the City of Grand Prairie were required fo confribute 7% of their annual gross earnings
during the fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City of Grand Prairie were 17.00% and 17.44% in
calendar years 2020 and 2021, respectively. The City's contributions to TMRS for the year ended
September 30, 2021, were $17,966,312, and were equal fo the required contributions.

Net Pension Liability
The city's Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2020, and the Total Pension Liability
(TPL) used fo calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions
The Total Pension Liabiity in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions:

Inflation 2.5% per year

Cverall payroll growth 2.75% per year, adjusted down for
population dechines, if any

Investment rate of return 6.75%, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation
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At September 30, 2021, the change in estimates of accrual liabilities for health coverage for the risk
management fund:

Beginning of Claims and End of
Fiscal Year Changes in Claim Fiscal Year
Licbility Estimates Payments Licibility
202 § 6283783 § 20447112 % 19918777 6,812,118
2020 4145960 19,807,058 17.669.235 6,283,783
009 3,971,327 15,449,741 15,275,108 4,145,960

J. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Flan Description

The City parficipates as one of 895 plans in the nontraditional, joint confiibutory, hybrid defined benefit
pension plan administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is an agency created
by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas
Govemment Code (the TMRS Act) os an agent multiple-employer retirement system for municipal
employees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the general administration and management of
the System with o six-member Board of Trustees. Although the Governor, with the advice and consent of
the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is not fiscally dependent on the State of Texas. TMRS's defined
benefit pension plan i a tax-qualified plan under Section 401 [a) of the Internal Revenue Code. TMRS
issues a publicly avalable Annual Comprehensive Financial Report that can be obtained ot

All eligible employees of the city are required to participate in TMRS.

Benefits Provided
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the goveming
body of the city, within the options available in the state statutes goveming TMRS.

At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee's contributions, with interest, and
the city-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity. Members may choose
fo receive their retirement benefit in one of seven payments opfions. Members may also choose to
receive a portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sum Distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36
monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the member's deposits and interest,

Plan provisions for the City are os follows:

Employee deposit rate 7%

Matching rafio [City fo employee) 2101

Years required for vesting 5

Service refirement eligibility 25 years at any age, 5 years
af age 40 and above

Updated service credit 100% Repeating fransfers

Annuily increase fo refirees 70% of CPl Repeating

Additional information related to the TMRS Plan is located in the TMRS Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report.

a1



City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Nctes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

The City's current per occurrence and aggregate limits through the TMLIRP are as follows:

Coverage Par Occumence Agoregate
General Liakbility $ 1,000,000 % 2,000,000
Law Enforcement Liability 3.000,000 4,000,000
Errors and Omissions 3,000,000 6,000,000
Autormebile Liability 3,000,000 ST
Airport Liakility 10,000,000 10,000,000

Current deductibles with TMLIRP are $350,000 for Workers Compensation with ne aggregate retention;
$300,000 for all liability lines {General, Law Enforcement, Public Officials, and Auto Liability); $1,000 for
Automobiles; and $10,000 for Mobile Equipment,

The City's operating funds are charged premiums for coverage provided by the Risk Management Fund
based on approved annual budgets with adjusiments based on estimates of fhe amounts needed fo
pay prior and current-year claims, These inter-fund premiums are used to reduce the amount of actual
expenditures.

Liabilities of the Risk Management Fund are reported when if is probable that a loss has occurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been
incurred but not reported (IBNR). The result of the process to estimate the claims liability is not an exact
amount as it depends on many complex factors, such as inflation, fiming of filed claims, adjudication of
claim benefits, changes in legol doctrines, and domage awards.

Accordingly, claims are reevaluated annually to consider the effects of inflation, plan benefit designs,
recent claim setflement frends, claim expense, and other economic and social factors. The estimate of
the claims liability also includes amounts for incremental claim adjustment expenses related to specific
claims and other claim adjustment expenses regardless of whether allocated to specific claims. The total
accrued liabiiities for the Risk Management Fund based on the recent September 30, 2021 actuarial report
was $4,883,052.

The City offers group health coverage to its employees and refirees in plans administered by
United Health Care using an escrow account funded by the City with both employee and City
contributions. The City allows retired employees under age 65 to continue parficipating in its group health
insurance program after retirement with a portion of premiums paid by the City. The amount of premiums
paid by retirees is based on the retirement date, length of service with the City, plan selected and
dependents covered at the time of refirement. The City retains risk for up to $400,000 per member per
year, and fransfers risk in excess of this amount to o reinsurer. Reported claims are charged to expense in
the period the loss is incurred, The fotal accrued liabilities for health insurance as of September 30, 2021
were $1.929.066.
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T Crry
LocaTion

The City of Grand Prairie, Texas (the "City"), is centrally located amid the estimated 6 million people in the Dallas/Fort Worth
ares. The City, with an estimated population of 200,640 for 2022, stretches 28 miles long by about eight miles at its widest point.
The City covers about §1 square miles.

TRANSPORTATION

The City has access to four major interstate highway systems - 1-20, 1-30, 1-35 and 1-45 - five state highway systerns — SH-360,
SH-180, $H-303, SH-161, and Loop 12. FM-1382 - U8, 287 all run through the City, or are within 15-30 minutes of the City’s
boundaries,
® 1H-20: an eight-lane easi-west expressway that passes through south of the City, linking the City 1o Dallas and Fort Worth.
West of Fort Worth, 1H-20 leads to Abilene and Odessa. Eastward destinations on [H-20 are Tyler, Longview and
Shreveport, La.

B TH-30: a six-lanc east-west expressway that passes through north of the City and also links the City o Dallas and Fort
Worth. TH-30 links to TH-20 in west Fort Worth, Eastward destinations on [H-30 are Greenville, Texarkana and Arkansas.

% SH-360: a six-lane north-south expressway running along the western edge of the City, a key route to Dallas-Fort Worth
International Airport.

»  President George Bush Turnpike: a four and six-lane north-south tollway runs 10.5 miles through Grand Prairie from the
northern City limits to 1H-20.

The City's Municipal Airport serves small piston planes to large business turboprop airerafi and helicopters. The airport hias a
4,000-foot-long, 75-foot-wide lighted, concrete runway, repair service and cargo handling, 2 helipad, dining facilities, and support
facilities for training, private aviation and business flying activities, The airport is designated in the FAA National Plan of Integrated
Alrport System and the Texas Aeronautical Facilities Plan. Hangar space is available for nearly 233 aircraft, with tie-down space
and FBO services available.

The Dallas/Fort Worth International Airport ("DFW Airport”) lies about five miles north of the City’s northern border. In 2021,
Airports Council International (*ACI") ranked DFW Airport second among United Stales airports and third globally for total
number of airerafi operations. In 2021, the ACI report ranked DFW Airport second globally and domestically for passengers, In
2021, DFW served 554 million passengers and provided service to 196 domestic and 65 international destinations
(wrww.d Fvairport,com).

POPULATION

The estimated population for 2022 is 200,640, From the 2010 Census to the 2020 Census, the City's population increased 12
percent.

DEMOGRAPHICS

2020 Census estimates of the City Non-Hispanic population breakdown were 608 percent white, 23.1 percent black, 6.9 percent
Asian and Pacific Islander, 0.2 percent American Indian, 0.9 percent other; Hispanic of any race comprises 48.7% of the papulation.

Age of resid according to the 2020 Census, are 67.2 percent ages 21 and older, 10.1 percent elder than
65, and 28.5 percent younger than 18,

INDUSTRIAL BASE

Wholesale trade (distribution), manufacturing and retail trade companies are the largest industrizl sectors in the City,



INpUSTRY PROFILE

Industry Percent of Total gross sales
Wholesale Trade 32.42%
Manufacturing 24.62%
Retail Trade 21.89%
Construction 9.12%
Accommodation/Food Services 2.30%
Admin/Support/Waste Mgmt/Remediation Services 2.03%
Other Services (except Public Administration) 1.97%
Real Estate/Rental/Leasing 1. 18%
Transportation/Warehousing 0.91%
Professional/Scientific/Technical Services 0.90%
Arts/Entertainment/Recreation 0.70%
Information 0.68%
Apriculure/Forestry/Fishing/Hunting 0.48%
Finance/Insurance 0.25%
Educational Services 0.18%
Health Care/Social Assistance 0.13%
Source; Texas Compteoller.
LARBOR FORCE
April Average Annual
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Civilian Labor Force 104,710 102,076 98,905 98,881 98,265 97,727
Employed 101,108 96,337 91,024 95,309 94,525 93,925
Unemployed 3,602 5,739 7.881 3,572 3,740 3,802
% of Unemployed 3.44% 5.62% 7.97% 3.61% 3.81% 3.80%
melwmml Commission.
Tor TEN EMPLOVERS
Company Product-Service

Grand Prairie Independent School District
Lockheed Martin Missiles and Fire Control
Poly-America Ine.

City of Grand Praicie

Bell Helicopter-Texiron

Flex-N-Gate

Lear Seating

Lone Star Park at Grand Prairi

Forterra Pipe & Products, Ine.

K & N Fillers

Source: City's financial statement.

Administration of Education Programs

Research and Development in the Physical, Engincering, and Life Sciences
Unsuppaorted Plastics Film and Sheet {except Packaging) Manufacturing
Public Adminkstration

Helicopler aireraft manufacturing

Auto Accessory Manufacturing

Manufacturing

Racetracks

Concrete Pipe Manufacturing

Air Filter Manufacturer

Estimated
Employees
4,000
4,000
2,000
1,614
1,200
1,200
1,100
950
950
B

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Environmental remediation liability activity for the primary government in fiscal year 2021 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance Current
Property Description 9/30/2020 Addifions Reductions /302021 Porfion

Copeland Home Asbestos Abatement L 4 20900 % - $ - 3 2090 § 20,900
Indoor Air Assessment Service Center - 6,450 - 6,450 6,450
Total 3 20900 % £450 % - $ 27350 % 27,350

Environmental remediation liability activity for the discretely presented comporent unit, the Grand
Prairie Local Government Corporation, in fiscal year 2021 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance Current
Property Description 9/30/2020 Addifions Reductions 9/30/2021 Partion
Bella Vista Asbestos Abatement % - $ 239389 % - $ 0 239349 § 239349
Total ] - $ 239389 % - $ 239369 B 239369

Other Liabilities

Sales Tax Payback

During fiscal year 2008, the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts nofified the City of an error in sales
fax paymenis made fo the City. The error was the result of a local business reporting and paying taxes
incomectly to the State Comptroller over several years. The overpayment by the business resulted in an
overpayment to the Cily for $2,386,466. In 2012, a liability for this amount was recorded by the City and is
repaid from future sales tax revenue over a period of thirteen years,

During fiscal year 2021, the Texas Comptraller of Public Accounts notified the City of an error in sales
tax payments made fo the City. The error was the result of a local business reporting and paying taxes
incomectly to the State Comptrolier over several years. The overpayment by the business resulted in an
overpayment fo the City for $3,108,638. In 2021, a liability for this amount was recorded by the City and
is repaid from future sales tax revenue over a period of six years.

As of September 30, 2021, the total liability equaled $4,087,229.

I. Risk Management

The City currently administers a deductible program for Workers Compensation, all Liability, Property,
Airport, and Crime claims through the Texas Municipal League Intergovemmental Risk Pool [TMLIRP), o
public entfity risk pool. The TMLIRP sustains itself through member premiums and stop loss coverage for
excess claims through commercial insurers.

79



City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
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The lease has been accounted for os a capital lease. However, only the base rent paymenis are
determinable and are included in the lease payments receivable at the net present value of future rent
payments. The remaining portion of the Facility is recorded as estimated unguaranteed residual value of
the lease. lis fair value is estimated to be approximately equal to the differences between the original
cost plus capitalized improvements of the Facility, net of what accumulated depreciation would be, and
the fixed lecse payments receivable. Therefore, this amount is being amortized aver the lite of the lease
|thirty years). Amertization for the year ended September 30, 2021 was $4,555,90%. Additional contingent
rentals are recorded as revenue when received.

The capital lease is being amoriized using the inferest method over the 30-year life of the lease. The
Corporation has recorded lease rental and interest for the year ended September 30, 2021 as follows:

Nominal interest on the lecse 3 1,756,920
Amortization of the lease [1,244,624)
Met interest 512,294
Contingent rentals received (includes rent for simulcast

faciity prior to completion of project) 175,138
Tolal lease rental and interest 3 487,434

Closure and Post Closure Ligbility

State and federal laws and regulations require the City to place a final cover on its landfill site when it
stops accepting waste and fo perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for
30 years after closure. Allhough closure and post closure care costs will be paid only near or after the
date that the landiills stop accepting waste, the City reports a portion of these closure and post closure
care costs as an operating expense in each period based on landfil capacity used as of each balance
sheet date. The City follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 18 Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste
Landiill Closure and Post closure Care Costs. Accordingly, the City has recorded a closure and post
closure care liability of $9.083,018 in the Solid Waste Fund. The tofal fiability represents the cumulative
amount reported fo date based on the use of 51.55% of the estimated capacity of the landfill,

The City will recognize the remaining estimated cost of closure and post closure care of §8,826,451 as the
remaining estimated capacity is filed. The City expecis fo close the landfill in year 2037, Actual cost may
be higher or lower due fo inflation, changes in fechnology or changes in regulations.

Environmental Remediation Obligations
The City and the Grand Prairie Lecal Government Corporation have recorded a liabilities related to
environmental remeadiation in the amount of $27,350 and $239.349, respectively, in the Statement of Net
Pasition. The estimates of the liabilities are prepared by the Environmental Professional Group and by the
City's Environmental Quality Manager and bosed on a range of expected outlays, net of expected cost
recoveries, if any, for the type and amount of pallution contamination detected. The estimates are
reviewed and adjusted periodically for price changes, additional contamination and any other changes
detected.
« The Cily owns the building and is responsible for the asbestos abatement of the Copeland home
located at 125 SW Dallas Street.
« The City owns the Service Center and is responsible for the quality of air circulating throughout it
and determining whether it poses any health risks to those inside.
+ The Grand Praiie Local Government Corporation owns the building and is respensible for the
asbestos abatement located at 1000 W Main Street,
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RECREATION

Recreational facilities include the 7,500-acre Joe Pool Lake, championship-level Tangle Ridge Golf Club, Lone Star Park at Grand
Prairie and more than 52 public parks on 4,900 acres.

Parks and Recreation facifities include an extreme skate park, two multipurpose recreation centers, an active adult center, a senior
center, indoor pool, three outdoor pools, five sofiball and baseball complexes, two golf courses, 32 tennis courts, a soccer complex,
a central park, PlayGrand Adventures and the recently acquired two lake parks on Joe Paol Lake.

Ripley’s Believe It Or Not, The Palace of Wax and Trader's Village in the City are popular entertai and shopping |
Nearby are Six Flags over Texas in Arlington and zoos, art museums, symphonics and ballet in Dallas and Fort Worth.

One of three Class 1 horse-racing tracks in Texas, Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie opened for live races in April 1997. The track's
simulcast pavilion opened in mid-1996,

Professional Sports: the Dallas Cowboys of the National Football League, the Texas Rangers of Major League Baschall, the Dallas
Mavericks of the National Basketball Association, the Dallas Stars of the National Hockey League, and the FC Dallas of Major
League Soccer. All have home games within 5-25 minutes of the City.

NCAA-event schools: Southern Methodist University and Texas Christian University in Dallas and Fort Worth,

Cedar Hill State Park, just south east of the City, offers 355, mostly wooded campsites in the Dallas-Fort Worth hill country.
Among park facilities are two lighted fishing jetties and boat access to Joe Pool Lake.

EpucaTion

Seven public universities and eight independent universities, including health related education facilities, in the region totaled
enrollment of 157,923 in 2020 (source: Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board). The universitics, among them University
of Texas campuses (Arlington and Dallas), offer programs. from engincering to business and degrees from bachelor's to medical
doctorates.

The Diallas and Tarrant ies public ity colleges - the nearest of them Mountain View in Dallas, North Lake in Irving,
Cedar Valley in Lancaster, the Southeast campus of Tarrant County College in Arlington, and El Centro in Dallas - counted over
186,244 students in 2020 (source: Texas Higher Education Coordinating Boeard). Additionally, three technically oriented post-
secondary schools are within 30 minutes of the City.

In addition to their degree programs, many of these colleges and universities offer busi It ployee training specific
to & company’s skill demands, community health care services, economic and land develop research, ¥ and
information services and library facilities open to the community.

Granid Prairie Independent School District (the "GPISD™) and the Arlington Independent School District (the "AISD") predominate
amang the six school districts with boundaries in the City.

GPISD comprises 20 elementary schools, six middle schools, two ninth grade centers, four senior high schools, one alternative
education school and one early childhood center, Students whose residences are on the Dallas County side of the City attend
GPISD.

Students who reside in Tarrant County and Grand Prairie attend AISD, which comprises of nine high schools, 13 junior high
schools, and 52 elementary schools (six in the City). AISD has no junior high schools or high schools in the City.
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Leases

rand FPrairie Facilities Devel Sports Co ion)] — A Compon it
On September 15, 1995, the Sports Corporation and LSIC entersd infe a lease agreement, On
October 23, 2002, Lone Star, LSJC, and MEC Lone Star, LP. (MEC) entered into an asset purchase
agreement whereby MEC agreed to purchase substanticlly all of the racing assets of Lone Star and LSJC.
The Master Agreement between the Sports Corporation, Lone Star, and LSJC was terminated. Lone Star
and LSJC assigned to MEC all of their rights and obligations under the lease and certain ancillary
agreements with the Sports Corporation.

On March 5, 2009, Magna Entertainment Corporation, the parent company of MEC, filed for bankruptcy
under Chapter 11 federal bankrupfcy profection, Subsequently, on September 14, 2009, Lone Star filed
for bankuptcy protection,

On October 23, 2009, an auction for Lone Star was conducted with Global Gaming LSP, LLC |a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Chickasaw Nation) winning the auction for $47 miliion.

On May 13, 2011, Global Gaming obtained their license with the Texas Racing Commission. The sale was
completed on May 16, 2011. Under the terms of fhe purchase agreement, Global Gaming has agreed to
assume the lease agreement between Lone Star and the Sports Comporation.

The agreement states that upon completion of the project, Global Gaming will lease the facility for a
period of thirty years. The lease became effective April 1997 and meets the requirements for accounting
as a direct financing lease.

The future base rent payments under the lease are as follows:

Year Amount
2022 L3 1,888,689
2023 1,932,612
2024 1,932,612
2025 1,932,612
2026 1,932,412
Therealter 1191777
10,810,914
Less interest 2,109,274
Met present value 8,701,440

Less current porfien 1,244,624
Non-current portion $ 7,457,014

Additional confingent rentals are due monthly based upon 1% of gross revenues from the operation of
the track for each month plus an amount equal to the cumulative net retainage from the live races and
the simulcast races multiplied by the following perceniage:

Cumulative Net Retainages Percentage
$0 to less than $20 milion 1%
$20 million to less than $40 million 3%
$40 million to less than $40 million 5%
$60 million or more 7%
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Grand Frairie Housing Finance Corporation

The GPHEC has a general obligation note payable to a bank which was used to construct the Cotton
Creek and Willow Tree Learning Center. The note bears a rate of 4.25% and is payable in equal monthly
installments of $12,438 through Septernber 21, 2040.

In December, 2003, the HFC issued Independent Senior Living Center Revenue Bonds for $13,890,000 fo
finance the construction and operations of its planned Senior Living Center facility. The bonds bear
interest rates from 7.5% to 7.75% depending on longevity. Beginning January 1, 2011, semi-annual
refirements of the Bonds began and confinues through January 1, 2034. The bonds are non-recourse
liobilities collaterdlized solely by the land and construction in progress, less the accrued interest.

In April 2020, the HFC received a loan from Affiliated Bank in the amount of $119,096 under the Paycheck
Profection Program (PPP) established by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securily Act [CARES
Act). The loan bears interest of arate of 1% and is payable in monthly installments of principal and interest
over 24 months beginning é months from the date of the note. The loan may be forgiven fo the extent
that proceeds are used for eligible expenditures such as payroll and other eligible expenses described in
the CARES Acth.

A summary of long-term debt activity during the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:

Due
Beginning Ending Within
Balance Additions Deletions Baolonce One Year
PEP Note payable $ i H 119.09%  $ - $ 1ng.o96  § -
Note payable 2,054,379 - (63,148) 1,991,231 45,885
Revenue bonds 6,905,000 - (265,000) 6,640,000 295,000
Subordinate bonds 4,550,000 - - 4,550,000 -
Developer loan 1,467,291 41,740 - 1,509,051 -
Total 4 14576670 % 160,85 § (328.148] $ 14,809,378 % 360,885

Effective July 1, 2010 the bonds of the Senior Living Center were reissued in two seres: $8,630,000 in Pricrity
Lien Revenue Bonds and $4,550,000 in Subordinate Lien Revenue Bonds.

Euture maturities of the debt are as follows:

Year Ending MNote Payable Revenue Bonds
December 31, Frincipal Interest Principal Interest

2021 $ 65885 % B3372 % 295000 § 508,981
2022 68,740 80,517 315,000 485,731
2023 71.71% 77,538 340,000 460,738
2024 74,824 74,429 370,000 434,000

2025-202% 425,682 320,602 2,335,000 1,681,944

2030-2034 526,271 220013 2,985,000 604,306

2035-203% 650,629 95,655 - -
2040 107,481 1.889 - -
Total $ 1991231 % 954015 % 6440000 § 4175700

The Subordinate Lien Revenue Bonds are not scheduled above as their payments are confingent upon
cash flow and payment amounts and periods are uncerfain,
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APPENDIX B

EXCERPTS FROM THE
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS
ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021
“The information contained in this Appendix consists of excerpts from the City of Grand
Prairie, Texas Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Year Ended September 30,

2021 {the "Report™), and is not intended to be a pl of the City"s financial
condition. Reference is made to the complete Report for further information.

The information ined in this Appendix is provided as of the respective dates and for the
periods specified herein and is subject to change without notice, and the filing of this
Appendix does not, under any circumstances, imply that there has been no change in the
affairs of the City since the specified date as of which such information is provided. In
particular, the dates as of and periods for which some of such information is provided
accurred before the impact of the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic and the economic impact
of measures institted to slow it could be fully realized. Accordingly, the historical
information set forth in this Appendix is not necessarily indicative of future results or
performance due to these and other factors, including those discussed in the Official
Statement.
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W

and Wi water System Debt ice Cow:

The following covenants are included in various water and wastewater systemn revenue bond indenture
ordinances:

Net revenues (defined as gross revenues less expenses of operation and maintenance) are
pledged for the payment of bond principal and interest.

Additional water and wastewater system revenue bonds cannot be issued unless the "net
eamings" (defined as gross revenues after deducting the expenses of operafion and
maintenance, excluding depreciation and certain other iterms specified in the ordinances) of the
system for twelve consecutive months out of the fiffeen menths prior to the date of such bonds is
equal to atf least 1,25 times the average annual requirements for the payment of principal and
interest on the then-outstanding bonds and any additional bonds then proposed fo be issued,

All revenues derived from the operations must be kept separate from other funds of the City,

The amount required to meet interest and principal payrments falling due on or before the next
maturity dates of the bonds is to be paid into the water and wastewater system interest and
redemption account during each year.

At September 30, 2021, compliance with these covenants can be demonstrated as follows;

Systemrevenue ! $  87.351,497
Operating expenses:
Water purchased 16,749,528
Sewage disposal confract 20,841,214
Other operating expenses 28,891,390
Total expenses 2 66,482,132
Net revenue (available for debt service) 3 20,849,345

Average annual principol and inferest requirements, all water
and wastew ater revenue bonds at Septernber 30, 2021 3 2,667,283

Coveroge of averoge annual requirements based on
September 30, 2021 revenue available for debt service 7.82

(1) Includes operating revenues, plus investment income and impoct fees
12) Excludes depreciation expense.
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At September 30, 2021, the aggregate debt service payments for long-term debt through the final year
of maturity for the City's water and wastewater system were as follows:

Fiscal water and Wastewater System Revernue Bonds

Year Principal Interest Total

2022 $ 5295000 $ 1214044 § 6,509,044
2023 5,445,000 1,061,202 6,506,202
2024 5,620,000 882,439 6,502,439
2025 5,140,000 703,150 5,843,150
2026 4,145,000 545,598 4,690,598
2027 3,900,000 407,031 4,309,031
2028 2,315,000 313,748 2,628,748
2029 2,380,000 247,088 2,627,088
2030 2,055,000 185,141 2,240,141
2031 1,090,000 137,278 1,227,278
2032 850,000 103,280 953,280
2033 880,000 74,736 954,736
2034 610,000 50,912 660,912
2035 630,000 32016 662,016
2036 450,000 12,256 462,256
2067 160,000 1,832 161,832
2038 160,000 1,144 161,144
2039 710.800 392 711,192
Total $ 42035800 § 5975287 $ 48011087

At September 30, 2021, long-ferm debt is being repaid solely from airport revenues. Agaregate debt
service payments for long-term debt through the final year of maturity for the City's municipal airport were
as follows:

Fiscal Cerlificates of Obligation
Year Principal Interest Total
2022 $ 175000 $ 23375 % 198,375
2023 185,000 14,375 199,375
2024 195,000 4,875 199.875
Total 3 555000 % 42,625 § 597,625
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of City Council
City of Grand Prairie, Texas

Report on the Financial Statements

We have oudited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type acfivities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund Information of City of Grand Prairie, Texas (the City) as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2021, and the related notes to basic financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements os listed in the fable of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The City's management is responsible for the preparafion and fair presentation of these financial
statements in dccordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America: this includes the design, implemeniation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial staternents based on our audit. We did not audit
the component unit financial statements for the Grand Prairie Housing Finance Corporation [a discretely
presented component unit), Those financial statements were audited by other auditors in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, whose report thereon has
been fumished fo us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Grand Prairie
Housing Finance Corporation is based on the report of other auditors. We conducted our audif in
accordance with audifing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable fo financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence dbout the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or emor.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
intemal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Weaver and Tidwell, LLP,
2300 North Field Street, Suite 1000 | Dallas, Texas 75201
A Main; 972.490.1970

CPAs AND ADVISORS | WEAVER.COM



The Honerable Mayor and
Members of City Council
City of Grand Prairie, Texas

Opinions

In our apinion based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unifs, each major fund, and
the aggregatfe remaining fund information of the City, as of September 30, 2021, and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

Other Matters

Required Supple ary Informati

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management's discussion and analysis, budget to actual schedules for the General Fund and Section 8
Fund, Schedule of Changes in Postemployment Benefits-Retiree Health Plan, Schedule of Changes in
Postemployment Benefits-Texas Municipal Retirement System, Schedule of Contributions-Texas Municipal
Refirement System, and Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios- Texas Municipal
Retirement System listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, Is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context,
We have applied certain limited procedures o the required supplementary information in accordance
with audifing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses fo our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements, We do nat express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Cur audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinians on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The infroductory section, combining and individual fund
financial statements and schedules, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not d required part of the basic financial statements,

The combining and individual fund statements and schedules, as listed in the table of contents, is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statemeants and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly fo the underlying accounting
and other records used fo prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund statements and
schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The infroductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on them.

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Al September 30, 2021, changes in long-term debt for the City's business-type activities were as follows:

Balance Balance
October 1, Borrowings Poyments September 30,  Due Within
2020 orIncrease  or Decrease 2021 One Year
Water and wastewater:
Revenue bonds
Series 2010 $ 2870000 § - ¥ (250,000] % 2,620,000 $ 255000
Series 2011 1,380,000 - 610,000} 770,000 440,000
Series 2013 7.570,000 - [1.,340,000) 4,210,000 1,400,000
Series 2014 2,560,000 4 (240,000 2,320,000 245,000
Series 2015 3,090,000 - (390,000) 2,700,000 405,000
Series 2014 15,180,000 - {1.110.000) 14,070,000 1,140,000
Series 2017 3,940,000 - (3%0,000) 3,550,000 390,000
Jeries 2017A 2,705,000 - {55,000) 2,450,000 50,000
Series 2019 3,570,800 - (160,000} 3,410,800 160,000
Series 2020 4,290,000 - [555,000) 3,735,000 610,000
Total revenue bonds 47,155,800 - 15.120.000) 42,035,800 5,295,000
Bond premiurms/discounts 3,367 678 = (271,733) 3,095,945 -
Total water and wastew ater 50,523,478 - (5.391.733) 45,131,745 5,295,000
Muricipal girport:
Certificate of obligation
Series 20044 725,000 - (170,000) 555,000 175.000
Total municipal girport 725,000 - (170,000} 555,000 175,000
Total change in long-term debt -
business-type aclivities § 51248478 § = 3 (5561.733) § 45686745 § 5470000
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September 30, 2021

Business-Type Activifi

Long-term debt in the business-type activifies column of the govemment-wide Staterment of Net Position
consists of general obligation refunding bonds, water and wastewater system revenue bonds, cerfificates
of obligation bonds, and unamortized bond premiums/discounts. Bonds issued for business-type activities
are secured by a pledge of the property tax levy of the City, but are self-supporting obligations which are
paid from the respective net revenues of each activity. Bond proceeds are used fo fund additions and
improvements fo the City's water and wastewater system, solid wasie system, municipal golf courses, and
municipal girport,

Al September 30, 2021, long-term debt for the City's business-type activities consisted of the following:

Interest Yeor of Year of Original Armount
Rate % Issue Maturity Amount Cutstanding
Water and wastewater:
Revenue bonds
Series 2010 0.0-2.587 2010 2030 $ 4995000 % 2,620,000
Series 2011 20-425 2011 2031 8,940,000 770,000
Series 2013 20-40 203 2026 14,045,000 6,210,000
Series 2014 0.0-1.990 2014 2030 4,000,000 2,320,000
Series 2015 2.25-40 2015 2027 4,155,000 2,700,000
Series 2016 20:50 2016 2036 17,625,000 14,070,000
Series 2017 0.0-08 2017 2030 5,110,000 3,550,000
Series 2017A 2.0-40 07 2036 2,755,000 2,650,000
Series 2019 0.0-0.49 ame 2039 3,730,800 3,410,800
Series 2020 5 2020 2031 4,290,000 3,735,000
Tolal bonds payable - water wastewater 42,035,800
Unamortized bond premiurrs/ discounts 3,095,945
Total long-term debt - water wastew ater 45,131,745
Municipal dirport:
Cerfificates of obligation bonds
Series 20044 22550 2004 2024 2,120,000 555,000
Tolal long-term debt - business-type activiies §  45686,745
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The Honorable Mayor and
Members of City Council
City of Grand Prairle, Texas

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have alo issued our report dated
March 29, 2022, on our cansideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
malters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on intemal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal contrel over financial
reporting and compliance.

Claawen and) Diductl LLE.

WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.

Dallas, Texas
March 29, 2022



City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

September 30, 2021
Fiscal Sales Tox Rev enue Bonds-Park Venue Soles Tox Revenue Bonds-EPIC
Year Principal Interast Tolal FPrincipal Interest Total
2022 $ 2200 § 448418 3§ 2548418 § 2375000 % 3084162 § 5459,142
003 2,150,000 401,203 2,591,203 2,475,000 2,987,162 5462142
2024 2,270,000 LNE 2411,118 2,575,000 2,886,162 5461,142
025 2,240,000 275,208 2,635,203 2,680,000 2.781.062 5.461,062
2026 2,450,000 213,473 2,663,493 2,785,000 2675447 5.480.647
a2 1,170,000 166,038 1,335.038 2,895,000 2,567,509 5,442,509
s 2028 370,000 142,438 512,438 3,010,000 2,449,919 5459,919
029 385,000 127,338 512,338 3,140,000 233,165 5.463,165
2030 400,000 111,638 511,438 3,275,000 2,187,743 5,462,743
2031 420,000 95,238 515238 3,425,000 2,035914 5460914
22 435,000 78,138 513,138 3,590,000 1,848,185 5,458,185
2033 455,000 40,338 515338 3,770,000 1,692,208 5,462,208
'r E X A S 2084 470,000 43,600 513,400 3.955,000 1,507,503 5.462.503
2085 485,000 28,081 51381 4,145,000 1313832 5,458,832
2034 505,000 10,100 515,100 4,355,000 1,105,153 5,460,153
Drecam Big Play Hard e . - - 438000 e S04
2038 - - - 4815000 £43.970 5458270
203 . - - 5.045,000 395,389 5,460,389
2040 2 - - 5,325,000 133977 5458977
§ 16485000 % 2542382 § o073 % 8235000 3§ 35519010 § 104754010
Fiscal Total
Year Principal Interest Total
THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 25 0§ SD § S99
2023 29,025,000 14,560,520 43,585.520
2024 33,805,000 13,406,819 47,211,819
025 28,095,000 12,242,299 40,337,299
2026 32,820,000 11,175,464 43,995,464
2027 26,345,000 10,183,461 36,528,461
2028 23,820,000 7.291.884 33,111,884
2029 24,490,000 8,434,317 32924317
2030 23,835,000 7.581,430 31,416,430
2031 24,285,000 6,756,151 31,041,151
2032 24,185,000 5,947 566 30,132,566
2033 25,020,000 5,115,997 30,135,997
2034 25,075,000 4,238,869 27,313,869
2035 20,870,000 3,419,067 24,289,067
2036 19,720,000 2,683,574 22,403,574
2037 16,080,000 2,023,189 18,103,189
2038 15,100,000 1,434,105 16,536,105
2039 15,680,000 856,600 16,536,600
2040 11,200,000 354,614 11,554,614
2041 6,020,000 74,148 6,094,148

$ 442,155,000 $ 136576593 § 598,731,593




City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
Sepfember 30, 2021

At September 30, 2021, the aggregaie debt service payments for long-term debt through the final year
of maturity for the City's governmenial activities were as follows:

Fiscol General Obligation Bonds Cerfificates of Obligalion Bonds

Year Principal Interast Todal Principol Interes| Tola!

2022 $  BSF0000 § 34693658 § 12283658  § 16195000 § B487.692  § 24682492
ivecl 7,410,000 3,195,162 10,605,163 16,410,000 7.828.657 24,238, 655
2024 10,200,000 2842488 13,042,488 18,205,000 T2y 25,405,217
2025 400,000 2443182 11,843,162 13,090,000 6,619,402 19.709.402
026 %.175.000 2091592 11,266,372 13,180,000 &.136,77% 19314725
207 8720000 1.782.618 10,509,618 13,560,000 5,660,296 19,200,294
2028 6,360,000 1,540,522 7amER 14,060,000 5,159,005 19,219,005
2029 4,385,000 1,345,099 7730099 14,580,000 4,638715 19218715
2030 5,045,000 1,182,643 5,227 643 15115000 4,099 406 19,214,406
03 4,790,000 1,058,325 5,848,325 15,450,000 3,566,674 19,216,674
a2 A590,000 955,197 4945197 16,170,000 3,046,044 19.216.046
2033 4,075,000 B48, 432 4.943,432 16,720,000 2495019 19215019
034 3925000 79824 4,704,824 164,725000 1907942 18,632,942
2035 3,855,000 492,578 4,547,578 12,385,000 1,354,576 13,768,576
2034 340,000 A03,744 4,543,744 10,920,000 964,577 11,884,577
rinir 4,040,000 50531 4,545,391 T.480,000 437,450 B0 450
2038 4,145,000 98,085 4,543,085 6,140,000 394,080 6534050
038 4,255,000 287 961 4,542,941 6,360,000 173250 4,533,250
2040 4,370,000 174,887 4,544 887 1,505,000 45750 1,550,750
2041 4,485,000 58,798 4,543,798 1,535,000 15,350 1,550.350

$ 17475000 % 26,506,587 § 14331987 § 245965000 § 70450805 § 314425805 Ma n q eme ni]’ s Disc Us si o n a n d An al (]

Flscol Tax and Tax increment Bonds [(IFs) Soies Tax Rev enue Bands-Crime Confrol g ys Is
ear Principal Interest Total Frincipal Interest Tolal

2022 3 2,140,000 ¥ 282912 3 2442912 $ 5,245,000 3 197677 ¥ 6,042,677
03 540,000 148,333 468,333 - - -
A4 555000 136834 51,834 = - =
2025 545,000 123,450 S8B, 450 - =

2028 5230000 58,203 5288700 -

3 5,050,000 3 749,732 ¥ 9,759,732 3 5,245,000 ¥ 797.677 5 4,042,677
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

In February 2021, the City issued $23,215,000 in Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation,
Series 2021, The Certificates were issued for the purpose of paying contractual obligations to be i)
acquiring, constructing, improving and equipping fire-fighting facilities and library facilities, (i)
constructing, improving and equipping existing municipal facilities, (jii) constructing street improvements,
including drainage, landscaping, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, entryways, pedestrian pathways, signage,
traffic signalization and street nolse abatement incidental thereto and the acquisition of land and rights-
of-way therefor and [iv) professional services rendered in connection therewith,

In June 2021, the City issued $66,945,000 in General Obligation Bonds, Series 2021. The bonds were issued
for the purpose of paying contractual obligations to be incurred for canstructing street improvements,
including drainage, landscaping, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, entryways, pedestrian pathways, signage,
traffic signalization and street noise abatement incidental thereto, and for the acquisition of land and
rights-of-way therefor within the reinvestment zone of the City known as the Tax Increment Financing
Reinvestment Zone Number Cne (TIF #1).

Also in June 2021, the City issued $14,935,000 in Combination Tax and Revenue Cerfificates of Chbligation,
Series 2021 A, The Cerfificates were issued for the same purpose as the Series 2021 General Obligation
Bonds, described above,

uistanding Bond Debt Defeas nt
At September 30, 2021, certain outstanding debt of the city was considered fo be defeased. The following
table details such outstanding defeased debt:

Defeased Debt
Type of Obligation OCutstanding
General obligation refunding bonds 3 55,000
Total debt defeasement % 55,000
——

-



City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

At September 30, 2021, changes in long-term debt for the City's governmental activities were as follows:

Batance Balance
Oclober 1, Barmowings Payments Seplember 20, Dwe Wilihin
a0 or Increase or Decrease X2l One Year
General abligation bords:
Serles 2012 1 4,120,000 3 - 3 (645,000} $ 3,475,000 ¥ 480,000
Series 2013 3,310,000 = {310,000) 3.000.000 315,000
Series 20134 1,710,000 - 95,0001 1.415.000 100,000
Seties 015 7,065,000 - 11,050,000} 6,015,000 LOS5.000
Seres 2014 23,375,000 - [2.935,0004 20440000 2,415,000
Serles 2017 19,475,000 - [3,790,000) 15,485,000 4,005,000
Sarias 2021 - 66,945,000 - 66,945,000 -
Total gereral abligation bonds 59,055,000 66,945,000 (8,825,000 117175000 8,590,000
Combiralion tox and revenue
cerificotes of obigation
Series 2013 5,320,000 = [405,000 5915000 420,000
Serias 20134 2,280,000 - (500,000) 8,780,000 525,000
Series 2014 16,540,000 - (2,125,000 14815000 2,730,000
Series 2015 22,445,000 - 11,345,000} 21,100,000 1,405,000
Series 2014 28,180,000 - 115150004 24,265,000 1,325.000
Serles 20017 29915000 E 13,500,000 26,415,000 3,425,000
Series 2018 38,810,000 = [1.885,000] 36,925,000 2090.000
Sefies 2HPA 33,110,000 - (1.815,000] 31,295,000 1,905,000
Series 20196 34,305,000 . - 34,305,000 2,220,000
Series 2021 ~ 23,215000 - 23,215,000 450,000
Series 2021 A - 16,535,000 = 14,935,000 -
Total combinalion 1o ond rev enue
cerlificates ol obgation 219,305,000 40,150,000 113,450,000} 245365000 16,195,000
Tox increment and public
improvement districl debt
Serles 2001 MRI 1 2180.000 = (1.525,000| 1,635,000 1,635,000
Series 2015 FIRS 380,000 - [FOL000) 310,000 75000
Series 2016-MRL T 1,080,000 . [1.080.000) - -
Series 2019-TRZ1 7.105000 2 7,106,000 450,000
Tetal fax increment and public
improvement district debl 11,725,000 = |2.67 5,00 9,050,000 2140000
Soles fax revenue debl:
Crime Confrol
Series 2008 10,795,000 = 15,550,000} 5,245,000 5,245,000
Toldd Crime Cantrol 10,795,000 = |5.550,00C) 5,245,000 5245000
Park Venue
Sevies 2009 subordinate A.740,000 = [4%5.000) 6,245,000 1,130,000
Series 2013 5,840,000 - |1, 250.000) 4,570,000 730,000
Seres 2016 Park Venue 5935000 = (265,000) 5,670,000 260,000
Tohal Pork Venue 18,535,000 = (2,060,000} 16,485,000 2.120,000
EPIC
Series 2015 EPIC 70,520,000 = {2.285,00G) 48,235,000 2375000
Total EFIC 70,520,000 & [2.285,000] 8,235,000 2.375.000
Tolat change in long term debl 389,735,000 107,095,000 (34,875.000) 442,155,000 36,685,000
Uramertized bond premivms/dscounts 26,089,630 3272425 {2.158.415) 27,903,630
Tolal change in long-teim debt -
governmental aclivifies 3 416004620 110367425 $ (37083415 § 489358430 $ 36685000
68

City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Management's Discussion and Analysis

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021
(Unaudited)

Management's discussion and analysis provides a narrative overview of the financial activities and
changes in the financial position of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas {the City) for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2021. It is offered here by the management of the City to the readers of ifs financial
staternents. Readers are encouraged to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the
information furnished in our letter of fransmittal, the introductory section of the City's financial statement,
and the accompanying notes.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

« The ossets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its lighilities and deferred
inflows of resources at September 30, 2021 by $724,434,431 [net position].

+ The City's total net posifion increased $39,994,412, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021,
primarily due to an increase in charges for services, sales tax callections, franchise fee collections,
and grant confributions.

» At Septemnber 30, 2021, the City's govemmental funds reported combined ending fund balances
of $299,266,048, The $46,567.628 unassigned fund balance in the General Fund represents 28.0%
of total General Fund expenditures and fransfers.

« The City's fotal long-term liabilities of $695.774,540 increased by $66,610,772 {10.6%) during the
current fiscal year, In fiscal year 2021, net bonded debt increased by $66,930,000, with the
remaining liability comprised of pension and smployee related obligations. See Table 4 in this
report for further information regarding the City's long-term liabilities.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an infroduction to the City's basic financial statements.
The reporting focus is on the City as a whole and on individual major funds. If is infended to present a
more comprehensive view of the City's financial activities.

The City's basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) govemment-wide financial
staternents, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes fo the financial statements, This report also contains
required and other supplementary information in addition to ihe basic financial stotements.

Government-wide financial stafements — The govemment-wide financial statements include the
statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities. These statements are designed fo provide readers
with a broad overview of the City's finances in a manner similar to that of a private-sector business, Both
are prepared using the economic resources focus and the accrual basis of accounting, meaning thai all
the current year's revenues and expenses are included regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The Statement of Nel Position presents information on all of the City's assefs, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, including capital assets and long-term liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources.
The differences between these items are reported as net posiiion. Over time, increases or decreases in
net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or
deteriorating. Other indicators of the city's financial position should be taken into consideration, such as
fhe change in the City's property tax base and condition of the City's infrastructure (i.e., roads, drainage
systems, water and sewer lines, etc)), in order fo more accurately assess the overall financial condition of
the City.

The Staternent of Activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed
during the mest recent fiscal year. It focuses on both the gross and net costs of the government’s various
activities and thus summarizes the cost of providing specific government services. This statement includes
all curent year revenues and expenses,



City of Grand Prairie, Texas

Management's Discussion and Analysis — Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021
{Unaudited)

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities divide the City's activilies info two types:

Govemmental Activities — Most of the Cily's basic services are reported here, including general
government, public safety, planning, public works, fransportation, housing, community development,
cultural events, and library. Property taxes, sales taxes, and franchise fees provide the majority of
financing for these activities.

Business-Type Activities — Activities for which the City charges a fee to customers fo pay most or all of the
costs of a service it provides are reported here. The City's business-type activities include a water and
wastewater system, a solid waste sanitary landfil, o storm water utility system, municipal airport, and
municipal golf courses.

The govemnment-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary
government), but also the Grand Prairie Sports Focilities Development Corporation, Inc. (the Sports
Corporation) and the Grand Praiie Housing Finance Corporation (HFC) as component units. Both are
legally, financially, and administratively autonomous separate corporations, HFC issues tax exempt
revenue bonds fo supply morfgage financing for low income home buyers and multi-family
developments, and engages in other affordable housing activities. The Sports Corporation oversees Lone
Star Park at Grand Prairie, a horse track facility.

The Crime Control and Prevention District (CCPD) is a legally separate enfity that is financially
accountable to the City. A blended presentation has been used to report the financial information of this
component unit. The CCPD is reported as the Crime Sales Tax Fund.

Fund financial statements — The City, like ofther state and local governments, uses fund accounting to
ensure and demonsfrate compliance with finance-related legal requirernents. A fund is a grouping of
related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific
activities or objectives. These statements focus on the most significant funds and may be used to find
more detailled information about the City's most significant activities. Al of the funds of the City can be
divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds.

Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are used to account for the rajority of the City's activities,
which are essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the govemment-wide
statements, However, unlike the govemment-wide financial statements, govemmental fund financlal
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as spendable
resources avdiloble af the end of the fiscal year, Such information may be useful in evaluating a
government's near-term financing requirements.

The focus of the governmental funds financial statements is narrower than that of the govemment-wide
financial statements. Therefore, it is useiul to compare the information presented for governmental funds
with similar infermation presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's
near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental funds Balance Sheet and the governmental funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances provide a reconclliation to
faciitate this comparison. These reconciliations explain the differences between the government's
acfivities as reported in the government-wide statements and the information presented in the
govemmental funds financial statements.

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

At September 30, 2021, long-term debt for the City's governmental activities consisted of the following:

Interest Year of Yeor of Ciriginal Amauni
Rate % Issue haturity Amount Cutstanding
General obligation bonds:

Series 2012 10-20 a2 2026 27,400,000 3,475,000
Series 2013 1.5-3.25 2013 2033 10,975,000 3,000,000
Series 200134 30-4.125 2014 2034 2,220,000 1,615,000
Series 2015 1.75-5.0 2014 2027 10,270,000 6.015,000
Series 2014 30-50 2014 2030 33,810,000 20,440,000
Series 2019 500 2020 2031 19,475,000 15,685,000
Serlas 2021 D.269-4.0 021 2041 44,945,000 &6,945,000

Total general obligation boncs 117,175,000

Combination fax and revenue cerlificates of obligation

Series 2013 20-325 2013 2033 8,830,000 5,915,000
Serles 20134 20-4.125 2014 034 11,945,000 8,780,000
Series 2014 3050 2015 2034 26,125,000 14,815,000
Series 2015 20-50 204 2035 27,380,000 21,100,000
Series 2016 20-4.0 2014 2036 33,705,000 26,265,000
Series 2017 2.25-5.0 il 2087 34,515,000 26,415,000
Series 2018 20-40 2018 2039 40,605,000 36,925,000
Series 0174 20:50 2019 maz 34,910,000 31,275,000
Series 20198 1.5-3.0 219 034 34,305,000 34,305,000
Series 2021 2045 il 2041 23,215,000 23,215,000
Series 20214 0.769-4.0 021 2036 16,935,000 16,935,000

Totol cormbination fox and revenue certificates of obligation 245,945,000

Tax increrment and public improvement disirict debt

Series 2001 MR J-month SOFR +.31% 2000 a2 17,900,000 1,635,000
Series 2015 PID 5 2050 2016 2035 640,000 310,000
Series 2014 MR 3050 24 2030 3,135,000 -

Series 2009 MRL 1 1.5:25 009 2026 7,105,000 7,105,000
Total tax increment and public improvement district debt 9,050,000

Sobes tax revenue debt
Series 2008 Crime Control éma SOFR*62.075+1.07 2008 2002 54,800,000 5,245,000
Total Crime Control 5,245,000
Series 2009 Park Yenue subordinale a7 2009 207 13,390,000 6245000
Series 2013 Park Yenue 20-40 ok wEr 11.060,000 4,570,000
Series 2014 Pork Venue 2040 016 034 6,730,000 5,670,000
Tedal Park Venue 15,485,000

Sdles tax revenue debt
Series 2015EPIC 3.721-5032 2015 2040 74,825,000 68,235,000
Totdl EPIC 68,235,000
Total general obiigation datt 462,155,000
Unomoriized bond premiums/discounts 27,203,630
Tolal long-lerm debt - governmental aclivities $ 489,358,630

—
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Below s a summary of the changes in noncurrent liabilities of the City's primary govermnment and
compoenent units:

Balance Bolance
October 1, Borrawings Payments September 30, Due Within
W0 of Increose of Declease 202 One Yeor
Prirnary government:
Governmental octivities:

General obliigation bonds 1 52055000 % 66945000 § 18.825000) § N7ZA7500 3§ 8,590,000
Combinalion tax and rev enue

cerlilicates of chigation 219,305,000 40,1 50,000 [13,490.000] 245965000 16,195,000
T Incr f and public Impl t

district bonds 11,725,000 - 12675000} 9,050,000 2,140,000
Sales Yox revenue bonds - Epic 70,520,000 * [2.285,000) £8,235,000 2,375,000
Soles fox revenue bonds - Crima Control 10,795,000 - [5.550,000] 5,245,000 5,245,000
Sales fox rev enue bonds - Park Venue 18,535,000 . (2,050,000} 14,485,000 2,120,000
|ssuarce premiums/dscounis, nel 26,069,620 3272425 (2,158,415 27,203,630 a

Total long-term dekst 416,024,620 110,347,425 {37.033.415) 489,358,430 36,485,000
Compensated absences 21,064,457 11,073,987 [11.050.407) 21,087,037 F67F, 444
Ofher post-employment benefits atility 40,687 581 417207 (2.400.805] 64,258,793 -
Met persion bability 59,113,940 51,564,901 (81452177} 47,225 664 -
Environmental remediation liobility 20,900 4450 = 27,350 27,350
Other liobilifies 1,139,367 3,108,638 (180,776] 4,087 229 476,882

Tolal governmentol aclivilies 558,050,865 182,293,418 (112,298,580} 428,045,703 47000475

Business-type oclivifies:

Cerlificates of obligation 725000 = (170.000) 555,000 175000
‘Water and waslewater revanue bonds 47,155 800 - [5,120,000] 42035800 5,295,000
Issuance premiums/discounts, net 3,367 678 - 271,753 3095545 -

Total long-term debt 51248478 N 15,561,733) 45,684,745 5,470,000
Compensoled absences 465411 15072 (760,739) A23.744 454 545
Ofher post-employment benedils fobilly 6,275,783 708715 {296.855] 4,685,833 -
Met pension obilly 4,470,085 5921053 [4.741.441] 5,449,497
Closwe and post closure lability B.648,946 533,456 199.384) w.0e3.08

Total business-type oclivifies 7112903 8,078,296 111,462,362) 67,738,837 5,964,545

Total primary gevemment § 429163768 § 190371714} (123.760947) § 495774540 § 53085221

Caomponent unil octivilies:
Housing Finance Corporaticn:

Paycheck Profection Program: Note Payable  § = 3 Neows § - 1 Nne096 % -
Line of credit 3,521,470 - [63,148) 3,458,522 A5.BES
Revenue bonds 6,505,000 - 1245,000) 4,640,000 295,000
Subordinofe revenue bonds 4,550,000 41,740 2 4,591 760 =
Total Houslng Finance Corporoticon 14976670 160,858 | 228,148} 14,800,378 360,885
Local Government Corporation
Ervironmenicl remedialion liokdity = 39,369 - 237 352 239,367
Jolol Local Govermnment Corporation - 239.34% = 269,369 E35.369
Total component units 3 14976670 § 400,225 § |328.148) § 15048747 % 400,254
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The City reports thirty one individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
govemmental fund's Balance Sheet and in the governmental fund's Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for the City's six maijor funids - General Fund, Section 8 Fund,
streets CIP Fund, Grants Fund, Debt Service Fund, and the Epic 2 CIP Fund. Data for other nonmajor
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each
of the nanmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this
report.

Proprietary funds — The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds — enterprise funds and
internal service funds.

Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities of the
govemment-wide financial statements. The City uses enterprise funds to account for its water and
wastewater system, solid waste sanitary landfill, storm water utility, municipal girport, and municipal goilf
courses. Propriefary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial
statements, only in more detail. The City has five enterprise funds of which fwo are madjor enterprise funds
— the Water Wastewater Fund and the Solid Waste Fund, Data from other nonmajor enterprise funds are
combined info a single, aggregated preseniation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual
fund data for each of these nor-major enterprise funds is provided in the form of combining statements
elsewhere in this report.

Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among
the City's various functions. The City uses internal service funds fo account for vehicle and equipment
maintenance and the premiums, deductibles, and claims for all insurance programs (e.g. employee
hedaith, workers compensation, general liability, etc.). Because these services benefit both governmental
and business-type functions, they have been allocated to both activifies in the government-wide
financial statements in proportion to services received. The City's two infernal service funds are combined
info a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial staterments. Individual fund data
for the City's internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

Notes to the financial statements - The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the govemnment-wide and fund financial statements.

Other information — In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
ciso presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City's progress in funding its
obligation to provide pension benefils fo its employees.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmaijor governmental funds, nonmajor

enferprise funds, and internal service funds are presented immediately following the required
supplementary information.

1
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Total assets of the City at September 30, 2021 were $1,488,179,949, defered outfiows of resources were
$23,536,997. total liabilities were $765,037,939, and defered inflows of resources were $22,244,594 resulting
in anet position of $724,434,431.

The largest portion of the City's net position, $563,649,296 (77.9%), reflects its investment in capital assets
{land, buildings and improvements, infrastructure, vehicles, machinery, and equipment), less any related
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these assets to provide services to ifs citizens;
consequently these assets are not available for fulure spending. Although the City reports its capital assets
net of related debt, the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since
the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liguidate these liabilities.

Table 1 below is a summary of the City's net position at year end compared to the prior year.

Table 1
Net Position
Governmeantal Butiness-lype Total
Aciivities Achivifies Primary Gavernment
$130/2020 EE 9302020 P30/ 2021 §/30/2020 93072021
Cash and Investments $ 259942938 § 353890403 § 114953733 3 119151420 3 3748946470 3 47and2023
Olher assefs 26,581,255 17.721.010 12,403,270 17,805,415 38,984,525 35,527 425
Capilal assets, net 703,895,868 727.302.684 245,007,070 252,307,837 948,902,958 $79.610.521
Tolal assets 90,420,061 1.098.914.297 72344093 389,265,672 1,362, 784,154 1,488,175.949
Celered outflows of
FEsOUICes 21,526,904 20,659,107 2309822 2,877,870 23836726 23,534.957
Current liabilities 35,937,593 55012967 13.475.498 14,250,432 50,413,291 69,263,359
Long-lerm bonded debt 416,024,621 459,358,630 51,248,478 45,686,745 4467 273097 535045375
Cther noncurrent Fabities 142,026,244 138,687,073 19.864.425 2,042,092 161,690,445 160,729,165
Totaol liobiities 594,988,458 683,058,670 &4,588,601 B1.979.269 &79.577 059 765,037,939
Deferred Inflows of
resources 20,878,302 203816 1,725,500 2,230,780 22,603,802 22,244,596
Met Position
Net Investment in
capital assels 334,590,522 356,640,773 193,394,460 207,008,523 59,985,182 563,645,276
Restricted 58.788.228 76,342, E78 61,272,475 88,209,339 120,060,703 164,552,217
Urrestricted 701,455 |14.482.733) 33,692,679 12,715,651 34,394,134 [3,767 062}
Tolal net position 3 6080205 § 416500918 § 288357814 § 307933513 3 sB444DD17 3 72443443

A portion of the City's net position totaling $164,552,217, or 22.8%, represents resources that are subject to
external restrictions on how they may be used.

The City's net position increased by $39.994,412 from the prior fiscal year due to an increase in charges
for services, sales tax collections, franchise fee collections, and grant contributions. Overall water and
wastewater rates increased approximately 4%.

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

G. Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue is a liability for resources obtalned prior to revenue recognition. Below s a summary of
the City's unearned revenue as of September 30, 2021.

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Tatal

Prepaid pipeline lease $ 804,981 % 113614 % 718,595
Prepaid arrangements - Cemetery Fund 2,029,867 - 2,029,867
Unspent grant funds - Texas Water Development Board - 905,406 05,4064
Prepaid rental deposits - Parks 285,218 - 284,218
Park Venue Fund deposits on evenls fo be held 7.519 - 7519
Event Revenue 39,762 - 39,762
Unspent grant funding 18,354,828 - 18,354,828

Total unearned revenue $ 21,523,175 % 1019220 & 22,542,395

H. Llong-Term Obligations

Compensated Absences and Postemplovment Benefits

Governmental activities record liabilities for compensated absences and retiree posternployment costs
af the government-wide financial statement level. Generally, these liabilities are paid from the General
Fund. Liabilities for business-type activities are recorded and liquidated in the fund that incurs the liabllity.

Long-Term Debt

Governmental Activities

Long-term debt in the governmental activities' column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position
consists of general obligation bonds {including refunding), certificates of obligation bonds, sales tax
revenue bonds, and unamortized bond premiumy/discounts.

General obligation bonds and certificates of obligation provide funds for the acquisifion and construction
of capital equipment and facilifies. General obligation bonds are direct obligations issued on o pledge
of the general faxing power for the payment of the debt obligations of the City, General obligation bonds
and cerfificates of obligation require the City to compute, at the time other faxes are levied, the rate of
tax required to provide (in each year bonds are outstanding) a fund to pay interest and principal at
maturity.
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Significant transfers from Business-Type Activities fo Governmental Activities:

$6,325,724 from the Storm Waler Utility fund fo the Drainage fund for capital project funding.
$48,000 from the Airport fund to the Capifal Lending Reserve fund for repayment of interfund loan.
$150,000 from the Water and Wastewaier Fund to the Other CIP fund for IT acquisitions.
$1,263,985 from the Water and Wastewater Fund to the Street Maintenance Fund for paymenits in
lieu of property toxes

3497,500 from the Water and Wastewater Fund fo the Grants Fund for project funding

$200,000 from the Solid Waste Fund to the Municipal Facilifies Fund for capital project funding
$450,000 from the Solid Waste Fund to the Other CIP fund for capital project funding.

$40,963 from the Solid Waste Fund to the Fleet Services Internal Service Fund for capital assets.

$97.121 from the Solid Waste Fund to the Street Maintenance Fund for paymentsin lieu of property
faxes

Other significant transfers made between governmental funds included the following:

46,560,077 from the General to the Park Venue for fiscal operations

35,470,542 from the Streets CIP Fund to the Grants Fund for capital project funding.

$37.693,951 from EPIC 2 CIP Fund to the TIF #1 EPIC CIF Fund to create the new fund for EPIC
capital projects,

$6,700,000 from the General to the Capital Lending Reserve for future capital needs and
improvement.

$2,940,000 from the General fo the T & Equipment Acquisifion funds {annual appropriation)

$10,393,527 from the General to the Grants fo fund mateching requirements related fo operating
grants

$1,500,000 from the Park Venue to the Park Capital Fund for improvements to infrastructure and
equipment at city wide parks

F. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Unavdilable Revenue
The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from the following sources:

General Debt Service
Fund Fund Total
Properly taxes 3 1905045 % 928,844 § 2,833,887
Armbulance 138,616 - 138,616
Total $ 2043661 % 928844 } 2,972,505

In the Govermnment-Wide Statement of Activities, these amounts were reported as revenue in the period
in which they were eamed.

64

City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Management's Discussion and Analysis - Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021

{Unaudited)

The fiscal year 2021 compared to fiscal 2020 changes in the City's net posifion were as follows:

Revenues:
Program fev enues:
Chorges for services
Operaling grants and confribuliors
Capila grants ond confributions
General revenues:
Proparty foax
Sales fax
Olher fax
Franchise fees
Investment mcome

Tolol rev erwes

Experses:

Support services

Public sofely services

Recreafion ond lebure services

Developman services

Inferest on long-term debt

Water and wastew oler

Solld waste

Municipal airport

Municipal golf course

Stormwaber

Total expanses
Increcses [decreases| In net position
betore fransfers
Trangars

Change In net posifion
Met posilion - begirning of year
Net position - end of year

Table 2
Changes in Net Position
Governmeniol Business-fype Totol
Activilies Activifies Primory Governmenlt

7/30/2020 9430/ 2021 #/30/2020 9302021 2/30/ 2020 9430202
5 43,209,737 3 50828428 3 I0ATFREAVZ % 110402425 3 150088231 % 161,231.053
63,784,399 45,398,240 26,304 . 43,880,705 45,576,240
417,050 E3T4.547 10,049,185 15545712 10,486,235 22.520,479
114,020,550 113,824,809 - 114,020,970 113,824,809
70,808,592 80,187.852 - - 0608372 80,187 852
1.794.491 2344924 - - 1.774.421 2366924
13,903,806 14,022,352 . - 13903804 14,022,352
7,952,484 333285 25770 (RAL 7978434 334,400
317,971,531 313857087 116,989,753 125,949,253 434,761,784 437,884,320
31.310.741 31,880,593 = - 3310741 31,880,573
15728877 105,285,879 % 113728877 105,285877F
32,547 455 35,142,022 32,949 455 35,162,022
10,126,929 102,073,042 126929 10%.073,042
12,489,169 14004, 156 3 = 12,489,149 14,004,156
. . 73,211,370 £1.889.957 73211370 81,887,959
- 13,044,195 13,904,365 13044195 13,704,245
- 2,529,664 2974666 2.52%.664 LETH AGE
3,452,349 3,141,846 3452349 3,141,846
- 2,497,132 2573,380 2,497,132 2.573.380
300.805.171 295,405,652 4,734,710 104,486,214 395,539.881 399,891,908
17,166,340 18,531,375 22,255,043 21,463.037 37421403 39994412

4 530,599 1,887,336 [4.830.999) |1,589.338) = -
21,997,359 M40, 17,424,044 14.573.45% 7421403 3.594.412
374082846 394,080,205 270,935,770 2BB.357.814 45018414 &64,440019
3 394080205 3 416500918 § 288359814 $ 307933513 4  684,440017 $ 7243443

Governmental activities - Governmental activities increased the City's net pasition by $20,420,713 in
comparison with beginning net position, primarily due fo an increase in sales fax collections, and
additional federal funding received. Net position of governmental operations accounts for 57.5% of total

net position.

Business-type activities — Business-type activities increased the City's net position by $19.573.699 in
comparison with beginning net position. Overall operating revenues and expenses increased
proportionately, Net position for business-type activities represents 42.5% of total primary government net

position.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS

Governmental funds — The focus of City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the
City's financing requirements. In particular, unrestricted fund balance may serve as a useful measure of
a govermnment's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

At fiscal year-end 2021, the City's governmental funds |excluding internal service funds) reported
combined ending fund balances of $299,266,048, an increase of $45,150,938 in comparison with the prior
year. The unassigned fund balance portion is 15.6% and is available for spending at the govermnment's
discretion. The remainder is restricted for specific purposes and is not available for new spending. Specific
purposes include non-spendable inventories and prepaid items [$491,473); amounts restricted by bond
covenants or granting agencies ($189,073,380) either for debt service payments, grant-related use,
special taxing disfricts, or for capital projects. In addition, committed funds {$50,721,090) require formal
action by City Council. Finally, funds may be assigned ($2,412,477) by City Manager with the
City Council's delegated authority. Figures 1 and 2 that follow show the distribution of govemmental
funds' sources of revenues and expenditures including transfers, $380,450,358 and $445,103,070,
respectively, for fiscal year 2021,

Figure 1 Figure 2
Revenue Sources Expenditures
Governmental Funds Governmental Funds

= Property Taxes = Supporf Ssrvicas

= Fublic Salety

= 50les Taxes
Recreation ond
; Lelsure
ronct F
Franchise Fees « Davslopman|
seIvices
= Senvice, Fees, and = Copilal Qutlay

Fines
* Principal Paymenis
= Infergovermmental

= Inleresl

* Transfers/Olhar = Transfers Oul

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At fiscal year-end, unassigned fund balance of
the General Fund was $46,567,628, while total fund balance was $50,006,374. As a measure of the General
Fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to
total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 34.9% of total general fund operating
expenditures, while total fund balance represents 37.5% of that same amount. General Fund's fund
balance decreased in the amount of $10,642,056 from the prior fiscal year largely due to $10.7M in CARES
funding received from the counties of Dallas and Tarrant.

Other major funds with significant changes in fund balance include Streets CIP, Grants, Debt Service and
Epic 2 CIP.

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Two of the City's enterprise funds, the Water and Wastewater Fund and the Solid Waste Fund, make
payments in lieu of property faxes to the Street Maintenance Fund, which Is a Nonmajor Governmental
Fund to provide funding for street repairs. The payments are calculated by applying the City's property
fax rate to the net book value of the enterprise funds' capital assets. Since the calculation methodolagy
is not the same as that applied to similar activities in the private sectorin several respects, these payments
are recorded as transfers in/out rather than as operating revenues/expenses,

At September 30, 2021, fransfers between the City's governmental activities and the City's business-type
activities consisted of the following:

Transfers In
General Saction 8 Streels Granis Debl Epic 2
Tronsfers Oul Fund Fund CIP Fund Fund Service Fund CIP Fund
Generdl Fund 3 - $ - 3 - $ 10393527 % - b
Streels CIP Fund ~ - + 5,470,542 .
Grants Fund 2 = ~ =
Debt Service Fund - = - - - -
Epic 2 CIP Fund - - - - z -
MNonmajor Govemmental Funds - - - 11,730 750,000 -
Internal Service Funds = - 2 = = =
Water & Wastew aler Fund - - = 497,500 - =
Solid Waste Fund = - - - - -
Monmajor Enterprise Funds - - - - =
Total $ = $ E b - b 16373299  § 950000 %
Transfers In
MNonmajor Water Solid Other Internal
Govemnmmentd  Wastewaler Washe Monmajor Service
Tromsfers oul Funds Fund Fund prise Funds Fund Total
General Fund $ 14557229 § 6200000 § - 3 - 3 - % 33,150,756
Streels CIP Fund - - - - - 5,470,542
Grants Fund 307,427 - - - - 309,427
Debt Service Fund = - - 187,955 - 187,955
Epic 2 CIP Fund 37,693,551 . = = . 37,693,251
Monmajor Govemmenial Funds - 7,942,535 16,000 - 350,000 - 11,270,265
Internal Service Funds 241,040 - - - - 261,040
Waler & Waoslew ater Fund 1,413.985 - - - - 1,911,485
Solict Waste Fund 297,121 - - - 40,963 358,084
Monmajor Enterprise Funds 6,373,724 = - - - 4,373,724
Tolal § 72849012 § 6216000 § = 3 537955 % a0963  § 94987229

Significant fransfers from Governmental Activities to Business-Type Activities:

« $6.200,000 from the General Fund to the Water and Wastewater Fund for pooled cash coverage

= $16,000 from the Public Impravement District (PID) fund to the Water and Wastewater Fund for PID
funding.

« $350,000 from the Parks Venue fund to the Golf fund for golf course cperations.
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Cost Reimbursements

The cost of the City's central general and administrative services is allocated to the designated special
revenue and enterprise funds. These costs are reporfed as interfund services provided and used rather
than interfund transfers. Interfund services provided and used are arms-length fransactions between
departments or funds that would be treated as revenues, expenditures or expenses if they were with an
external organization. The distinguishing aspect of inferfund services provided and used are that each
department or fund both gives and receives consideration.

Cost reimbursements for general and administrative services (indirect costs) are recorded as general and
adminisirative revenue in the City's General Fund. Indirect costs are recorded as general and
administrative expenses in the funds receiving these services.

For the year ended September 30, 2021, cost reimbursements were as follows:

Fund Armount
Water and wostew ater funds $ 4,577,846
Solid waste funds 560,806
Starmwater funds 106,582
Alrport fund 79,538
Ofher nenmajor govemmental funds 248,760
Total fo general fund $ 5,573,532

Franchise F

The City's enterprise funds, which use public right-of-way, pay franchise fees fo the General Fund as if
they were organizations separate from the City. These fees are not taxes, but are compensation to the
City for the use of the City's right-of-way. These payments, 4% of gross revenues, are reported as interfund
services provided and used rather than inferfund fransfers, and are reported as revenue |franchise fees)
in the General Fund and expenses in the enterprise funds.

For the year ended September 30, 2021, franchise fees paid fo the General Fund were as follows:

Fund Amount
Water and wostew ater funds 3 3,408,287
Solid waste funds 478,818
Stormwater funds 344,068
Total $ 4,181,173

Interfund Transfers

Interfund transfers are made to 1) move revenues from the fund with collection authorization to the debt
service fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due, 2) move restricted amounts
from borrowings to the debt service fund to establish mandatory reserve accounts, 3] move unrestricted
revenues to finance varous programs that the govermment must account for in other funds in
accordance with budgetary authorizations, including amounts provided as subsidies or matching funds
for various grant programs, and 4) make payments in lieu of property taxes.
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The Streets CIP Fund decreased by $2,359,295 due to an increase in street construction projects.

The Grants Fund increased by $6,726,875 due primarily to fransfers into the Grants Fund to pay the City's
portion of federal and state funded projects.

The Debt Service Fund increased by $1,298,339 due to property tax assessments netted against debt
payments.

The Epic 2 CIP Fund decreased by $37,693,951 due fo a fransfer to the Tax Increment Financing CIP Fund.

The Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds had o collective increase in fund balance of $105,130,445 primarily
due to bond proceeds for the EPIC project.

Proprietary funds — The Cily's propristary funds provide the same type of information found in the
govemment-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

The net position of the City's enferprise funds and internal service funds were $304,885,990 and $19.953,406
respectively, af September 30, 2021. The enterprise funds' net investment in capital assets represented
47.9% of total enterprise fund's net position. The internal service funds' net investment in capital assefs
represented 8.5% of fofal infernal service funds’ net position. The enterprise funds' unrestricted net position
was 3.2% of their total net position, and intemal service funds' unrestricted net position was 91.5% of their
total funds' net position. The City's enferprise funds and the internal service funds reported income before
confributions and fransfers of $5.798,504 and $1.304,189, respectively. Other factors concerning the
finances of the proprietary funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the govermnment-wide
financial statements and business-type activities. The following Figures 3 and 4 show the proprietary funds’
revenues of $144,550,515 and expenses of $136,623.505 (excluding non-operafing revenues and
expenses, and confributions and transfers) by activity,

Figure 3 Figure 4
Revenues by Activity Expenses by Activity
Proprietary Funds Proprietary Funds

= Water and
Wastewaler

» Waoler and
Woslewaler

= Solid Wasie » Sofid Wosle

Oiher Enlerprise Furds Other Enterprise Funds

» Infemal Service Funds » Internal Servica Funds
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Actual General Fund revenues were $7,851,589, or 5.4%, higher than final budgeted revenues for fiscal
year 2021. Froperty taxes, sales faxes, and franchise fees were 83,6% of General Fund budgeted revenues.
Actual General Fund expenditures were $3,543,778, or 2.6%, lower than final budgeted expenditures for
fiscal year 2021. Budgeted excess of revenues over expenditures before other financing sources and uses
was $9,286,713 compared fo acfual of $20,682,080, resuling in a net positive budget variance of
$11,395,367. The City fraditionally budgets revenue conservatively and this practice frequently results in
positive budgetary variances.

Net change in fund balances of the General Fund, including cther financing sources and uses such as
fransfers, resulfed in a net positive budget variance of $12,020,066.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital Assets — The City's investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, for its
govemmental and business-type activities at fiscal year-end amounted to $979,610,521. This investment
includes land, buildings, improvements other than buildings (includes infrastructure), machinery and
equipment, and construction in progress. The City's capltal assefs increased from prior year by
$30,707.566.

Major capital projects occurring during the fiscal year included the following:

+ Confinved ambulance and engine replacement

*  Construction of Phase I, IIl and IV of the Municipal Complex

* Confinued street rehabilitation

+ Confinued street assessment implementation

+ Confinued sidewalk construction

* Confinued improvements to the water distribution and sewer system
* EPIC Central construction project

The City's capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, at fiscal year-end was as follows:

Table 3
Capital Assets
Governmenial Business-type Totol
Activities Activities Prirary Government
G130/ T2 973072021 F/30/2020 9430/2021 943072020 G300 H021
Laind 5 47057807 % 55146552 § 5105222 % 5123353 % 52263189 % 40,285 505
Consfruction in progress 180,158,845 N.8746.079 34107743 34,514,261 214,264,589 126,390,340
Depreciable capital assels 1,032,253,541 1.158.411,197 449,698,086 472,133,576 1,481,951,627 1,630,550,773
Accumualed depreciation (555,674, 428) [578,151,144) 1243,903.951) (259, 469.353) [799.578.387) {B37,620,457)
Tolal capital assets, net $ 703895888 } 77002484 0§ 45007090 § 252307837 0§ 9400958 §  979.410.52

Additional information regarding capital assets can be found in Note 2.D.

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
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Al September 30, 2021, a summary of changes in capital assets of the Housing Finance Corporation was
as follows:

Balance Transfers/ Balance
January 1, Additions/ Disposals/ December 31,
Housing Finance Corporation 2020 Completions Reclasses 2020
MNon-depreciable capital assefs;

Land $ 1,612,851 3 - 3 - 3 1,612,851
Total non-depreciable capital assets 1,412,851 - - 1,612,851
Deprecicble capital assels:

Buildings 21,086,364 443,569 497167 22,027,100

Less accumulated depreciation (10.286.691) (1,021,146} (497,167) (11,805,004)
Total depreciable capital assets, net 10,799,673 {577.577) - 10,222,096
Housing Finance Corporation

assets, net $ 12412524 % [577.577) % - $ 11834947

At September 30, 2021, a summary of changes In capital assefs of the Local Government Corparation
was s follows:

Balance Transfers/ Bolance
Cctober 1, Addifions/ Disposalsf September 30,
Local Government Corporation 2020 Completions Reclasses 2021

Non-depreciable capital assets:

Land $ - $ 488533 % - 3 4,885,331

Construction in progress - 50,000 - 50,000

Total nen-depreciable capital assefs - 4,935,331 - 4,935,331
Local Government Corporation

assets, total % = 3 4935331 3 - $ 4,935,331

E. Interfund Transactions

Interfund Receivables and Pavables

Advances between funds are accounted for in the appropriate interfund receivable and payable
accounts, and are reported as "due foffrom other funds. A summary of interfund receivables and
payables balances at September 30, 2021, Is as follows:

Payable Fund
Nonmajor
Generdl Governmental
Receivable Fund Fund Funds Total
Granls Fund $ 23000000 $% - $ 28.000,000
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 112,000,000 1.371.317 113,371,317
Water & Wastewater Fund 7,000,000 - 7,000,000
$ 147000000 § 1371317 148,371,317

The primary purpose of the interfund receivables and payables listed above is to cover cash shortages
in the reported funds.

&1



City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Balance Transfers/ Balance
October 1, Disposals/ September 30,
Business-Type Activities 2020 Additions Reclassification 2021

Men-deprecicble capital assets:

Land b3 5,105,222 3 18,131 $ = $ 5,123,353

Construction in progress 34,107,743 11,793,989 [11,387.471) 34,514,261
Total non-deprecioble copital assels 39,212,965 11,812,120 (11,387.471) 39.637.614
Deprecioble copital assefs:

Buildings 19,908,787 = 1,632,949 21,541,956

Equipment 28,107,787 3,147,298 [1.652,190) 29,602,895

Infrastructure 401,681,312 10,603,683 8,709,730 420,994,725
Total depreciable capital assels 449,686,086 13,750,981 8,690,507 472,139,576
Less accumulated depreciofion for:

Buildings (2.797,168) {666,443) S (10,457,609)

Equipment (14,053,940} (2.860.900) 1,557,505 (15,357,355)

Infrasfructure (220,058,838) [14.903.759] 1,308,208 (233,654,389)
Total accumuloted depreciation {243,903,764) (18,431,102} 2865713 (259,469,353)
Total depreciable capital assets, net 205,794,122 (4,680,121) 11,556,222 212,670,223
Total copital assets, net $ 245007087 %5 7131997 § 168,751 § 252307837

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental and business-type activities as follows:

Gaovernmental activities: Business-type activilies:

Support services $ 4,774,651 Water and wasiew ater $ 14,647,399
Public safety services 8,507,229 Solidwaste 1,803,759
Recreation and leisure services 9,746,647 Other business-type
Development sarvices 23,229.927 activities 1,979,944
Internal services funds (see note below) 306,092

Total business-type acfiviies % 18,431,102
Total governmental activities 3 46,564,546

Capital assefs held by the government's infernal service funds are charged fo various functions based on
their usage of the assets.

Al September 30, 2021, a summary of changes in capital assets of the Sports Corporation was as follows:

Balance Transfers/ Balance
October 1, Additions/ Disposals/ Seplember 20,
Sports Corporation 2020 Completions Reclasses 2021
Equipment $ 310,078 % - ] - $ 310,078
Less accurrulaled depreciation (310,078) - - [310.078)
Total 3 = $ = $ - $ -
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas

Management's Discussion and Analysis - Confinued
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021
{Unaudited)

Long-term debt — At September 30, 2021, the City had the following long-term liabilities:

Table 4
Long-Term Debt
Governmeantal Business-lype Tolal
Aciivifies Aclivities Primeary Government
F430/ 2050 o0 202Y 4202020 P30/ 2021 30/ 2090 90300021

Bonded debt 3 414024620 0§ 489358630 F SL24B478 §  454B4745 3 AT 2730F8 3 535045375
Compersaied absences 21,064,457 21,087,087 469,411 623,744 21,533,868 21,710,781
Othar past employment benetits 40,687 581 64,258,793 6275583 4.685,833 66,563,564 70,544,624
Net pension Babiity 59.113.940 49,226,664 4,470,085 5,649,497 63,584,025 54,876,141
Poliution liakbfity 20,900 27,350 - - 20,500 27,350
Closure and post closure fiability - - 8,548,944 2,083,018 645745 9,083,018
Oiher liabilifies 1.139.267 4.087.229 = = 1,139,367 4.087.229

Telal long-term debi $ 5SB0SOBAS 3 626045703 F  71,0112903 §  677IBBY  § EX16376B  § 695774540
Long-term debt to nef

position percantage 141% 151% 25% 2% L] PR

Of the total bonded debt, $489,358,630 or 91.5% is backed by the full faith and credit of the City with a
property tax pledge.

In February 2021, the City issued $23,215,000 in Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Cbligation,
Series 2021. The Certificates were issued for the purpose of paying confractual abligations to be (i)
acquiing, constructing, improving and equipping fire-fighting faciliies and liorary facilities, (i}
constructing, improving and equipping existing municipal facilities, (i) constructing street improvements,
including drainage, landscaping, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, entryways, pedestrion pathways, signage,
traffic signalization and street noise abatement incidental thereto and the acquisition of land and rights-
of-way therefor and (iv) professional services rendered in connection therewith.

In June 2021, the City issued $46,945,000 in General Obligation Bonds, Series 2021, and $16,935,000 in
Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021A. The bonds were issued for the
purpose of paying confractual obligations to be incurred for constructing street improvements, including
drainage, landscaping, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, enfryways, pedestrian pathways, signage, traffic
signalization and street noise abatement incidental thereto, and for the acquisition of land and rights-of-
way therefor within the reinvestment zone of the City known as the Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment
Tone Mumber One (TIF #1).

During this fiscal year, the City refired principal on outstanding bonded debt totaling $40,260.000. The
City's total interest expense for all bonded debt was $17,197,315.

Additional information is detailed in the Mote 2.H to the Basic Financial Statements.

The City's bond ratings by Fitch and Standard & Poor's are currently as follows:

Standard &
Fitch Poor's
General obligation bonds Ab AAA
Sales tax revenue bonds (taxable) Ab Ad-
Sales tax revenue bonds (tax-exempt) AA+ Ad-
Water and wastewater revenue bonds AAA AbA



City of Grand Prairie, Texas

Management's Discussion and Analysis = Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021
(Unaudited)

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates

The City's elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the fiscal year 2022
budget including tax rates and fees that will be charged for business-type activities. One of the biggest
factors contfinued to be the national economy and uncertainty caused by the pandemic. Building and
development growth rates continue to increase overall; and indicate healthy activities in the residential
sector and commercial type permitting. Although the City is largely built out and mature, there are still
several areas available, mainly in the south sector with higher end residential areas along Joe Pool Lake,
In addition, there is a leveling of multi-family developments, but a major increase in retail construction, in
large part due to toll road 141 and emerging destination facilities, such as Epic and Epic Waters.

The City population as of September 2021 was 200,640 which is a 2.8% increase over prior year, Residential
expansions contfinue in the south and new manufacturing and distribution companies continue to add
growth fo the City's economy. Even more growth is expected as a result of continued development and
maebility through the City. Roadway improvements, like widening of Camp Wisdom, Greaf Southwest
Parkway and |-30 frontage roads from SH 141 to McArthur continue to make additional demands on the
City for increased services. Our diverse economy, the overall DFW metroplex economy and maijor
transportation access all serve to create a synergy.

The following indicators were taken into account when adopting the budget for fiscal year 2022:

*  B.B89% increase in assessed property values;

+ AQ70%increase in sales tax collections over the prior year projected due to the continued effects
of the pandemic.

General Fund property fax revenues increasaed $5,388,394 or 7.05%. The opproved property tax rate
decreased by a half cent from 669998 to .664998. Other budgeted revenue sources include an increase
in the TIF Reimbursement, an increase in sales tax of $4,511,644, an increase in licenses and permits of
$466,340, and a decrease in Municipal Court fees of ($438,004).

Budgeted sales tax across all funds is $76,102,037, which is an increase over the year-end projections of
$75,541,058. This is mainly due to the ongoing pandemic and its unknown effect on the economy.

The City's fotal opproved budget for FY 2021-22 is $457,66%9,466, an increase of 5.1% as compared to the
prior yecr-end projections. The General Fund approved budget is $1462,884,614. This represents a 3.6%
increase over the prior year approved budget. The majority of this increase is related to an increase in
personnel services, an increase in the transfer to the park venue fund and an increase in the
reimbursements from other funds, The budget included a 3% Civil Service Step increase and a 3% non-
civil services merifincrease and un-freezing 10 positions previously frozen in the General Fund. Additionally,
funding was set aside to expand the PlayGrand all abilities park.

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Assets were restricted for the following purposes:

Governmental Business-Type

Purpose Activities Activifies Total
Customer deposils % 45600 % 5942774 § 5,988,374
Debl service 3792767 5,607,337 9,400,104
Capilal projects 73,903,750 55,606,358 129,510,108
Support services 2,602,224 - 2,602,224
Public safety 7.229,431 - 7,229,431
Recreation and leisure 26,949,596 - 26,949,596
Developmenl services 11,850,024 - 11,850,024
Other specific purposes 29,013,805 - 29,013,805
Tolal reshricted asseis $ 155387197 b 47,156,467 £ 222543666

D. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2021 was as follows:

Balance Transfers/ Balance
October 1, Dispasals/ September 30,
Governmental Activities 2020 Additions Reclassilication 2021

Non-depreciable capital assets:

Land b 47.157.907 $ 8008445 % - b 55166552

Construction in progress 180,158,846 45,250,111 (133,532,878) 91,876,079
Total non-depreciable capital assets 227,316,753 53,258,756 (133,532,878) 147,042,631
Depreciable capital assets;

Buildings 257,020,514 2,803,371 104,634,670 364,458,557

Equipment 130,371,982 4,320,133 [5.402,242) 129,309,873

Infrasfructure 644,841,043 5,908,518 13,893,206 H64,642,767
Total depreciable capital assets 1,032,253.541 13,032,022 113,125,634 1,158,411,197
Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings {94,109,832) (10,713,119} 1.236.598 (103,586,353)

Equipment (84,377.548) (10,960,643) 4,400,892 (88,937.299)

Infrastructure {377,187 ,046) (24,890,784) 14,450,338 (385,627,492
Total accumulated depreciation |555,674,426) (46,564,546) 24,087,828 (578.151,144)
Tolal depreciable capital assels, net 476,579,115 (33,532,524) 137,213,442 580,240,053
Total capital assets, net § 703,895,868 § 19726232 % 3.680,584 § 727,302,684
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

B. Receivables

Al September 30, 2021, receivables, including applicable allowances for uncollecticle accounts,
consisted of the following:

Debt Honmaior Internal Total
Governmenial Aclivities General Granis Service Governmental Service Governmental
Receivables:
Property faxes 3 2a7asn 3 - § L242.38) ¥ = 3 e 3 4.127.892
Sales toxes 7.780.887 - - 7789114 - 15,550,003
Franchise fees zanrez - N £0.025 - Z431.788
Other 3809030 32189 4458 1.813.034 84,060 5,742,973
Total recaivables, gross 14,840,190 32089 1,254,039 .642,178 B4.040 27.B52.656
Less:
Allowance for uncalleciioles [1.406,867) - (324,400} - = [1.731.287)
Tolal receivables, nat $ 15433303 5 32,189 § 9943 3 9642178 % B408D § 24121349
Water Solid Other Total
Business-Type Activities: Wastewaler Waste Nonmajor Business-Type
Receivables:
Trade accounts §$ 11131810 § 1810470 § 1019679 § 13961959
Other - 10,000 - 10,000
Total receivables, gross 11,131,810 1,820,470 1,019,679 13,971,959
Less:
Allow ance for uncollectibles 15,284,392) (1,249.617) {274,390) {6,808,399)
Total receivables, net $ 5847418 $ 570853 § 7457289 $ 7,143,560

C. Reslricted Assefs
At September 30, 2021, restricted assets consisted of the following:

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Tolal
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12105518 % 2958022 % 15063540
I estments 143,281,679 64,198,447 207,480,126

$ 155387197 § 67156469 § 222543668
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Management's Discussion and Analysis — Continued
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021
(Unaudited)

The City's approved appropriations for capital projects in fiscal year 2022 totals $60,360,502. Flanned
capital projects include:

+ 521,862,000 in water and wastewater projects
+  $19,090,830 In streets and signals projects

+  $3,396,000 in parks projects

+ $8.441,000 in storm drainage projects

Requests tor Information

This financial repert is designed to provide a general cverview of the City's finances for all those with
an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in
this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the City Controller,
City of Grand Prairie, Texas, 326 W. Main Street, P.O. Box 534045, Grand Prairie, Texas, 75053-4045.
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September 30, 2021

ilii vel t
The Corp has recurring fair value measurements as presented in the table below. The Corp's investment
balances and weighted average maturity of such investments are as follows:

Foir Value Measurements Using
Quoted Prices In Significant

Acfive Morkels Othar Sigrificand Weighled
for |denlical Observoble Unobservable  Averope
September 30, Assels Inputs Inpusts Malurity
021 (Level 1] (Level 2} Level 3 [Days) Cred Risk
Cash 3 108853 § - 3 - ¥

Investments measured ot amorfized cosi:
Invesimani Pools:
TexPool 2,019,554 - - - 1 AAAM
Invesiments by foir v alue levet:
U5 govermment ogency seouifies:
FHLB 2011.638 - 2011638 - 471 AAA

Tolal 3 11140045 § = § 2000438 % -

The Sports Corporation is authorized to invest in obligations of the U. 5. or its agencies and instrumentalities,
certain repurchase agreements, municipal securities with a rating of at least A, collaterdlized or insured
certificates of depesit, and SEC-registered, no-load money market mutual funds comprised of securities
allowed under the Public Funds Investments Act and public funds investment pools. At year-end, dll
investments of the Sports Corporation were held by the Sports Corporation's agent in the Sports
Corporation's name. The falr value of investments owned at September 30, 2021 was $9.019.554 in the
Public Funds Investment Pool (TexPool) and $2,011,638 in U.S. agency instrumentalities.

City and Grand Prairie Sports Facilities Development investment Portfolio

The asset mix of the City's and Sports Corporation's portfolic 5 expressed in terms of maximum
commitment so as to allow flexibility to take advantage of market conditions. The asset mix requirements
are as follows:

Sports
City Corporction
% Maximum % Maximum

1. U.5. Treasury bills and notes 100 100
2. U.5. ogency or instrumentality obligations [each type) 252 40
3. Repurchase agreemerits 0 20
4, Municipal securities (fotal) 40 40
5. Municipal securities (out-of-state) 40 40
&. Certificates of deposit (per institution) 20 20
7. Money marke! mutual fund 507 508
8, Public funds investment pool 50 100

a Total ogency investments imited o no more than 100% of the fotal porifolio.

b State low allows up 1o 80% of monthly average fund balance, excluding bond proceeds. The City limils its exposure fo 50% lo
reduce risk.

In addifion. the City may invest in calloble securifies but shall imit the fotal amount to no maore thon 50% of the portfolio. The Sports

Corporation does nol imit colloble securilies. The Cllty and Sporls Corporafion did not invest In any secwrilies differant from the
categories mentioned above during the 2020-2021 fiscal year,
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2021

Chapter 2257 Collateral for Public Funds of the Government Code requires that all deposits in financial

gt H i i in 3 Frimary _Component Units
institutions be fully collateralized by U.S. Government obligations or its agencies and instrumentalities or Gavemmental Business-Type
direct obligations of Texas or its agencies and insfrumentiaiities that have a market value of not less than e Actkies Aukviise 3
the principal amount of the deposits. The above book balance includes monies held in escrow, pushing Cash and cash squivalents § TEOTAM0 3 330 AeA § 5887928
the book balance above the collateral value, Per Wells Fargo Bank, N.A, and BNY Mellon's contractual 'R’:e?'”:b": » 'iﬁ?ﬁ: ';-72‘:; ';;;l’z; f‘;;g
4 ' 5 . gy v 5, 5 A<t & 4
obligation to the City, the collateral value held in the City's name ot September 30, 2021 was $9.620,797. A R e 714 i w4716 -
Irwv entorles omd supplins 585,545 595332 1190877 -
Gran irie Sports Facilities Development frepolhy S : 26709 kL2
= . e 5 Restricted assats:
At Sepiember 30, 2021, the carying armount of the Sports Corporation's deposits included in cash and Cash and cosh squivalerts 12.105.518 2756022 15,063,540 | 452052
cash equivalents was $109,090 while the bank balance of the Sports Corporation’s deposits was $110,460. Inv estments 143,281 679 64,198,447 207,480,126 o
: . 1 infernd bolonces [10.047,523) 10.047 523 - -
The bank bo]cmce was entirely covered by collateral held by the Sports Corporation's agent in the Sports e e P A B i 4 ) it
Corporation’s name. icksal v chie: - - 24,369,870
Capitol cusels:
Py . " . HNondeprecicile 147 42631 39637414 184,680,245 4,548,182
Grond Prairie Housing Finance Corporafion ) ) ) Depracictle, nel 580260053 212670205 792530276 1022209
The bank balance of HFC at December 31, 2020, including restricted cash, totaled $2,105,861 all of
which was covered by FDIC insurance and collateral held by the depository institution in HFC's name. g amals 1 WEH427 lin il L i B21823
HFC's unrestricted cash and cash equivalents had a balance of $653.74%. Resticted cash of $98,282 DEFERHED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
{tenant security deposits) represents cash held on depesit by HFC for insurance proceeds received for el pions i ppss
damages to federally funded assefs. The liability is recorded until final disposition of the proceeds is Relofed I TMRS pension 14558847 1470846 V6,239,653
regu:e;ied by HUD. Other assets include reserves of $142,857 and bonds held by a trustee of $1,210,092 as T~ T i S isaiu
a debt service reserve.
LLABILTIES
B ) Accounts payobls 14,647,071 5387752 0,054,873 233927
Grand Prairie Local Government Corporation Relainage poyoble 1,555,104 814832 2069936 -
At September 30, 2021, the carrying amount and bank balance of the Local Government Corporation's sl okl it ilisend Sl
deposits includfed in cash and cash ‘equivolems was $75,752. The‘bonk balonce was entirely covered by e Liblifas oyt o el ik ek ¥ :
Federdl Deposit Insurance Corporation [FRIC) Insurance through its financial institution. Accrued intarest 2403842 270875 2BT4BTT -
Cuslomas deposils 45500 5742774 5968374 FABET
Honcuren! iabilies:
Investm Due witkin one
; ’ 5 A e % i yeor:
The City and the Sports Corporation categorize its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy Compensated dosances 9479444 494,545 10173789 -
established by generally accepted accounting principles. GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Envirormenicl remacialion otigafion 2.3 " 27350 i
¥ 9 0 F . . Cher Rabilifies 478,682 % 475BB2 <
Measurement ond Application provides a framework for measuring fair value which establishes o P Al ot e s ) B S
three-level fair value hierarchy that describes the inputs that are used to measure assets and liabilifies. Duse in rresves fhon ane year:
Compersoled absences 11,400,5%3 129199 11534792
« Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that g‘x:’“‘_im::::e:“;‘_:" ST :;;J“ﬁ; ";;;*;:
: ity : ! Y
a government can access at the measurement date ) Ml pensicn oty 49,226,664 5640497 54876181
Oither bobiities 2408347 - 400,347 -
« Level 2inpuls are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for Lamg st A tenea 20798 AL T
an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly Tato lakkifes 63,058,670 L TaRr R 15458684
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
« Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. st m - égzﬁ lm;: 1;;9:-;:
percaon 5 ! "4
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inpuls ond the lowest priority fo Level 3 inputs. T clomrd oniicwl of g ool sk LA
If a price for an identical asset or liability is not observable, a government should measure fair value using :ﬁ POsmON. |
another valuation technique that maximizes the use of relevant abservable inputs and minimizes the use Pt S s R e
of unebservable inputs. If the fair value of an asset or lictbility is measured using inputs from more than one Debt service 2.112,57 5,607,537 7719504
level of the fair value hierarchy, the measurement is considered to be based on the lowest pricrity level :J"P““"';"’"'_‘" ;-:ﬁg: L ﬁ;fg‘;; T
. 1 . IPPOT Jervices 2 # * A4,
input that is significant to the entire measurement. Public sersly BTITTS 5 8IS .
Recreokon ond keisure: 25.387 474 25,387 474
Development sarvices 19,419,282 19,419,282 -
Ofher specific purposes 15,783,383 15,783,383 [163.617)
Facilly keosa = - I2TT4638
Replacemant reserve . ¥ - 146,372
Unrestricied [16.482.733] 12715651 (3.747.082) 11,510,327
Totad ned posifion 5 414500918 1) 307933513 F24.434.431 3 A7.558.549
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
September 30, 2021

Sheets
General Seclion@ CIF
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 2410868 § 2069115 % 2,603,020
Investments 192,067,383 533,109 12,340,381
Property tax receivable, net 2,047,547 - -
Sales tax receivable 7.780,887 - -
Franchise fees receivable 2,371,762 - -
Other receivables, net 3,233,107 - -
Intergovernmental recelv ables 72,397 - -
Due from other funds - - -
Inventory 432,008 - -
Prepaids - - -
Total assets 210,415,960 2,602,224 14,263,401
LIABILITIES
Accounis payable 4,265,643 55,859 1,402.174
Retainage payable = = 142,951
Accrued liobilities 6,583,457 104,040 =
Due o other funds 147,000,000 % -
Customer deposits - - -
Unearned revenue 516,825 - -
Total habilities 158,345,925 161,899 1.545.125
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavallable reyenue 2,043,661 - -
Total deferred inflows of resources 2,043,661 - -
FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 432,009 - -
Restricted 574,260 2,440,325 5,843,840
Comitted - - 7.574.414
Assigned 2,412,477 - -
Unassigned 46,567,428 - -
Total fund balances 50.006,374 2,440,325 13,418,276
Tolal liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances 3 210415940  § 2602224 % 14,963,401

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this stalement.
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+ Pension and OPEB investment experience - the difference between projected and actual
earnings of plan investments. The difference is deferred and recognized as pensicn plan expense
over a closed five-year period as required by GASB No. 68 and 75.

+ Pension and OPEB assumption changes - the difference resulting from a change in assumptions
used to measure the underlying net pension and OPEB liability. These differences are deferred and
recognized over the estimated average remcining lives of all members as of the beginning of the
measurement period.

Deferred inflows of resources represents an acquisition of net position that is applicable to a future
reporting period, and as so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources [revenue) until that time.
Deferred inflow of resources are reported in the basic financial statements the same as deferred outflows
of resources. The City has the following iterms that qualify for reperting in this category.

* Unavailable revenue - at the governmental fund level, property tax and ambulance receivables
recorded but not expected to be collected within than sixty days after fiscal year end are deferred
and recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue] in the period that the amounts become
available,

+ Pension and OPEB actuarial experlence - the difference between the expected and actual
expetience in the actuarial measurement of the total pension and OPEB liability not recognized in
the current year, This amount is deferred and amortized over a period of years determined by the
plan actuary. The amortization period is based on the estimated average remaining service lives
of employees that are provided with a pension or OPEB through the plans [active and inactive
employees) for the City determined at the beginning of the measurement date,

= OPEB assumplion changes - the difference resulting from a change in assumptions used to
measure the underlying net pension and OPEB liability. These differences are defered and
recognized over the estimated average remaining fives of all members as of the beginning of the
measurement period,

« Pension investment experience - the difference between projected and actual eamings of plan
Investments. The difference is defered and recognized as pension plan expense over a closed
five-year period as required by GASB Mo, &8.

Compensated Absences

Employees are granted vacation benefits in varying amounts, depending on tenure with the City. These
benefits accumulate pro rata by pay period. Payment for unused vacation will be made upon separation
of employment. Fire and police civil service employees who have completed their introductory period
are paid up ta 90 days sick leave upon separation of employment, excluding indefinite suspensions, The
valuation of the civil service sick leave is at current pay rates. The valuation of accrued compensated
absences includes salary-related payments such as the City's share of taxes and contributions to the
retirement plan in accordance with GASE 16,

Accrued compensated cbsence liobilities are reported in the respective columns in the
government-wide financial statements and in the proprietary fund financial statements. Compensated
absences are only reported in governmental funds if they are owed to separated employees at the end
of the fiscal year,
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Receivabl Payables

Major revenue sources susceplible to accrual are recorded as receivables when they become both
measurable ond availoble. Expenditures incurred during the current fiscal year but not yet paid are
recorded as payables at fiscal year-end.

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/berrowing armangements outstanding at
fiscal year-end are refered to as due to/from other funds.

Inventories ond Prepaid lfems

Inventory consists primarily of supplies and material and is recorded af cost when purchased and
expensed when consumed. For the General Fund, inventory is expensed onan actual specific-cost basis.
special Revenue and Enterprise Funds' inventory is charged out on a first-in, first-out basis, except for fuel
inventory which is charged out on a moving-average basis. Prepaid balances are for payment made by
the City in the current year fo provide services occuring in the subsequent fiscal year. The cost of prepaid
items is expensed when consumed rather than when purchased.

Accordingly, for both inventfories and prepaid items, fund balance is classified as nonspendable for an
amount equal o the cost to signify those funds are not available for spending.

Capital Assets and Deprecigtion

Capltal assets (i.e. land, buildings, equipment, improvements other than bulldings, infrastructure, and
construction in progress) of all the funds are stated ot historical cost or estimated historical cost if historical
cost is not known. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar iterns, and capital assets
received in a service concession arangement are recorded at acquisition value on the date donated.
An item is clossified as an asset if the initial, individual cost is $5,000 or greater. Capital assefs of the City
are reported in the applicable govermnmenial or business-type activities columns in the govemment-wide
financial statements and in the proprietary fund financial statements. Assets subject fo depreciation are
depreciated using the straighi-line method.

The estimated useful lives of all depreciable assets are as follows:

Buildings 20 - 40 years
Machinery and Equipment 5- 15 years
Improvements other than Buildings 20 - 40 years
Infrastructure 20 - 40 years

Deferred Outflows/inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources represents a consumption of net position by the City that is applicable to
a future reporting period, and as so wil not be recognized as an outflow of resources
|expenses/expenditures) unfil then. Deferred outflows of resources are reported in the government-wide
Staterment of Net Position for governmental and business-type activiies and in the Statement of Net
Pasition in the fund financial statements only for proprietary funds. The City has the following items that
qualify for reporting in this category.

+ Deferred charges on debt refunding — results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded
debt and its reacquisition price, This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life
of the refunded or refunding delbt.

« Pension and OPEB Employer contributions — confributions made from the measurement date of

the plans to the current fiscal year end (January to September). These contributions are deferred
and recognized In the subseguent fiscal year.
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Service

Total
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4,775,709

1,592,767
2,200,000
924,981

4,658

81,307 554
245,711,545
2,972.528
15,550,003
2,431,788
5,082,990
524,714
141,371,317
465,347
26,126

33,260,217

495,443914

44740
32517
136,110

18,354,828

14,042,169
1,555,104
7,667,996

148,371,317
45,600
21,523,175

19,268,315

5.997

728,844

193,205,361

2,972,505

13,991,902

928,844

3,787,565

2,972,505

471,473
189,073,380
60,721,090
2,412,477
46,567,628

13,951,902

3,787,565

299.266.048

33,260,217

4722406 3

495,443,914




City of Grand Prairie, Texas

Reconciliagtion of the Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2021

Total fund bal - total fal funds

amounts reported for govemmental aclivities in the slafemeni of nel posifion are differant
because:

Capital assets used in governmental octlivifies are not financiol resources, and thesefore, are not
reported in the funds (excluding internal service funds’ copitol assets of §1.473,167).

Cerloin revenues are nel ovailoble lo pay for cureni-period expenditures; therefore, these
revenues are deferad in the funds,

Cerloin assefs ond lobilities do not provide or require the use of cument finoncial resources;
theraiore, these assets and liobdfies are not reported in the govermmental funds,

Accrued inferest on long-term debt

Unamertized loss of bond refundings

Deferad pension and OPEB confributions, and investmen! and octuaral experience [excluding
infernal service fund fotals of $33,109).

Internal service funds are used by monagement o charge cesl of cerlain aclivilies. such as
employee healih insurance, risk management insurance, and fleet services, fo individual funds.
The osets and liabilifies of the infemal service funds ore included in govemmeantal oclivifies in the
gavernment-wide stalement of nel position |nal of amount clocated o business-type activities of
§3,047,523).

Noncurent Babilifies are not due and payable in the current period; therefore, they are not
reportad in the governmental fund balonce sheet, These noncurent liabiifies are as follows:

Long-ferm debt

Unamortized bond premium/discount, nat

Compensated absences [excluding inlemal servics fund lalals of $43,774)

Other post employment benelits {excluding nternal service fund fotals of $638.442)

Met pension fiabiity [excluding intemal service fund tolals of $799.040]

Environmenial remedialion cblioalion

Other iabllities

Nei pesilion of governmental aclivifles

The Motes fo the Basic Financial Slatements are on integral part of this statement,
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§ 299266048

725,609,517

2,972,505
§ (2.603.842)
2.196,319

11.501.084) 11.908,607)

16,905,883
$ (462.155.000
(27.203.430)
(21,023,263)
(43,420,351)
(48,427,408)
{27.350)

14.087.229] 626,344,428

§ 44500918

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

The City also reports unavailable and unearned revenues in its governmental funds. Unavailable revenues
arise when potentiol revenue does not meet both the measurable and available criteria for recognition
in the cument period. Unearmed revenues anse when the City receives revenue resources before It has
legal claim fo it, as when grant money is received prior to the incidence of qualifying expenditures. In
subsequent periods, when revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the City has a legal claim to the
resource, the revenue is recognized.

Froprietary Funds

As mentioned earlier, proprietary funds use the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. The accounting objectives for proprietary funds are the determination of net income,
financial pesition, and cash flows. Proprietary fund equity is segregated into (1) net investment in capital
assets; (2] reshicted net position, and (3) unrestricted net position. Proprietary funds distinguish operating
revenues and expenses from the non-operating items, Operating revenues and expenses generally result
from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with o proprietary fund's
principal ongoeing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
non-operating revenues and expenses.

The City reports two types of proprietary funds — enterprise funds and internal services funds.

Enterprse Fun

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar
to private business enterprises, where the intent is 1] that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of
providing goods and services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered
primarily through user charges, or 2) where the City Council has decided that periodic determination of
revenues earmed, expenses incurred and/or operating income generated is appropriate for the purposes
of capital maintenance, public policy, management control, and/or accountabilify. The City maintains
five enterprise funds - water and wastewater services, solid waste services, storm water services, airport
operations, and golf course operations. These enterprise funds are classified as business-type activities in
both the govemment-wide and governmental fund financial staternents.

Intemal Service Funds

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one
department to other departments within the City, on a cost-reimbursement basis. The City has two internal
service funds:

* Fleet Services Fund - accounts for a full range of services in managing and maintaining the
City's fleet of vehicles and equipment.

+ Risk Management Fund — accounts for premiums, deductibles and claims for the Clty's property,
liability, workers compensation, and employee health and life insurance programs. The City
reports all risk financing activities in the Risk Management Fund.

E. Assels, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows Resources, and Net Position/Fund Balances

[B] its and Investments

The City maintains a cash and investment peol that is available for use by all funds. Interest earnings are
recorded in the General Fund unless it is required by regulations or agreements to allocate to certain
funds. In fiscal year 2021, the funds receiving allocation of interest earnings were the Grants Fund, Epic 2
CIP Fund, and the Police Seizure Funds. For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the City considers
cash on hand, demand deposits, and investments with original maturities of three months or less to be
cash equivalents.
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Statement of Activities

Discretely Presented Component Units
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes In Net Posiflon
Compenent Unlis

Program
Operaling Capital
Charges Grants and Grants and
F i Activity Expensas for lces Contributi c
Cormponent Unils
Governmental aclivifies:
Grand Pralie Lecal Governmen! Corporation ] 239,389 3 0 % 5011073 % =
Total governmental activities 239,349 10 5.011,073 -
Business-type activilies:
Grand Prairie Sports Focilifies Development 5,832,409 959,085 - 784,584
Grand Prairie Housing Finance Corporation 4,364,841 5541718 - -
Totdd business-type aclivities 12,197,050 6,500,813 - 786,584
Total Component Unils 5 12,436,419 % 6900823 3 5011073 % 786,584

General revenues:

Investment income
Tolal general revenues

Change In net position
Net posifion - beginning of year

Met position - end of year

The Motes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this stotement,

38

Grand Prairie Grand Prairie Grand Frairie
Sporls Housing Lecal
Facllifies Finance Governmeni
Devel t Cor Cory Total
= 3 3 4771714 4771714
- - 4771714 A 771714
(4.086,730) = 4,086,730}
4 (422.923) [422.923)
(4.086,730) |422.523) 14,507,653}
(4,086,730 § (422923} § 4771,14 262061
12.093 2,606 14,69%
12,093 2,606 14,659
(4.074,637) 1420,317) 477,04 276,760
48,295,006 (1.013.197} - 47,281,807
44,290,367 § (1,433.514) % 4,771,714 47,558,569
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Investment Polic

The City is required by Government Code Chapter 2256, the Public Funds Investment Act (Act), to adopt,
implement, and publicize an investment policy, That policy must be written, primarily fo emphasize safety
of principal and liquidity; address 1) investment diversification, yield, and maturity, and 2} the quality and
capability of investment management; include a list of the types of authorized investrnents in which the
investing entity's funds may be invested; and, the maximum allowable stated maturity of any individual
investment owned by the entity.

The City Council has adopted investment policies (policies) which are in accordance with the laws of the
State of Texas, where applicable. The policies identify authorized investments and investment terms,
collateral requirements, safekeeping requirements for collateral and investments and cerfain invesiment
practices.

The Act requires an annual audit of investment practices. Audit procedures in this area conducted as
part of the audit of the basic financial statements disclosed that in the areas of investment practices,
management reports and establish appropriate polices. Authorized investments include abligations of
the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities (except for mortgage pass-through securifies),
repurchase agreements, municipal securities, public funds investment pools, SEC reguiated money
market mutual funds and collateralized or insured cerfificates of deposit. The City adheres to the
requirements of the Act. Additionally, investment practices of the City are in accordance with local
policies.

The investment policies require that repurchase agreements be made pursuant to a master agreement,
the collateral is a U. S. Treasury bill, note or bond; the security is held in safekeeping by the City's custodial
agent; and the investment is fransacted "delivery vs. payment" so that the City's interest in the underlying
security Is perfected. The City does not invest in reverse repurchase agreements. No City monies were
invested in repurchase agreements at Septemiber 30, 2021,

Investment Risk
Interest rate risk - In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages ifs exposure fo declines in
fair values by limiting the weighted average maturity of its investments portfolio to less than twelve months.

Credit risk - State law limits investments in commercial paper if the commercial paper s rated not less
than A-1 or P-1 or an equivaient rating by at least two nationally recognized credit rafing agencies or
one nationally recognized credit rating agency and is fully secured by an imevocable letter of credit
issued by a bank organized and existing under the laws of the United States or any state, The City’s policy
does not allow investments in commercial paper.

Concentration of credit risk — Investments shall be diversified to reduce the risk of loss resulting from
over-concentration of investments in a specific maturity, a specific Issue. or a specific class of securities.
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

The City has recurring fair value measurements as presented in the table below. The City's investment
balances and weighted average maturity of such investments are as follows:

Far Yalue Measurements Using:
Quoled Prices in Significant

Active Markels CHher Sigrificant Weighlad
for Idenbical Observable Unobservable  Averoge
September 30, Assety Inpuls Inputs Maturity
2021 [Leval 1] jLevel 2) (Level 3) |Days) Credit Risk
Cesh 3 &siBDZ § ~ 3 - 3 -
Irvestments measured at omarlized cost:
v esiment Poals:
TexPool B0, 230,288 - - = 1 AXAM
Irvestments measuwred al net ossel value [NAV):
Investmeni Pook:
TexShar A7 491,495 - - B 1 AdAM
Investments by fair viclue level:
U5 government ogency securilies
US Treasuries P 487917 - 91487917 + 04 AAA
Municipal bonds 38,701,519 = 34,700,519 334 AAA
FAMCA T&,114,433 - 16,116,433 - 485 Mol Raled
FFCB 52,047,938 - 52,067,938 - s ARA
FHLE 3856003 - 3856093 = 47 AMA
FHLMC 29,8582 - 29,885,821 - 105 AR
FrpAA 568,486,298 - 56,486,298 - 405 AAA
Tolal § 473042023 5 = § 48402019 % n

The amounts for TexStar and TexPool (pooled investments) are reported as cash equivalents in the
Statement of Net Position.

The TexPool investment pool is an external investment pool measured at amertized cost. In order to meet
the criteria to be recorded at amortized cost, the Investment pool must transact at a stable net asset
value per share and maintain certain maturity, quality, liguidity and diversification requirements within the
Investment pool. The investment pool transacts at a net asset value of $1.00 per share, has weighted
average maturities of sixty days or less and weighted average lives of 120 days or less. Investments held
are highly rated by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations, have no more than 5% of
portfolio with one issuer (excluding U.S. government securities) and can meet reasonably foreseeable
redemptions. The maturity of the City's position in this investment pool is based on the average maturity
of the pool's Investrnent. The investment pool's authority may only impose resfrictions on redemptions in
the event of a general suspension of frading on major securlties markets, general banking moratorium or
national state of emergency that affects the poal's liquidity.

The TexStar investment pool is an external investment pool measured at NAV. TexSfar's strategy is to
seek preservation of principal, liguidity and cumrent income through investment in a diversified portfolio of
short-term marketable securities. The City has no unfunded commitments related fo the investment pools.
TexStar has a redemption notice period of one day and may redeem dally. The investment pool's
authorities may only impose restrictions on redempfions in the event of a general suspension of trading
on major securities markets, general banking moratorium or national or state emergency that offects the
pool's liguidity.

U.5. Government Agency Securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a

matrix pricing technigue. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to
benchmark quoted prices.
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

The GASE issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, This Statement establishes accounting and financial
reporting requirements for specific issues related to leases, infraentity fransfers of assets, postemployment
benefits, government acquisitions, risk financing and insurance-related activities of public entity risk pools,
fair value measurermnents, and derivative instruments, This statement will become effective for the City in
fiscal year 2022,

The GASE issued Staternent Mo. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates. This Statement establishes
accounting and financial reporting reguirements related fo the replacement of IBORs in hedging
derivative instruments and leases. This statemeant will become effective for the City in fiscal yeaor 2021/2022,

The GASB issued Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans - an amendment of GASE
Staternents No. 14 and No. 84, and a supersession of GASB Statement Mo, 32. This Statement modifies the
applicability of certain component unit criteria as they relate to defined contribution pension plans,
defined contibution OPEB plans, and other employee benefit plans, This staterment will become effective
for the City in fiscal year 2022/immediately.

The GASB issued Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financlal Report. This Statement was
issued in Cctober 2021 and establishes the term annual comprehensive financial report and its acronym
ACFR, That new term and acronym replace instances of comprehensive annual financial report and its
acronym in generally accepted acceounting principles for state and local govemments. The
implementation of this standard changed the report name fo the Annual Comprehersive Financial
Report. The City implemented this standard in fiscal year 2021,

D. Basis of Presentation

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The two govemment-wide financial statements, the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities, report information on all activities of the City, including component units. Governmental
activities, which include those activities primarily supported by taxes or intergovermmental revenue, are
reported separately from business-type activities which generally rely on fees and charges for support.
Significant revenues generated from business-type activities include charges to customers for water
and wastewater services, golf course fees, girport user charges, solid waste collection services, and
storm water utility fees. As a general ule, the internal activity between govermmental activities and
businass-type activities is eliminated from the government-wide financial statements except that charges
for administrative overhead services provided by the governmental activities fo the business-type
activities are included as revenues to the governmental activities and expenses o the business-type
activities.

The Statement of Activities reports the change in the City's net position from October 1, 2020 to
September 30, 2021. This statement demonstrates the degree fo which the direct expenses of a given
function of the govemment are offset by program revenues. Specifically, the City has identified the
following functions of government — support services, public safety services, recreation and leisure
services, development services, water and wastewater services, solid waste services, storm water services,
airport operations, and golf course operations, Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with
a specific function of City govemnment. Program revenues include 1) charges o custorers or applicants
who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function,
and 2) grants and confributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of
a particular function, Taxes and other items not included ameng program revenues are reported as
general revenues in the statement of activities.
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Nonmajor Total
Debl Eplc 2
Granls Service CIP Funds Funds

- 3 339952856 % - 3 5007152 % 113,538,003

E - - 40,266,083 BO,027,076

- - - 2,031,452 2366924

= = 14,022,362

202 = 12,374,809 27,048,695

- - % 240,784 4,583,446

* - 512,408 6,247 413
6.287.676 o - 382,555 44,944,122
- = = 5,573,532

= - 3,225,466 3,357,133

3 g - 2.034 333285
105,764 - = 4,500,264 4,845,742

= - = 81,478 287,119
6,391,675 33,995,286 48,83 489 307,674,852
- - 287,453 25,734,614
3802429 = - B,382.924 103912676
171,621 - 3072103 26,124,266
3198225 - - 18,188,480 B4,420,479
8,556,197 - - 47186810 66,180,209
s 22,555,000 = 12,320,000 34,875,000

- 10,903,992 = 4,733,835 15.772.930
15,728,672 33,458,992 - 114,193,605 357,020,174
19,336,597} 536,294 . [47.362.114] (49,145,322
1637 3,299 950.000 - 72849012 20,172,311
[30%,427) (187,955) {37,693.951) (11,270,245 [B8.082.8%6)

o - = 72,629,734 107,095,000

- - - 1713071 3.272.425

< - - 4,550 1.B3% 420
16,063,872 762,045 [37.693.951) 155,926,102 114,296,260
6,726,875 1.298,33% [37.493,951) 108,563,986 45,150,938
7,265,027 2,489,226 37,693,751 107.057.620 234115110
13991.%02 § 3787565 % Z 3 215621.606 § 299,266,048
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of the
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Net ge in fund bal - fotal go fal funds
Amounts reported for governmental aclivifies in the statement of octivilies are different
because:

Governmental funds report copital autioy a3 expenditures. However, in the govemmeant-
wide sialement of activilies, the cost of those assels is copitalized and allocated over
their esfimated useful lives os depreciafion expense. This is the amount of copilal assels
racorded in the cwrenl perlod.

Depreciation on capital assels is reported in the government-wide statement of acfivities
but does not require the use of current finonciol rescurces. Therefore. depreciation & not
reported os expendiures in the governmental funds (except for inferndl service fund
depreciation of $304,092),

Govemmental funds do not report copital contributions.

The net effect of various transoctions involving copital assets |Le., disposals, scles, and
reassignments) are not reported in the governmental funds,

The izsuance of long-term debt [le. bonds) provides curent linoncial resources fa the
governrmantal funds, while repayment of the principal on long-term debt consumes the
curent financial resowrces of governmental funds. Meither transaction, however, has
any eflect on nel posilion, Also, govermental funds report the effect of premiurs,
discounts, and similar items when debt (s first lssved, whereas the amounts are deferred
ond amaorfized in the statement of octivities. This armount is the net effect of these
differences in the freatment of long-term debi and related items.

Bonds issued

Bond principal retirement

Bond premium ssued

Amarlization of bend premiums/discounts
Amortization of loss on refundings

Some expense occruals reported in the stotement of activities do not require the use of
currend financial resowrces and, iherefore, are not reported a5 expenditures in the
govemnmenial funds.

Accrued interes!

Compensated obsences

Polufion remediation obigation

Postermployment benefit obligofion

Penslon liability

Delerred penslon and OPEE conlribufions, and inv asiment
and actuarial experience

Other liabiifies

Certain revenues in fhe siatement of octiviies thot do not provide current financial
resowrces are not reporied as rev enues in the funds.

Internal service funds are used by management te charge the costs of certain aclivities,
such as inswrance and fleet maintenance, to individud funds. The net operating loss of the
internal service funds Is reported with govemmental ocfivities [net of the omount
dllocated to business-type oclivities of $118,821).

Change in nel position of tivit

The Notes fo the Bosic Anancial Statements are an integral parl of this stalement.
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(107,095,000

34,875,000
(3,272,425)
2,158,415
(304,722

{71,957
[6.234)
[.450)

[3.513.242)

10,453,105

318,250
|2.947.862)

City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

rand Prairie L vemment Co i

The Grand Praife Local Government Corporation (LGC) was organized for the purpose of aiding, assisting,
and acting on behalf of the City in the performance of its governmental functions to promote the
common good and general welfare of the City by promoting economic development, The LGC's
operations are fo acquire, develop, or redevelop real property within the City. While the entity is legally,
financially and administratively autonomous, the governing body of the City of Grand Prairie may, at its
sole discretion, and at any time, amend LGC's Articles of Incorporation, and alter or change its structure,
programs or activities, or terminate or dissclve it. Additionally, members of the Board of Directors are
appointed by and may be removed by the City Council. However, the City is not financially obligated for
any debt of the LGC. For these reasons, the LGC 15 presented as part of the City's reporting entity as a
discretely presented component unit,

Related Autonomous Entities

i Faciiti
The Grand Prairie Health Facllities Development Authorty (HFDA) was created to issue tax-exempt
revenue bonds to finance medical facilities. While the HFDA's revenue bonds were defeased, the HFDA
confinues to exist only to make decisions from time to time regarding the defeased bonds, The City
exercises no control over the HFDA or iis budget.

Grand Prairie Industrial Development Authority

The Grand Prairie Industrial Development Authority (GPIDA] was created to issue tax-exempt industrial
revenue bonds to assist In the City's economic development and to evaluate tax obatement
opplications. The City exercises no conirol over the GPIDA's management, budget or operations.

C. Implementation of New Accounting Pronouncements
The GASB pronouncements effective for fiscal vear 2021 and 2022 are listed as follows:

The GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. The objective of this Statement is to provide
guidance to enhance the consistency and comparabllity of fiduciary activity reporting by (1)
establishing specific criteria for identifying activities that should be reported as fiduciary activities and
(2] clarifying whether and how business-type activities should report their fiduciary activities. This
standard became effective for the City in fiscal year 2021 but it had no impact on the City.

The GASB issued Statement No, 87, Leases. This Statement requires recognition of certain lease assets
and liabilities for leases that were previously classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows
or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract, and will be effective for
the fiscal year ending September 30, 2022, The City is determining the impact of this statement.

The GASB issues Statement No. 20, Majority Equity Interests — an Amendment to GASB Statements No.
14 and MNo. é1. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve the consistency and
comparability of reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization
and to improve the relevance of financial statements information for certain component units. The
Statement also requires that a component unit in which a government has a 100 percent equity
interest account for its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of
resources at acquisition value at the date the government acquired a 100 percent equity inferest in
the component unit. This standard became effective for the City in fiscal year 2021 but it has no
impact on the City.
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Discretely Presented Component Units

rand Praitie Sports Facilities Dev ment Corporafion

The Sports Corporation was incorporated on June 10, 1992, under the provisions of the Development
Corporation Act of 1979, as amended, Arficle 5190.4, Texas Revised Civil Statutes Annotated, as amended
[Act) by Resolution No. 2841 of the Grand Prairie City Council. The purpose of the Sports Corporation is fo
promote economic development within the City in order to reduce unemployment and
underemployment, and to promote and encourage employment and the public welfare of, for, and on
behalf of the City by developing, implementing, providing and financing projects authorized under the
Act.

The Act provides that the City may levy a one-half cent sales and use tax for the benefit of the
Sports Corporation if the tax is authorlized by a majerity of the qualified voters in an election, On
January 18, 1992, a majority of the voters approved a proposition to levy and collect an additional
one-half cent sales and use tax for the purpose of constructing a horse racetrack. The one-half cent sales
and use tax increase became effective April 1, 1993 to cover the costs of the project or the principal,
interest and other costs relating to any bonds or obligations issued to pay the costs of the project or to
refund bonds or obligations issued to pay the costs of the project. Al bonds were redeemed on
September 15, 2007, The sales tax was disconfinued on September 30, 2007.

The City continues to recelve significant financial benefits from the Sports Corporation as excess eamnings
of the Sports Corporation are paid to the City; and, if dissolved, all assets of the Sporis Corporation
become the City's property. Although the Sports Corperotion is o legally separate entity, the City has the
ability to impose its will upon the Sports Corporation as its Board of Directors are all appeinted by the
City Council, and four of the seven-member board are actual City Councll members, For this reasen, the
Sports Corporation is presented as part of the City's reporting entity as a discretely presented component
unit. Discretely presented component units are presented in o separagte column alongside the
City's financial information.

Grand Prairie Housing Finance Corporation

The Grand Prairie Housing Finance Corporation [HFC) was created to issue tax-exempt revenue bonds fo
supply mortgage financing for low income home buyers and multi-family development. While the entity
is legally, financially and administratively autonomous, the governing body of the City of Grand Prairie
may, at its sole discrefion, and at any time, amend HFC's Articles of Incorporation, and alter or change
its structure, programs or activities, or ferminate or dissolve it, Additionally, members of the Board of
Directors are appointed by and may be removed by the City Council. However, the City is not financially
obligated for any debt of the HFC. For these reasons, the HFC is presented as part of the City's reporting
entity as a discretely presented component unit.

The HFC's financial information, for its calendar year ended December 31, 2020, is included in the City's
financial statements in o separate column alongside the City's. Separate audited financial statements
may be obtained by writing Grand Prairie Housing Finance Corporafion, Atin: Executive Director,
P. O. Box 532758, Grand Prairie, Texas 75053-2758.
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds

September 30, 2021

Business-Type Aclvilies - Enfeiprise Furds

Nanmajor Actvites
Walar sl Enloiprise Inteanal
Warlewale Waosle Funds. Tatal Service funds
ASSETS
Currenl assely:
Caosh ond cash equivaernts -] 4,531,852 3 7.551.30 ] 2318063 24202524 3 571,504
I astirants 900,000 11924538 1B&7.451 17692037 1000000
Accounts tocelyaoie, nat 5847.418 0853 TASIBY 7163560 24,060
D from ofher fundy 7,000,000 - x 7000000
Irmveniones ond supplies 314,753 . EAm g 130,198
Frepeids ¥ 2 - H25761
Resinclad csals;
Coavn and cosh egquivolenty 2958002 = 2958002
Irvestmers SE120,119 okl 44198347
Tohal curenl assets (LN 20048 698 4905 150 13710312 7453
Monzument crets;
Copdolossats:
Lard 297138 1764508 5.007 5123353 737564
Bulidings 2473477 1776417 16,871,862 21,541,954 [ECLEE0
Fouipment 18,717,581 12875778 2.307.558 B HRETS ZINTTE
Irdresvuches 360001405 12052660 ABFD0.ASD 420774725 -
Consiruclion in Lrogress 32665 1.251.05% w7087 34514281 *
Less: aocumulaled degreciolion [213.351.250) Paniarry (32 103,329 (259, 445.35%) 3327.041)
Tatal noncurent ety 159,708,756 15.567.448 IT0E3A 252,307 837 1673167
Tolol cuvets 08 578,620 Malhdes AL0G3 (B3 LTI 147 39,304,650
DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Dabt refundings 02,263 - F02.263 =
Feicied 1o OPER 143,661 L84z TRIE 304.781 18,550
Feloted 1o RS pengion 1.027,422 FPA14 HAB 1630848 24,003
Total detarad outliows of rescurces 2073348 437458 s 2ET7 670 BT
LIABILMES
Curant fobilias:
Accounts payabis Aésa, 837 SMI 188308 5080 752 a5 BT
Reloinoge poyotle Sh4,832 . sEg
Accrued inferes 267,504 . 344 IMITE =
Accropd obSlles TERSE 261,845 179504 114879 APSLITY
Companioled obsances 315959 497 P00 474,545 sovel
Uraomed ievenue 5408 % H3ele 1,017,220
Curent porlion of long-lerm debt 5295000 125000 54,000
Current lobliies poaycbis kom revicied ouets
Custamer daposits SAiL G s 78,328 S962774
Tolol cutrent Babillies 18,551,504 B8L11 eaas WILRTT FA51.047
Norcument lobifties:
Compersated otaence: I 2 . 120.49% 12793
Cinar postemeloyment banadit 36580 1398333 L3 4685833 a4
Closufe ond posiclosure abty ¥ 9083018 * 9083014 .
Kt perision labslity 3arae [ALFRF-3 92438 5,647 497 92080
Longderm debd 39,834,745 - 380,000 AD 8745 =
Tatal noncurrent liobiities 47,353,547 11.685.677 LITE e &1, 764292 |.E50,298
Tatal lobiies. 5,905,081 V2570798 3503412 BILITR267 F301.3402
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Reloled lo OFER 168,447 bé.447 4,000 0084 nas
FRelated o BARS pemion 1,186,708 ABLB17 37361 1.529 884 72962
Totot cefered inflows of rescuices 1,255,158 470264 05281 230,780 My
NET POSTION
Mot i estment in copdol oset 154962,442 15,547,088 Ja47aa 207,008,523 1493, 167
Reswicied for:

Debd service 5,600,337 5607307 o
Cophd projects 77,746,580 2655472 H2A07002 =
Umearicted 2675391 4784872 2O0ADSE T80, 128 260,25
Telol net positian 5 20.91.750 13 FALO7 42 3 38,456,498 F04.BB5.990 1S 16953406

o refiec! 1 inlarnol service i85 raloted | Ak Fur 3,047,523
Nel postion of businessdype oclvilies A07.933.513

The Moles 1o the Bosic Financiol Stalements are an integral part of this statement,
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
And Changes in Net Posifion
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

OPERATING REVENUES
Waler soles
Woslowoler services
‘Watar and wostewoler fees
‘Wastew aler surchargss
Salid woite fees
Charges lof tenices
Intergevarnmental revenue
Inswance prermieTs
Miscalanecus

Total operafing rev erme

OPERATING EXPENSES
Sakwies and benedits
Supplies ond miscelloneous purchages
Purchased services
irsurance costs
‘Water purchases
Wenslew aler irealment
General and odmirglialive costs
Franchise Tees
Miscelanecus
Deprecioflon

Tolal operaling axpenies
Operafing incarme
NONOPERATING REVEMUES (EXPENSES)
I estrment income
Gain [loss] on properly disposifion
Inferest sxpense
Toldd nonoperafing revenues [expenies)
Incoma before conlributiors and karslers
CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS
Copital contrbufions-impact lees
Caopital confrioulicns

Trorsfers in
Tramfers oul

Tetal conkibufions and rarslers

Chonge in net posiflon
Het posifion - baginring of yeor
Hel posillon - end ol year
ol Ide

Told change in nel position

of Activities:

Adi s 1o reflect he ct fir

Change In net position of business-lype aclivilies

Businpss-Type Aclivilies - |ae Funds
Nonmajor Achvilles
Water Solld Enterprise Infernal
b Wasle Funds Telal Service Funds
3 46486341 § 3 48485361 &
30,735,699 = 30,735 469 -
2,103,858 103858 =
B9, 791 = =: az9.7%1
- 14,782,778 = 147682778 -
- 12,212,551 12212551 6,314,435
&5.197 45,197 -
- . - % 27 822301
2368 150,353 734368 1.184.190 11,354
Bz 443178 14941131 13012114 110,402,425 34,148,000
11,619,345 3349828 2,755,247 17,744,440 2968012
| 042357 S26952 1,126,472 2,694,991 2432593
6254524 &4B7.472 1.953.140 14,695,734 1290592
E * e . 4723047
14,749,528 16,749,528 -
WIREETE = = 20.926,578
ASTT BAT 345443 144,788 5,264,078 -
3,408,207 426818 344068 4,181,173 -
1,502,140 BARLETA 365602 3101416 474,709
14,447,399 L0379 1.979.544 18,431,102 304,092
B1.127.553 14,004,164 B.669.441 102,803,140 J2820.345
1,319,545 P34FET 4,342,455 6595245 1,327.745
(BI1} - = 1LHé -
189,744 7743 (13,7784 255,425 {21556}
11028.692) - (30810 {1.057.502) =
|B35.612] TeAT 144,568 {600,781} (21,556}
484003 L6404 4.290.067 5,798,504 £206, 189
4,501,203 - 4,901,203 -
7532418 a1z 10,444,509 -
421,000 = 537.955 STELPEE 40,963
[1.911.485) 358,084 |4.375.724) [8.843,293) |261.0404
14,738,135 |358.084] |2.7%3.678) 13,456,374 1200.077)
17222069 458,300 1,574,389 19.454.878 1,104,112
226,147,581 2,349,482 912,109 285.431,112 18,847,294
5 2437391750 % 23,007,742 405498 § 4885990 § 19,953,406
5 17,454,878
fured achivities relaled to Erderprise Funds 118821
3 19.573.699

The Motes to the Baosic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Motes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Infroduction

The City of Grand Prairie [City} is one of the Mid-Cities in the Dallas-Fort Worth Metroplex, 12 miles west of
downtown Dallas, 18 miles east of downtown Fort Worth and six miles south of DFW International Airport.
The City was incorporated in 1909, and adopted the Council-Manager form of government in 1948,

The accounting and reporting policies of the City relating to the funds included in the accompanying
basic financial statements conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America applicable to state and local governments. Generally accepted accounting principles for local
govemments include those principles prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants as published in Audits of State and
Local Governments.

B. Financial Reporting Entity

The City's basic financial statements include the accounts of all City operations. The criteria for including
legally separate entities as component unifs within the City's reporting enfity are set forth in Section 2100
of GASBE's Codification of Governmental Accounfing and Financial Reporting Standards. Based on this
criterion, the City reports the following component units as part of the financial reporting entity:

Blended Component Units

Grand Prairie Crime Conirol and Prevention Disirict

The City of Grand Prairie Crime Control and Prevention District {CCPD) was created in May 2007
under the provisions of the Crime Ceontrol and Prevention Act and authority of Chapter 363, Texas Local
Government Code, as amended [Act] by Resolution Mo, 2007-02 of the Grand Prairie City Council. The
purpose of the CCPD is to provide crime control and criime prevention strategies, specific treatment and
prevention programs, and court and prosecution services including the cost of personnel, administration,
expansion, enhancement, and capital expenditures, and any other programs os authorized by
Chapter 363.

Under the authority of the Act, the voters of Grand Prairie opproved a proposition to levy and collect an
additional quarter-cent sales and use tax for the purpose of funding the CCPD which became effective
Octaober 1, 2007. In 2020, citizens voted to continue/renew the quarter-cent sales and use tax for this same
purpose.

The CCPD's governing body is substantively the same as the govemning body of the City as the
seven members of the CCPD's Board of Directors are all City council members. The City has operational
responsibility for the CCPD, and the CCPD provides all of its services to the City, If the District is dissolved,
its assets will become the City's property. For these reasons, the CCPD is reported os a blended
component unit of the City and is reported as a special revenue fund within the City's governmental
activities. This special revenue fund was established specifically to account for the accumulation and use
of the quarter-cent sales tax revenue collected for the CCPD.
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Governmanicl
Buriness-Type Activifies - Enferprise Funds Activifles
Waler Salld Dihar Indesnal
Wastewaler Waosle Nommojor Talal Service Funds
Cash Bows kom operaling ochvifles:
Cash recelph from customens: 5 B2ERSDI7 3 14795734 3 12147123, 2 108, JE7.874 % =
o iy = X z 5

¥ arTE A
b 2 _ e oA : x < + 4TS
Cosh imcalpts tfrom oihes governmenty . - 81y 85,197 -
L ] Qiner operaling cashreceinh A 158353 4,20 1,184,190 11350
Caxh payments 1o supplars lor goods and 1ervices (47253055 [Ehccrkcs | [3.574,250) [58.282,632) (4721330
Cath poymants 1o employess for services {687 50 haaann [RASLEDG [h5887,071) (1.786.571|
Cash poyments for intesfund services sad 17.000.000) = [ea088) (7,344,008 Eaznay|
Crhar oparaling cosh paymants 15.310.427) 11,372,493 (144788 (8727700 -
[ provided by fused n| g aciivil 13765150 3,005,555 A006578 Z2TTT 4N 2632003
Coih Rows rom noneopliol Bnancing acivilies:
T E x A S Forsten rom olher hunds &80 - 537955 4755955 80,963
Yarslen to olher funds [1.911,485) |3dec8a |6arara4) B443.293] 1267 0404
Conliitutons from clhsr govesmmants #4880 = ¥ T4.860 *
D ream Bi 6 Pl ay H ar d et fusad i) g oclivilias 4379375 (4884 15838747 11814478 1200077}
il eindt
Copltalimpoc Tees fom daveinpan 490,203 . - 4701203 -
Procesd: from dposition o copital owets 266,290 194,063 24,35 84711 (20,458
Acquighion ond corshuchion of copilal aaseh [12.974,830) (7,418 48] - (15,393,288 (75,425
Principol pold on dabt [5.120,000| - 1100 18, 20.000 -
Inlerest paid on debl [1.388,654] w |31,8304 (1,420,484 .
Qe fscol fees paid |50.778] - {50778 -
Het cath pravided by [used in] capilal ond reloled (nancing oclivilies (14366747} [7.724.385) 1175473 16.764.634) [#e.5%1)
Cash Nows rom Investing ocfivilies:
interesi received on inveskrents 1118 + . 1. 16 r
THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK e s - p———
el Incaih i ATTR ATA0BE (47634 4197867 2335005
Cosh ond caih squivalents - beginning of yeor 227070 71323 2T ADeATER A5
Cosh ond cath equivalenh « end of year ) 27487, 574 3 7.5531.308 3 2216043 3 A7, 260,948 3 SAT1504

peraling
nel cath frem operdling acivilles
Operaling incorme fioss) 1 1 317,445 ¥ FI6FES 3 4340455 3 6500288 : 1 1327, 745
Adusiments fo operaling incorme o) 1o net cash
fram operafing ackviliss:
Depracialion 1687399 1803780 1FTF5 1EA31 102 300,002
Provisions for uncoleclible occounhy # . .

RLETR [2.572)
Changes in aitels and Gobiiies;
(nareone| decrects in occounts recedy okl T 3558 [£8.300) [24.545) ]
ncrecse| dacrece in olher recercbies {700,000 - . 7,000,000 8578
(Incredme| dacteoss in nvendoies and suppies 12253 - faiss Fom [Lrk ]
fncreone| decreoss in prepoids 1. 7sa004 . . 1764016 (83.069]
Increase jdecranse] in account payabis 12000 @17 {12508 (3,748 s
Ineiense jdeciense) in relanage papable 411,004 - - A1, o0d -
Inceose {deciense] in acciued lobies R0 A3 ATE Sisgs S309
Increase {decrease] in cistomer deposits 81,40 - 4,273 .
Increcse jdecteaia]inuneomedievanue . - [oser) .
Increaue {dacrinie) in companiobod chaances 110.575 242808 1535 430
Increce |decrense] in GPER liabilky 196,237 66FTT EIEA ] a5,137
Inctecis jdecieose] n persion Bobilly | 43458 163,947 74951 1,304,755 595,495
Het coit provided by juseding opemting ociivites 5 13,765,150 3 1,005,558 3 4,006,978 3 T4 3 2432073
Noncash invesling, capital and financing oclviles
Caplal contriculions friom developers/granfing ogencied 3 rsaas 3 - k) A0 3 10444507 §
3 7532418 3 - 3 Ao ) 10644, 507 § -
Reconcllafion of ending cosh and cavh equivalents
o Slalement of Net Position:
Ureasirictod cosh ond ceih egulvolantl - end of yeor b 1 24,591,552 ¥ 1SR ] B0 3 00724 3 587,508
Resivicied cosh and cosh equlvalants - erd of yeor 2P5E0E2 - . et =
Tofol cosh and cash equivalents - end ol yeor § 7409 5T 3 7,553,307 3 2ME0LT 3 A7 40Pk 3 SAT 508

The Noles to the Basic Financial Statements are an infegral parl of 1his statement.
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Statement of Net Position

Discretely Presented Component Units
September 30, 2021

Gaovernmental
Business-Type Activifies Activilies
‘Grand Prairie Grand Fraitie Grand Fraife
Sporis Housing Local
Faclilfies Fin G Total
Development Corporalion Corporalion Component Units
ASSETS
Cash and cosh equivalents $ 9.128,407 3 653,769 5 75752 3 9.857.928
Investments 2011638 - - 2011638
Receivables, nef 1,255,332 - - 1,255,332
Frepaoids - 41,079 - 41,079
Cash and cash eqguivalents - 1,452,062 = 1,452,092
Lease payments recelvable 7457014 = - 7457006
Estimated unguoranfesed residual value 24,369 B70 - - 24,269 870
Copilal assefs:
Nondeprecioble - 1,412,851 4,935,331 4,548,182
Depreciable, net - 10,222,096 - 10,222,084
Totdd assels 44,722,263 13.981.887 5,011,083 63.215.233
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 1894 232,033 F 297
Accrued labililies - 257,300 - 257,300
Current fiabilities payable from resiricted assefs:
Cuslomer deposits - 74,867 94,867
Unearnad revenue .83 S 21,823
MNoncurrent Babififies:
Duse within one yeaor:
Environmental rermediafion obligation - - 239,349 239,369
Current portion of long-term debl - 360,885 - 340,885
Due In mare than aone yeaor!
Long-term debi - 14,448,473 - 14,448,453
Tolal kabilifies 1,894 15,415,401 239,369 15,656,664
MET POSITION
Nel investiment in copital assels e |1.644.382] 4,935,331 3,290,549
Restricted for:
Faclliy lease 32774636 32,774,638
Replacement reserve 146,272 - 146,272
Ofher specifiic purposes - - {163.617) {163,617}
Unrestricted 11.445733 64,596 - 11.510.32%
Tolal nel position $ 44,720,369 3 [1.433.514) 3 4.771.714 3 47,558,569

The Notes le ihe Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this slatement.
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Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Staterments
September 30, 2021

At September 30, 2021, major enterprise funds include the following:

Water/Wastewater Fund

This fund acecounts for water and wastewater system services provided for residents of the City, including
administration, operations, maintenance, debt service, biling and collection. The City purchased treated
water from surounding cities, and water s pumped from City-owned wells, Although the City owns the
wastewater collection system, it has no treatment facilities. Wastewater freatrment is provided by the
Trinity River Authority. Contracts relating to purchased water and wastewater treatment are discussed in
Note 2M. All costs are financed through charges to ufility custormers with rates reviewed regularly and
adjusted if necessary to ensure the integrity of the funds.

i te Fund
This fund accounts for the City's landfill, garbage/recycling collection service, brush and litter collection,
street sweeping, illegal dumping cleanup, Keep Grand Prairie Beautiful, and autorelated business
programs, as well as a number of special purpose fransfers related fo reserves for landfill ‘closure,
post-closure costs and environmental remediation. All costs are financed through charges to sanitation
customers,

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

Measurement focus refers to what is being measured; basis of accounting refers to when revenues and
expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in the finoncial statements. Basis of
accounting relates to the timing of the measurement made, regardless of the measurement focus
applied.

t-Wide Financial Staternents
The government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements for proprietary funds are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The
economic resources measurement focus means all assets and liabilities {whether current or noncumrent)
are included on the Statement of Net Position, and the operating statement presents increases [revenues)
and decreases [expenses) in the net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are
recognized when earmed, and expenses are recognized at the fime the liabllity is incurred.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Govemmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when both measurable and available. Measurable means
knowing, or being capable of calculating or estimating the amount to be received. Available means
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay current liabllities [generally sixty
days). Also, under the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures [including capital outlay) are
recorded in the period when the related fund liability Is incurred, except for general obligation bond
principal and interest and expenditures related to compensated absences, which are recorded when
due rather than when incurred,

Maijor revenue sources susceptible to accrual in the govemmental funds include property faxes, sales
taxes, franchise fees, charges for services, and infergovernmental revenues. Revenue s accrued when it
is deemed available except for infergovernmental revenues.

Grant revenues are recognized not just when available, but when the qualifying expenditures have been
incurred, and all other grant requirements have been met.
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City of Grand Prairie, Texas
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances of
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

REVEMUES
Froperty taxes
Sales taxes
Olher laxes
franchise fees
Charges for goods and services
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovermmental
General and adminisirative
Rents and royalties
Investrment income
Contributions
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Currant operations:
Supporl services
Fublic safety services
Recreation and leisure services
Cevelopment services and olher
Capital oullay
Debl service:
Principal refirement
Interest and other charges

Totol expenditures

Excess |deficiency) of revenues
aver [under] expendifures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Bonds Issued
Premium on bonds ssued
Froceeds fromsale of assals
Total other financing sources (uses)

Met change in fund balances
Fund boionces - beginning of yeor

Fund balances - end of year

Shreels
General Section 8 CIP
§ 74535565 § -8
39,760,793 - -
335472 - E
14,022,362 = -
4,069 457 8,604,227 =
4,022,506 320,154 -
5,735,005 = =
2.629,636 35,644,255 -
5,573,532 - -
131,667 - -
3216 = -
134 464 = 107,250
A60.026 45,415 -
153,934,501 44,614,251 107.250
25447161 - -
91.727.323 -
2.860.342 - -
12.595.116 45,365,461 5073197
22T - 7812323
- - 135,103
133,252,821 45,385,441 13,020,623
20,682,080 [751,210) 2713373}
[33,150.756] 15.470,542)
ks 14,465,264
® - 1,559,354
1826620 B.250 -
131.324,136) 8,250 10,554,078
(10,642,056 [742,960) (2,359,295
40,648,430 3183285 15,777,571
3 50006374 % 2440325 § 13,418,274

The Nates to fhe Besic Financial Stofements are an infegral parl of this sialement.
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City Of Grand Prairie, Texas
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021

Fund Fingncial Statements

In addition to the government-wide finoncial statements, the City also reports separate financial
statements for major functions or activities of the govermment, These financial statements are organized
on the basis of funds with governmental resources allocated fo and accounted for based upon the
purposes for which they are spent and the means by which spending activities are confrolled, Separate
statements are presented for governmental activities and proprietary activities.

Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts which constitute its
assets, deferred outflows of resources. liabilities, defemed inflows of resources, revenues,
expenditures/expenses, and fund balances. The fund financial statements present each major fund as o
separate column, while all nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. Major funds
are calculated using specific methods outlined in GASB Staternent No. 34, or City management may also
deem funds as major for presentation purposes.

At September 30, 2021, major governmental funds include the following:

General Fund

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. This fund is used fo account for all financial
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in anather fund. All
general tax revenues and other receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual agreement to some
other fund are accounted for in this fund. General operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital
improvement costs not paid through other funds are pdid from the General Fund.

Section 8 Fund

This special revenue fund accounts for gront and contract revenue received from the federal
government for providing housing assistance to low income families and for the administration of the
program.

Street CIP Fund
This capital project fund accounts for the construction and renovation of thoroughfares and arterial
streets and roads financed through general obligotion bond proceeds and cother dedicated sources.

Grants Fund
This special revenue fund accounts for the various federal, state and local gront revenue received by the
City. All grants included in this fund are for specific projects with limited duration.

Debt Service Fund

The City's Debt Service Fund occounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment of
principal, interest and related costs on general long-term debt paid primarily from taxes levied by the
City. The fund balance of the Debt Service Fund is restricted exclusively for debt service expenditures.

Epic 2 CIP Fund

This copital project fund accounts for the proceeds from sales fax revenue bonds, cument
lending/borrowing arangements, and other dedicated sources to be used in the construction of The
Epic.
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